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The Group is the pioneer and leader of China’s real estate asset-light
development model. Greentown Management was founded in 2010.
It is a subsidiary of Greentown China and the main body for exporting
the “Greentown" brand and project management model. In July 2020,
Greentown Management was listed on the Main Board of The Hong
Kong Stock Exchange, becoming the first project management stock in
China. From 2017 to 2024, we had consecutively earned the accolade
of a Leading Enterprise in Real Estate Project Management Operation
(P BEEHEREE S S|IED %)) granted by China Real Estate TOP 10
Research Team.

Greentown Management adheres to the core values of “quality,
reliance, efficiency and sharing”, integrates resources, exports brand
and standards through project management, and creates value for
customers with customized solutions and high-quality services. The
core business includes commercial project management, government
project management and other services. As the pioneer of the Project
Management 4.0 system and the “Greentown Star” standard setter,
Greentown Management is committed to creating an ecological
platform of “co-creating value and sharing benefits” for clients, owners,
suppliers, employees and investors to build an exciting quality life.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group's project management projects
were distributed in 130 major cities in 30 provinces, municipalities and
autonomous regions in China.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Junfeng (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Nie Huanxin (appointed on 18 July 2024)
Mr. Li Jun (resigned on 23 August 2024)

Mr. Lin Sanjiu (resigned on 18 July 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Guo Jiafeng (Co-Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Yadong (formerly served as Co-Chairman,
resigned with effect from 31 March 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lin Zhihong
Dr. Ding Zuyu
Mr. Chan Yan Kwan Andy

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chan Yan Kwan Andy (Chairman)
Mr. Lin Zhihong
Dr. Ding Zuyu

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Dr. Ding Zuyu (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Yan Kwan Andy
Mr. Lin Zhihong

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Lin Zhihong (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Yan Kwan Andy
Dr. Ding Zuyu
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AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Wang Junfeng (appointed on 23 August 2024)
Ms. Gu Jixiang (appointed on 23 August 2024)
Mr. Li Jun (resigned on 23 August 2024)

Ms. Zhang Panpan (resigned on 23 August 2024)

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Gu Jixiang (appointed on 23 August 2024)
Ms. Ng Sau Mei (appointed on 23 August 2024)
Ms. Zhang Panpan (resigned on 23 August 2024)
Ms. Yung Mei Yee (resigned on 4 January 2024)

LEGAL ADVISORS

As to Hong Kong laws:

Allen Overy Shearman Sterling
9th Floor, Three Exchange Square
Central

Hong Kong

As to Cayman Islands law:

Maples and Calder (Hong Kong)
LLP

26th Floor

Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

As to PRC law:

Zhejiang T&C Law Firm

11/F, Building A, Dragon Century Plaza
No. 1 Hangda Road

Hangzhou

Zhejiang

The PRC
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AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

PO Box 309, Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS

9/F, Block C

Xixi International

767 Wen Yi West Road
Xihu District, Hangzhou
Zhejiang

The PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
(CHANGED ON 15 JANUARY 2025)

Room 1406-1408

14/F, New World Tower 1
16-18 Queen’s Road Central
Central

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER

OFFICE

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
PO Box 1093

Boundary Hall

Cricket Square

Grand Cayman

KY1-1102

Cayman Islands
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HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hua Xia Bank Co., Limited

Bank of Hangzhou Co., Ltd.

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited

COMPANY'S WEBSITE

www.lcgljt.com

STOCK CODE
Hong Kong Stock Exchange: 09979

LISTING DATE
10 July 2020
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TRBL A E B E Z 2020F ~ 2021 F The following table summarizes the results, assets and liabilities of the
20224 ~ 2023F M2024F12 A3181E Group for the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and
FEHE BEENEBE: 2024:

BZ12A31HILEE Year ended 31 December

2024 5 20234 2022 2021 € 20204
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

ARBTR ARETT ARETT AREBTET ARETRT
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000

ES RESULTS
& Revenue 3,441,234 3,302,422 2655992 2,243,158 1,812,975
BRA% A1 AR A Profit before tax 1,037,049 1,177,408 924,601 722,242 524,934
PRS2 Income tax expense (246,520)  (196,711)  (189,236)  (151,577)  (117,414)
[SYNCIEZ PPN Profit attributable to 801,134 973,607 744,544 565,224 439,325
JEAE 4 ) owners of the parent
company

A12831H
As at 31 December
2024 £ 20234 2022 2021 € 20204

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ARBTRE AREBTE AREBTE ARETT ARETRT
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

EEREE Assets and liabilities
BEEE Total assets 6,776,768 6,732,651 6,161,319 5,244,163 4,747,544
RN Total liabilities 2,835,187 2,599,045 2,288,291 1,872,452 1,645,335
BEFE Net assets 3,941,581 4,133,606 3,873,028 3,371,711 3,102,209
ISYNEIEZ YN Equity attributable to 3,810,170 3,995,747 3,739,203 3,341,260 3,075,199
JEEHER owners of the parent
company

8 Annual Report 2024
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Director’s Report

Dear Shareholders,

In 2024, the real estate industry remained in a weak consolidation phase,
and the project management sector similarly faced challenges from
market downturns and performance pressures. However, bolstered by
policy support and expectations of market stabilization, the long-term
value of the project management industry became increasingly evident.
Amid cyclical adjustments, Greentown Management steadfastly pursued
a long-term strategy, comprehensively deepened reforms, forged core
competitiveness, solidified its operational foundation, ensured healthy
cash flow, and continued to lead as an industry benchmark for value
creation.

In 2024, Greentown Management achieved steady progress while
reinforcing its position as an industry leader. Despite fierce competition,
the Company defied market headwinds and delivered a robust
performance: the total contracted construction area reached 126 million
m?, with newly contracted areas totaling 36.5 million m?; its market
share expanded to 22.1%, maintaining above 20% for nine consecutive
years, with a steadily increasing presence in first- and second-tier cities;
it delivered 16.56 million m?, creating quality living environment for
over 80,000 households and accounting for 52% of the TOP 10 total
delivery volume; it secured the top rank as “China’s Leading Enterprise
in Real Estate Project Management Operation” for nine consecutive
years, earning over 30 industry TOP 1 honors throughout the year;
the Company also actively fulfilled its social responsibilities, achieving
significant success in distressed asset bailout projects, demonstrating its
leadership accountability, and contributing to the restoration of market
confidence.

Looking ahead to 2025, the real estate industry will continue to face
challenges, yet the stabilizing effects of policy support are gradually
emerging, and market adjustments are fostering new opportunities.
Greentown Management, as a leader in project management, will
uphold its mission with a spirit of altruism, strengthen its capabilities
build-up, and pursue ongoing reforms and improvements, driving the
evolution of residential demand from “having a home"” to "having a
good home”, leading the industry toward high-quality development.

Remaining committed to its altruistic roots while broadening the
scope of collaboration. Greentown Management has embedded its
"altruistic spirit” as the cornerstone of its corporate culture, deeply
integrating it into its strategic planning and daily operations to
strengthen trust with all stakeholders, regardless of clients, property
owners, government bodies, or partners. By consistently delivering
on promises of quality homes and operational commitments,
Greentown Management innovated collaboration models, exploring
greater opportunities of cooperation in key areas such as financial
empowerment and distressed asset bailout projects, creating additional
value for clients while shouldering greater social responsibilities.

2024 FEE RS 9
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Solidifying its capability foundation to build core competitive
advantages. Using leading companies as guidance and benchmarking
its learning from both within and outside the industry, the Company
strengthened the operational philosophy of “quality as the foundation,
efficiency as the core”. It accelerated alignment with Greentown China
and advanced firms inside or outside the industry, addressing capability
shortcomings and enhancing its strengths in operations, expansion,
product, marketing, organizational structure, and systemic efficiency. By
building these capability advantages, the Company precisely met the
needs of clients and customers, achieving a cycle of “delivery equals
fulfillment, fulfillment equals reputation”,
stance for future growth.

firmly securing its proactive

Deepening reforms served as the engine to unleash development
momentum. The year of 2025 marks the 30th anniversary of
Greentown's establishment and the 15th anniversary of Greentown
Management's establishment. Reform, adaptation and improvement
are the key forces for sustainable growth of the Company. Seizing
this milestone, the Company embarked on a new journey of reform.
With an open mindset, it embraced the Al wave, improved expansion
quality, refined fee collection management, upheld product quality,
strengthened digital marketing, and optimized B-end services. These
efforts drove comprehensive upgrades in business models, capabilities
and performance, reinforcing its position as the industry leader.

Looking to the future, Greentown Management will adopt the fearless
posture of a trailblazer, building cities with exceptional expertise and
empowering development with new quality productive forces. The
Company will push the project management industry beyond its growth
bottlenecks, ushering it into a new phase of high-quality development,
and partnering with all stakeholders to venture into a broader and more
promising new horizon!

Guo Jiafeng
Co-Chairman of the Board and non-executive Director

Hangzhou, PRC
28 March 2025
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The Board is pleased to announce the audited annual results of the
Group for 2024 together with comparative figures. The annual results
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend for 2024
of RMBO0.24 per share to the Shareholders, subject to Shareholders’
approval at the AGM to be convened on Wednesday, 18 June 2025. The
dividend payable to the Shareholders will be declared in RMB and paid
in HKD based on the average exchange rate published by the People’s
Bank of China for the 5 business days prior to the date of the AGM.

The proposed final dividend is expected to be paid to the Shareholders
on or before 18 July 2025.
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REME Business Overview

2024 F » BIRECBEIRTEAERRITT 0 23R In 2024, the global economic environment moved forward under
B B -  AREMETS&ER pressure and showed a complex trend of differentiation. China’s real
EFE - EZ*/FT%EJJ:F RETERK estate market underwent deep adjustments and gradually bottomed
HERERRBEE BIREREE B out and stabilized. The project management industry also faced
ﬁ‘“giﬁhﬂ'%yiﬁﬁﬁ YiT¥2ME#E  multiple challenges such as slowing scale growth, evolving competitive
AR B - IRTEBE DA E L HiRH landscape, and increased business requirements, which placed higher
FEER - demands on the operational, service and professional capabilities of
industry participants.
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In the face of cyclical fluctuations and market pressure, Greentown
Management, as a leader in the project management industry, has
always maintained strategic determination, adjusted the development
pace in a timely manner, and focused on improving quality and
efficiency. While stabilizing our operating fundamentals, we have
continued to strengthen our capacities, ensure cash flow security, and
proactively diversify our businesses to maintain our leading position in
the industry. In 2024, the Company secured the top spot as “China’s
Leading Enterprise in Real Estate Project Management Operation”
for the ninth consecutive year, earning over 30 industry TOP 1 honors
throughout the year. Its market share remained above 20% for nine
consecutive years, fully demonstrating Greentown Management's
comprehensive strength and robust resilience.

During the Reporting Period, revenue of the Group reached RMB3,441.2
million, representing an increase of 4.2% from RMB3,302.4 million for the
corresponding period of last year; the gross profit reached RMB1,705.6
million, representing a decrease of 1.0% from RMB1,722.3 million for the
corresponding period of last year; the administrative expenses reached
RMB481.1 million, representing a decrease of 6.5% from RMB514.5
million for the corresponding period of last year; the comprehensive
gross profit margin rate during the Period reached 49.6%, representing
a decrease of 2.6 percentage points from 52.2% for the corresponding
period of last year; the net profit attributable to shareholders of the
Company reached RMB801.1 million, representing a decrease of 17.7%
compared with RMB973.6 million for the corresponding period of last
year; the net cash flow from operating activities of the Group reached
RMB291.7 million during the Reporting Period, and the Group had no
bank liabilities.

The Macro Market

In 2024, the overall project management industry showed the
characteristics of “slower growth and structural differentiation”.
According to the data of China Index Academy, the overall new
construction area of the industry declined slightly by 5% year-on-year,
and the threshold of new entry of the industry was raised, which further
aggravated the competition.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

From the fourth quarter of 2024 onwards, with the central government’s
clear proposal of “promoting the stabilization of the real estate market”,
and the combination of “market stabilization and delivery stabilization”
policies launched across the country, the confidence of the project
owners has gradually recovered, and the volume of new contracts has
begun to pick up. From a long-term perspective, the government,
centralized state-owned enterprises, urban investment platforms, private
enterprises and financial institutions will still be the main suppliers in the
project management industry. At the same time, policy-driven, event-
driven and structural adjustments have injected new momentum into
the project management industry. Specifically:

In terms of providing services to government, local governments
continued to promote affordable housing, urban village transformation,
industry-city integration, and improved municipal supporting facilities.
The market-oriented project management has gradually become
a mature model of government procurement. The main provinces
and municipalities continued to improve the system of regulatory
documents, opening up a wide space for the project management
business.

In terms of providing services to state-owned enterprises and urban
investment platform, central state-owned enterprises and urban
investment platforms still dominated the land market, especially
urban investment companies, which have large land reserves, but
the construction commencement rate was relatively low. With the
“stabilization” policies and the recovery of housing confidence, the
introduction of professional project management companies to
revitalize existing resources has become an effective way to improve
asset efficiency and realize the preservation and appreciation of the
value of state-owned assets.

In terms of providing services to capital owners, a nationwide “urban
real estate financing coordination mechanism” has been established,
and the white list system for house and land-related projects has been
gradually improved, resulting in a marginal improvement in the financing
environment. With the advantages of credit empowerment, brand
rejuvenation and stable operation, the project management model has
become an important tool for capital owners to fix their balance sheets,
revitalize distressed projects and ensure completion and delivery, thus
helping the industry reshape its benign cycle.

2024F FE RS 15
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Overall, the trend of separation between real estate investment and
operation was accelerating, and professional and branded project
management services have become a key driving force to promote the
transformation of the industry and achieve a win-win situation for all
parties. Greentown Management will continue to play a leading role in
this trend and create long-term value for the Shareholders and partners
with stronger capability and more stable operation.

Business Review

In response to the market challenges faced by the project management
industry in the first half of 2024, the Company has taken strong and
prompt measures in the short term and proposed reform measures for
the medium and long term. These included optimizing the organization
structure, salary and performance systems, and evaluation and incentive
mechanisms, leading to positive operational outcomes. In the second
half of 2024, the newly contracted projects and the collection of project
management fees steadily improved quarter-over-quarter. Throughout
the year, all operating indicators remained industry-leading, with market
share further increasing, and the total volume of new orders, deliveries,
sales and product competitiveness remaining at the forefront of the
industry.

1. Steady progress in scale, expanding leading advantages

In 2024, the Company maintained its No. 1 position in the field of
real estate project management. The Company achieved a market
share of 22.1% in the project management industry, an increase of
1.7 percentage points from 2023, marking the ninth consecutive
year with a market share exceeding 20%. This success was
underscored by several prestigious recognitions earned throughout
the year, such as the 2024 China’s Leading Enterprise in Project
Management Operation TOP 1" (2024 B i ZEE (X @ & 5| b 5
TOP 1), “Project Management Comprehensive Capability” (fXE4%
E8E77) list TOP 1, “2024 China’s Top 1 in Comprehensive Strength
of Project Management Enterprises” (2024 BIREGELEE
F1Top 1) and “2024 China’s Top 10 Brands in Real Estate Project
Management No. 1" (202474 Bl E iR 2 b 158 No. 1).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As of 31 December 2024, the Company’s project management
footprint covered 130 major cities in 30 provinces, municipalities
and autonomous regions in China. The total GFA of the contracted
projects was 125.6 million square meters, representing a growth
of 5.0% over the corresponding period last year. The area under
construction was 53.96 million square meters, an increase of 2.9%
over the corresponding period last year.

With nationwide presence, major economic regions (including:
Bohai Rim Economic Zone, Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei urban
agglomeration, Yangtze River Delta Economic Zone, Pearl
River Delta Economic Zone and Chengdu-Chongqging urban
agglomeration) continued to dominate a large portion in its
portfolio: the estimated total saleable value of these contracted
projects reached RMB720.1 billion, accounting for 77.3% of the total
saleable value, which was basically the same as the corresponding
period last year. In addition, the GFA in first- and second-tier cities
reached 55.3 million square meters, accounting for 44.0% of the
total GFA, representing an increase of 7.6% over the corresponding
period last year. The Company has optimized its order structure
year-on-year through differentiated expansion strategies.

The scale of new contracts continued to be no. 1 in the industry,
with the total GFA of the newly contracted projects reaching
36.5 million square meters in 2024, representing an increase of
approximately 3.4% over the corresponding period last year.
The estimated project management fee of the newly contracted
projects was RMB9.32 billion; it was approximately 10.1% lower
than the corresponding period last year, but the quality of overall
projects was higher, and the portfolio structure was improving. The
price of the newly contracted projects has gradually stabilized from
RMB240 per square meter in the first half of 2024 to RMB255 per
square meter for the whole year of 2024; the proportion of first- and
second-tier cities has further risen to 58%, representing an increase
of 6 percentage points over the corresponding period last year.
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Improving comprehensive capabilities and achieving win-win results

for all parties

In the face of industry fluctuations and adjustments, Greentown
Management is committed to leading its business partners through
the cycle with its own growth in the business and realizing a win-win
situation for all parties.

In terms of products, Greentown Management practiced the “good
house” standard, continued product innovation and iteration
of product series, optimized the supply chain to achieve cost
reduction and efficiency improvement, and strengthened lean
management to accelerate the construction cycle. In 2024, flagship
product emerged, winning industry’s acclaim, and garnering the
top 1 spot in product competitiveness among Chinese project
management companies, 154 product-related awards and 23
international product awards. A total of 118 projects with a total
GFA of 16.56 million square meters were delivered throughout the
year, accounting for 52% of the total completed projects by Top
10 companies in the industry, ranking first in the list of the area
delivered by the project management companies. The delivery
satisfaction rates on the business-end and customer-end were 95%
and 89%, respectively, leading the industry in both delivery volume
and customer satisfaction.

In terms of marketing, Greentown Management fully implemented
digital marketing tools, significantly enhanced the efficiency
of customer solicitation and conversion, refined the control of
expenses, innovated marketing promotions, and flexibly adjusted
the sales strategy. It also strengthened the team’s ability to focus
on key and difficult projects and delivered the operating value for
the B-end project owners. The Company achieved total sales of
RMB105 billion in 2024, continuing to maintain the leading position
in the industry.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In terms of relieving measures under the "ensure the delivery of
properties (fRX1E)" policy, Greentown Management actively
responded to the call from the government and ensured the
delivery of properties, and “injected vitality” into the bail-out
projects with its professional ability, and became “a person who
helps solve social problems”. The total contracted GFA under the
“ensure the delivery of properties (fR321£)" policy exceeded 10
million square meters, and the total GFA of government project
management reached approximately 63.9 million square meters.
Together with renowned AMCs such as Great Wall, China Orient,
Cinda and other financial institutions such as China Life, AVIC
Trust and Everbright Trust, the Company provided comprehensive
professional support and created hot-selling bail-out projects.
By resolving historical issues, outputting management standards,
and controlling progress and quality, the Company has achieved
the delivery of flagship projects in provinces such as Zhejiang,
Guangdong, Jiangsu and Guizhou, and has won wide recognition
from owners and communities.

Reforming to boost operation abilities and improving overall

quality and efficiency

In 2024, Greentown Management continued to “reform, change
and improve” to comprehensively enhance operational efficiency.
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The Group implemented organizational reform, integrated
the development of government and commercial project
management, gave full play to the resource advantages, set up
Zhejiang region and directly managed city companies in key
provinces, and strengthened deep cultivation capabilities. It also
implemented regional lump-sum operation, stimulated the regional
companies’ awareness of independent operation, increased
regional management authorization, strengthened regional risk
and responsibility sharing, and realized income sharing and self-
sustainability between the region and the Group. It implemented
remuneration incentive reforms, adjusted the fixed-to-floating
ratio of remuneration, linked the completion rate of fee collection
for all employees, strengthened the link between performance
and remuneration, enhanced the sense of ownership, undertook
quarterly instant rewards and penalties for core business indicators,
and strengthened cadre assessment. Continuous management
enhancements were made, including ongoing improvement to
risk control mechanisms, upgrades to digital systems, and iterative
refinements to authorization processes, all of which reduced
inefficiencies, increased productivity and stimulated development
momentum. As a result, the per capita revenue contribution rose
from RMB780,000 at the end of 2023 to RMB840,000 at the end of
2024, representing a year-on-year increase of 7.7%. Marketing and
administrative expenses decreased from RMB619 million in 2023 to
RMB572 million in 2024, a decrease of 7.6% over the corresponding
period last year.

Leading the industry development and taking social responsibilities

As a leading enterprise in the industry, the Company endeavours
to advance the collective growth of the project management
sector, explore new pathways for real estate development models
alongside peers, and make greater efforts to build good houses.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In 2024, the Company actively participated in project management
summits, where participants analyzed industry trends, shared
experiences in benchmark projects, and promoted self-regulation
and orderly development within the industry. Leveraging its long-
term leadership position in the industry, the Company persistently
contributed standardized practices and knowledge systems, took
the lead in drafting the industry’s first standard, which entered
the consultation phase. Additionally, the Company hosted the
High-Quality Housing Construction and Innovative Operation
Services Experience Exchange Conference (Affordable Housing
Construction, Anji) (15 an B {55 22 3% B2 81 37 & 4 AR 75 35 45 K Be 2 m
@ (REHEFRERLZSTIL), where it showcased the achievements
of the Anji Rongyuan project. This initiative established a model for
affordable housing under the “"good house” standard, advancing
the construction of high-quality residences.

Looking forward, the Company will continue relying on industry
associations to actively communicate with governments at
all levels and real estate authorities to promote the project
management business model. The Company will also connect
more peers in the project management industry and upstream and
downstream enterprises in the industry chain through opening
source knowledge systems, building ecological platforms, etc., to
promote the healthy and high-quality development of the project
management industry.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

The Company is prudent in its judgment that the penetration rate of
the residential project management in China is only 6.28%, which is far
lower than the international level. In the medium and long term, there
is ample room for growth in the industry. With the continued policy
efforts and structural recovery of the market, opportunities in existing
projects will emerge, and project management demand is expected to
be unleashed continuously.
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In 2025, Greentown Management will forge ahead in the market
environment with both challenges and opportunities and continue to
strengthen its core competitiveness. The Company will focus on capacity
enhancement, strengthen system and mechanism construction, and
establish a business philosophy driven by both quality and efficiency
through in-depth benchmarking learning, so as to comprehensively
enhance its business management, market expansion, product
innovation and marketing capabilities, and satisfy customers’ needs with
more accurate services. At the same time, the Company will actively
explore the application of Al big model to solve difficult problems
in project management, accelerate digital transformation, optimize
management processes, and refine the management and control on
collection and cost to ensure efficient and stable operation. With reform
and innovation as the driving forces, we will promote the comprehensive
upgrade of our business models and capabilities to consolidate our
leading position in the industry.

Looking to the future, at the critical stage when the economy is moving
towards high-quality development, Greentown Management will give
full play to the leading role of the industry’s new-quality productivity,
and will remain committed to becoming a benchmark enterprise in
China’s project management industry and a pioneer in the light-asset
development model, earning market trust with excellent quality and
delivering long-term value with professional ability. The Company
will join hands with all parties to build and share together, fully
demonstrating the unique advantages of the project management
model in the new development era, and leading the industry towards a
new stage of high-quality development.
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i FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
R2024F 12 A31H » AEBEIR : As at 31 December 2024, the Group has achieved:
WA Revenue

WAANRBE34412F &t 0 HH2023F Revenue of RMB3,441.2 million, representing a year-on-year increase
FAREE 33024 B & T - FEEE of 4.2% compared with RMB3,302.4 million in 2023. Revenue is derived
4.2% o WARBE ZFEHET « () ENRE from three types of businesses: (i) commercial project management;
()BT - R (i) B IRTS - RS D (i) government project management; and (iii) other services, which are
B ASIRIAT ¢ listed by business segment as follows:

BZ12A31H
As at 31 December
2024 2023 BHR
2024 2023 i/

AE®FR AREFT HBIKA (H%)
(BEI)  (RBBA (%) (&&sT) (%) (%)
% Change

RMB’000 % of total RMB'000 % of total increase/

(Audited) revenue (Audited) revenue (decrease)

REBERRE From commercial project
management 2,752,490 80.0 2,346,326 71.0 17.3
OEE (1) Self-operated 2,168,870 630 1432277 133 514

(QEXBBHEE (2) Cooperation with business

partners 583,620 17.0 914,049 27.7 (36.2)

REBARE From government project
management 625,846 18.2 788,480 23.9 (20.6)
H iR Other services 62,898 1.8 167,616 5.1 (62.5)
a5t Total 3,441,234 100.0 3,302,422 100.0 4.2

2024F FE RS 23



Greentown Management Holdings Company Limited

EEENWED T
Management Discussion and Analysis

REREHA

HMERBEKAZRAEEZTANEKA
MABRE REFRABRABAR
B2 7525B BT (HEBEBIWA®
80.0% * E22023F /) A R #2,346.3
BETTAELIBRT 17.3% © 12 &1+
ZRAR2024FEREBIFEKE
BHORFEE  BGERMERE
REAERY - EHERESER -

—
=

iy BIFRERAZAR®EG8H
B HEBIK AN B
2023 F ) AR 7885H BT Tk
20.6% ° 2024 FEXBURTE - BN
REFREBEZHE  BZURAT

B

(iy EMRFEUKABARKEIE B
T HEBEBRANI8%  EEAMN
RAaE] £ R ARG E HER
—REEMAEBEHEEESFR
AREl([HHEESE]) RIZA AR
HHERER((GREEEE]DE
EMBEERSEARSE  AHER
WAARE2198 8T K s
RISMAARKEIZOBETT °

AR #5 AN

RERN - REKABARE,7357
BEL ' B2023FMHARKE15801 88
TLIER98% c FAMFERERHER
AERBRARELE - AKRIEE RS
BXANIE BN o

24 Annual Report 2024

During the Reporting Period:

() commercial project management was still the largest source of
revenue and profit for the Group, with revenue of RMB2,752.5
million during the year, accounting for 80.0% of the total revenue,
increased by 17.3% compared with RMB2,346.3 million in 2023. The
increase was mainly due to the fact that the Group continued to
promote its strategy of deepening its local presence and actively
explored new business types and collaboration models, resulting in
steady growth in business scale.

(i) revenue from government project management reached RMB625.8
million, accounting for 18.2% of the total revenue, decreased
by 20.6% compared with RMB788.5 million in 2023. In 2024, the
revenue decreased due to the structural contraction of demand for
governmental project management affected by the policies.

(iii)y revenue from other services was RMB62.9 million, accounting for
1.8% of the total revenue, mainly due to the revenue of RMB21.9
million derived from a project during the Reporting Period
which was tendered by Greentown Real Estate Group Co., Ltd.
("Greentown Real Estate Group”) and managed by Greentown
Project Management Group Co., Ltd. (“Greentown Project
Management Group”), and the project was winding down in a
progressive manner as the Company did not obtain the grade 1
qualification for real estate development prior to listing, as well as
an income of RMB33.9 million derived from supply chain services.

Cost of Services

During the Reporting Period, cost of services was RMB1,735.7 million,
representing an increase of 9.8% from RMB1,580.1 million in 2023. The
main reasons for the increase were the increase in the scale of revenue
of commercial project management from self-operation as well as the
increase in project service costs.
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Gross Profit

During the Reporting Period, the gross profit was RMB1,705.6 million,
representing a decrease of 1% from RMB1,722.3 million in 2023.
The gross profit margin was 49.6%, representing a decrease of 2.6
percentage points compared to 52.2% for 2023.

— The gross profit margins of the three business segments were:
51.2% for commercial project management, 40.1% for government
project management and 72.9% for other services, compared to
52.3%, 45.2% and 82.2%, respectively, for 2023.

— The gross profit margin of commercial project management was
51.2%, decreased by 1.1 percentage points as compared to 52.3%
in 2023, mainly due to the slight decrease in the gross margin of
commercial project management as a result of the reasons such as
increased competition in the market.

— The gross profit margin of government project management was
40.1%, representing a decrease of 5.1 percentage points compared
to 45.2% in 2023, mainly due to a further decline in gross margin
of governmental project management as a result of the structural
contraction of demand for government project management
affected by the policies.

— The gross profit margin of other services was 72.9%. The higher
gross profit margin was mainly due to the revenue of RMB21.9
million derived from a project during the Period which was
tendered by Greentown Real Estate Group and managed by
Greentown Project Management Group as the Company did
not obtain the grade 1 qualification for real estate development
prior to listing on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”); the service cost of the project was recorded
at Greentown Real Estate Group, and the Company recognized
the revenue based on the net gain of the project settled with
Greentown Real Estate Group while the income from industrial
chain service projects was mainly derived from consultation
projects.
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Other Income

During the Reporting Period, other income of the Group was RMB111.6
million, a decrease of 28.4% from RMB155.8 million in 2023. The
decrease in other income was mainly due to the reasons such as the
decrease in dividends from equity investment.

Other Gains/Losses

During the Period, the other losses of the Group was RMB130.7 million,
the losses were mainly due to: (1) the increase in the fair value of the
contingent consideration for the equity acquisition of Greentown
Shangli of RMB28.8 million; (2) the impairment loss of non-current
assets of RMB69.8 million; and (3) the exchange loss incurred by foreign
currency assets and foreign currency liabilities of RMB24.4 million.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Selling and marketing expenses were RMB91.4 million, representing
a decrease of 12.5% from RMB104.5 million in 2023. The decrease
was mainly due to the “Inclusive Recruitment Program” launched by
the Company during the Period to reduce marketing expenses by

undertaking projects on the ecological platform.

Administration Expenses

Administration expenses were RMB481.1 million, representing a
decrease of 6.5% from RMB514.5 million in 2023. The decrease was
mainly due to a comprehensive digital transformation implemented
by the Group to improve operation efficiency by leveraging on system
tools, thereby reducing labor and administrative expenses.

Profit for the Year

During the Reporting Period, the net profit of the Group was RMB790.5
million, representing a decrease of 19.4% from RMB980.7 million in
2023. The net profit during the Period attributable to the owners of the
Company was RMB801.1 million, representing a decrease of 17.7% from
RMB973.6 million in 2023.
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Trade and Other Receivables

As at 31 December 2024, trade and other receivables reached
RMB1,119.4 million, representing an increase of 35.9% from RMB823.9
million at the end of 2023. The increase was mainly due to a lag in
sales turnover in some regions influenced by overall market trend of
the real estate industry, which in turn affected the collection of project
management fees. The turnover rate of trade receivables decreased
from 15.1 times in 2023 to 9.7 times in 2024.

Contract Assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s contract assets amounted to
RMB1,344.7 million, representing an increase of 51.0% from RMB890.6
million at the end of 2023. The contract assets reflected the amounts
related to certain projects where the Company have fulfilled its
obligations but have not yet reached the management fee collection
milestone as agreed in the contract. The increase was mainly due to the
expansion of the Company’s operating scale, and such project will be
transferred to cash inflows from the Company’s operating activities in
the future.

Trade and Other Payables

As at 31 December 2024, trade and other payables amounted to
RMB1,286.1 million, representing an increase of 2.3% from RMB1,257.2
million at the end of 2023. The increase was mainly attributable to the
increase of collection payables of RMB46.3 million.
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Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2024, the total equity of the Group reached
approximately RMB3,941.6 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB192.0 million from RMB4,133.6 million at the
beginning of 2024. Specifically, equity attributable to Shareholders
was approximately RMB3,810.2 million, representing a decrease
of approximately RMB185.5 million from RMB3,995.7 million at the
beginning of 2024, mainly due to the facts that: (1) the Company
achieved a net profit attributable to the Shareholders of RMB801.1
million in 2024, which led to the increase in equity attributable to
Shareholders; (2) the recognition of equity-settled share-based
payments of RMB7.9 million led to the increase in equity attributable to
Shareholders; and (3) the distribution of cash dividends to Shareholders
during the Period led to the decrease in the equity attributable to
Shareholders by RMB988.0 million.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had a total of 2,010,000,000
shares in issue, and had a total market capitalization of approximately
HKD6,633.0 million (based on the closing price on 31 December 2024).

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had bank deposits and cash (not
including pledged bank deposits) of RMB1,518.3 million (31 December
2023: RMB2,044.4 million); and the current ratio was 1.68 times (31
December 2023: 1.83 times). Gearing ratio (interest-bearing debt
divided by total equity at the end of the same period) was 0.9% (31
December 2023: 0.9%).

During the Reporting Period, our liquidity was mainly tailored to meet
the working capital needs. Internally generated cash flow was the main
source of funding for our working capital, capital expenditures and
other funding needs.

Debt

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no significant borrowings.
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Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group conducts substantially all of its business in Mainland China
and in Renminbi. Therefore, the Group is exposed to low foreign
exchange risks. However, the depreciation or appreciation of RMB
and HKD against foreign currencies may have impact on the Group's
financial performance. Currently, the Group does not hedge foreign
exchange risks, but will continue to closely monitor its exposure to
foreign exchange risks. The management will consider hedging foreign
exchange risks when the Group becomes materially affected by such
risks.

Contingent Liabilities
The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2024.

Pledge of Assets

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no pledge of assets.

Asset Transactions and Significant Investments

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no asset transactions or
significant investments.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no material acquisition and
disposal.

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets

The Group did not have any future plans for material investments or
capital assets as at 31 December 2024.

Treasury Management

Our treasury management function undertakes the responsibility of cash
management, liquidity planning and control, provision of cost-efficient
financing for the Group, liaison with banks and other related institutions,
investment in financial products, as well as mitigation of financial risks
such as interest and foreign exchanges risks. Our treasury management
function is designed to align with the long-term and short-term needs
of the Group and comply with good corporate governance standard.
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Below are the biographies of the Directors and senior management of
the Group as at the Latest Practicable Date.

DIRECTORS
Non-executive Director

Mr. GUO Jiafeng, aged 60, graduated from Zhejiang Construction
Industry School (HT3EZET EZ4R) in 1981, majoring in industrial and
civil architecture. Mr. Guo has more than 37 years of experience in the
industry, and has extensive experience in project development and
construction. Mr. Guo joined Greentown since May 1999, served as an
executive director of Greentown China from July 2006 to March 2015,
and acted as the executive general manager of Greentown Real Estate
Group Co., Ltd. (B HEELEB AR 2 7

responsible for the real estate development of projects in areas such

a]) where he was primarily

as Hunan Changsha, Zhejiang Hangzhou, Zhejiang Zhoushan, Jiangsu
Nanjing, Anhui Hefei and Xinjiang. He was mainly engaged his personal
business from April 2015 to July 2019. Mr. Guo was re-appointed as an
executive director of Greentown China on 11 July 2019, and as chief
executive officer of Greentown China on 17 December 2020. He has
been the Chairman of the Board and a non-executive Director of the
Company since 8 January 2020, and redesignated to Co-Chairman
of the Board on 31 July 2023, mainly responsible for the overall
formulation, supervision and guidance of business strategies, planning
and development of the Group. Currently, Mr. Guo also serves as an
executive director and chief executive officer of Greentown China.
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Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Junfeng, aged 49, currently is an executive Director and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He was the Executive President
of the Company since 29 December 2022, and has been an executive
Director of the Company since 12 January 2023 and redesignated to
executive Director and Chief Executive Officer on 31 July 2023. Mr.
Wang mainly focuses on the Company’s development strategies,
competitive strategies, human resources management and capital
market in addition to the coordination of the Group's comprehensive
operations and management.

He completed his undergraduate studies in civil engineering at the
East China Jiaotong University in 1997 (2 3 2 i KX 2) and obtained
a bachelor’s degree. He holds the title of Senior Engineer. Mr. Wang
joined Greentown Group in 1999 and has more than 25 years of
experience in real estate development and project management. From
2017 to 2022, Mr. Wang had successively served as the deputy general
manager and executive deputy general manager of Zhejiang Greentown
Real Estate Investment Co., Ltd. (I /L&x B E KR E B R A 7)), the
general manager of Ningbo City Company (2 )& 3 M 2 &) and the
general manager of Zhedong Greentown Real Estate Investment Co.,

Ltd. CERAEWEERERBR A F).
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Ms. NIE Huanxin, aged 52, was appointed as an executive Director and
the Chief Digital Officer of the Company on 18 July 2024. Ms. Nie is a
senior accountant, Certified Public Accountant and Certified Tax Agent
with extensive experience in areas including corporate operation and
management and financial management.

Ms. Nie studied in Shanxi University of Finance and Economics with a
bachelor’s degree in economics majoring in economics and information
management, Renmin University of China with a master's degree in
management majoring in accounting, and University of New South
Wales with a master’s degree in business majoring in international
finance. She joined Greentown China in August 2016, currently serves
as an assistant president, chief digital officer (concurrently) and general
manager of operation management center (concurrently) of Greentown
China. She is mainly responsible for the operation management and
digitalization of Greentown China. Ms. Nie has 30 years of experience
in the real estate industry and has successively served as financial
chiefs of several enterprises, including Zhongnongxin Real Estate Co.,
Ltd. (F 215 5 b ZE B BR 2 7)), Zhongzhu Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. (FEFHERZEABR R F]) (formerly known as Huaneng Real
Estate Development Co., Ltd. ((2REFHEMRZEFR A 5))), CCCG Real
Estate Corporation Limited (7 32 il & % 19 B BR & &) (formerly known
as China Real Estate Corporation Limited (FEHERKDBRAF])) and
Greentown Real Estate Group.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. LIN Zhihong, aged 54, has been an independent non-executive
Director of the Company since 23 June 2020 and is primarily responsible
for providing guidance and supervision regarding the business,
operations and corporate governance of the Group.

Mr. Lin has served as general manager, deputy general manager and
president of a number of banks.
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In 2008, Mr. Lin was selected as one of the Top Ten Pacemakers in the
Building of Professional Ethics for Workers in the National Financial
System (R Bl & Bl R AT THL X B R E R + £ 1% &) by the National
Committee of China Financial Trade Union (TEI M T €2 HEZE &)
and one of the 50 Most Promising Young Bankers in Asia Pacific and the
Gulf Region (Z5A & /i1 Hb/E 50 4 875 AT HYEE 884775 by The Asian
Banker (22 M R 77 %K), and was awarded the May, 1 National Labour
Medal in the National Financial System (2 B € gt 7 — 4 B &) by
China Financial Trade Union (B & @ T €). In 2011, he was awarded
the 15th Anniversary Meritorious Service and Entrepreneur Award (+1
HFINB)EIZEE ) by China Minsheng Bank. In 2015, he was selected
as a Year 2015 Outstanding Innovative Business Leader (2015 i &I %7
P2 <EH) by Hong Kong Wen Wei Po Daily (&7 X ER).

He obtained a Ph.D in management science and engineering (financial
engineering) from Dalian University of Technology (KiEE T KZ) in the
PRC in 2014.

Dr. DING Zuyu, aged 51, has been an independent non-executive
Director of the Company since 23 June 2020 and is primarily responsible
for providing guidance and supervision regarding the business,
operations and corporate governance of the Group.

Dr. Ding is an executive director of E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings
Limited (B E (B ) & 2 $E & B R 2 7)) (stock code: 2048) and an
independent non-executive director of Powerlong Real Estate Holdings
Limited (BREHIEIEARBBR A F]) (stock code: 1238), and SCE Intelligent
Commercial Management Holdings Limited (stock code: 606), all of
which are companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
and also an executive member of China Real Estate Association (FFEI&E

HWEXBE).

From 16 March 2018 to 1 April 2024, he acted as chief executive officer
of E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited (5 /& () 1 3 1% %
BBR727F]) (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 2048)).

He obtained a Ph.D in economics from East China Normal University (£
HEMEIAE) in the PRC in 2013.
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Mr. CHAN Yan Kwan Andy, aged 56, has been an independent non-
executive Director of the Company since 23 June 2020 and is primarily
responsible for providing guidance and supervision regarding the
business, operations and corporate governance of the Group.

Mr. Chan is the chief financial officer and company secretary of Kingdom
Holdings Limited (& 3 1= I8 B R 2 7)), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 528).

He worked for a number of international accounting firms (including
Ernst & Young), and has over 27 years of extensive financial experience.

He obtained a bachelor's degree in economics and accounting from
the University of Hull in the United Kingdom in 1992; a master's degree
in business administration from the University of Western Ontario in
Canada in 2008 and a master's degree in corporate governance (with
distinction) from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2021. He
is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. He is also a fellow Chartered Secretary and
fellow Chartered Governance Professional of the Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LIN Sanjiu, aged 61, has been the Executive President of the
Company since 8 January 2020 and is primarily responsible for the
management of the Group's products. He joined the Greentown Group
in October 2006, and he joined the Group as the general manager of
certain project companies in 2009. He served as an executive Director
of the Company from January 2020 to July 2024. Mr. Lin has extensive
experience in real estate development.

He obtained an associate degree in business management from the
Hangzhou Branch of the Associated Correspondent University for
Economic Management (487 & 12 T2 B& REMINT D) in the PRC
in 1989.

Mr. FU Peng, aged 50, has been the vice president of the Company
since July 2021 and is mainly responsible for the research and
development and design of the Group’s products, and serves as the
chief engineer of the Group.
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He joined Greentown in 2003. From 2003 to 2015, he had successively
served as the manager of the fine decoration management department
of Greentown Real Estate Group, the assistant to the general manager
of the Blue Qianjiang Project Company (B2 25T 18 B A 7)), the general
manager of the Greentown Decoration Group (4% 585 @), and the
general manager of the Sincere Garden Project (P8 Z 5 & I8 B ). From
2015 to 2021, he served as the vice president and chief product officer
of the Sunac Southeast Regional Group (Bt Al 52 /4 [& 15 &£ E), and the
dean of the Future Community Development Research Center (7 R4t
[@EERFTH L), in charge of the product center, the cost recruitment
center, the project management center, and the public construction

center.

He obtained a bachelor’s degree in construction engineering from the
Department of Civil Engineering of Zhejiang University (4T )T X £) in
1997.

Mr. CHENG Min, aged 43, has been vice president of the Company
since December 2020. He is mainly responsible for the Group's business
development, financial management and management of capital
project.

Mr. Cheng has extensive experience in real estate project investment
and expansion. He previously joined the Greentown Group in 2010 as an
senior officer of the corporate development department. In September
of the same year, he was transferred to Greentown Construction
Management Co., Ltd. (4% 2 :% & ¥ B R A ) to engage in and be
responsible for the expansion of the project management business. He
served at the headquarters of Greentown Real Estate in 2015. He acted
as executive general manager of the Huzhou Yuyuan Project (J8/N &
T8 H), deputy general manager of the South China regional company,
and deputy general manager of the development and investment
center of Greentown China.

He obtained a bachelor’'s degree in mechanical engineering and
automation from Zhejiang University of Technology (3# /T T % K £) in
2005, and a master's degree in technical economy and management
from Zhejiang University of Technology (AT T L% A2 in 2009.

Mr. LUO Yi, aged 47, has been the vice president of the Company since
15 February 2022. He is primarily responsible for the overall operation
and management of the government business of the Group.
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He joined Greentown Management in 2018 as general manager of its
product research and development center, and subsequently served as
general manager of Greentown Leju Construction Management Group
Co., Ltd. (FIREEREREREBBR A F]) (a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Greentown Management) since 2019. He has been an assistant
president of the Group since 17 July 2020. Before joining Greentown
Management, Mr. Luo served in Zhejiang Urban and Rural Planning and
Design Institute (1)L & A7 2|58 5T 7EPx ), Hangzhou Qianjiang New
Town Management Committee (1M EZ E) and Hangzhou
Qianjiang New Town Investment Group (i N 1 £ )T 1 3 2 & & &).
He is familiar with business exploration and development in multiple
sectors, and has extensive experience in urban primary and secondary
real estate development.

He obtained a bachelor's degree in architecture from the School of
Architecture of Zhejiang University (T /T K 2 % £ K) in the PRC in
2001, and a master's degree in urban planning and design from Zhejiang
University (#)T KE2) in the PRC in 2005.

Mr. JING Zeya, aged 52, has been the vice president of the Company
since 1 December 2023, is primarily responsible for the management of
the Group's operations, and serves as the Chief Operation Officer of the
Group.

He has more than 20 years of experience in real estate project
management as well as company operations and management. He
joined Greentown in 2004 and served as deputy general manager of
Greentown Cixi Company (4k3k 282 7)), executive general manager
of Greentown Yuyao Company (4%3 #2%k 2 R]), and general manager of
Zhejiang Greentown Times Construction Management Co., Ltd (#T)T4%
HRREREEBRAA), ete.

He obtained a master's degree of business administration from Zhejiang
University (#/ T A2) and an EMBA degree from Tsinghua University (/&
FERR).

Mr. ZHOU Ye, aged 42, has been the assistant president and vice
president of the Company since 12 January 2023 and is primarily
responsible for the marketing and client research management of the
Group, and serves as the Chief Brand Officer of the Group.
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He has more than 20 years of experience in real estate marketing
management, and served as the regional deputy general manager
and regional general manager of Zhedong Greentown Real Estate

Investment Co., Ltd. (T R&H EHERE BRAR).

BOARD SECRETARY

Mr. SHANG Shuchen, aged 60, has been appointed as the Board
Secretary of the Company since 1 January 2025. He is mainly responsible
for coordinating and managing the affairs related to the board meetings
and general meetings of the Group.

Mr. Shang joined Greentown China in 2019 and serves as the board
secretary of Greentown China, and concurrently serves as the general
manager of the Board office, the president office and the Party & the
Masses office. Mr. Shang attended Liaoning Youth Administrative Cadre
College (EE B FEE#H L), Shenyang Agricultural University (V&
5B 3% K2) and Dongbei University of Finance and Economics (3R1LEf
4K E) with a master's degree. He served as league secretary, chairman
of the labor union, secretary of disciplinary inspection committee,
deputy secretary of municipal committee, standing deputy city mayor of
Zhuanghe City, Liaoning Province; deputy secretary of the Party working
committee and deputy head of administration commission of Dalian
Recycling Industry Economic Area; deputy director of Organization
Department of Dalian Municipal Committee; a member of the Party
working committee and deputy head of administration commission of
Dalian Jinpu New Area, and Party secretary and head of administration
commission of Dalian Jinshitan National Tourist Resort. Mr. Shang
has extensive experience in organizational building, cadre and talent
management as well as administrative management, and ample

qualifications in business management and board affairs.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Gu Jixiang (“Ms. Gu") and Ms. Ng Sau Mei ("Ms. Ng”) are
currently the joint company secretaries of the Company.

Ms. Gu, aged 33, is the director of investor relations of the Company.
Ms. Gu has more than 10 years of work experience in investor relations
management and overseas financing for Hong Kong listed real estate
companies. Before joining the Group in August 2024, Ms. Gu served as
the deputy director of investor relations in Greentown China from July
2020 to July 2024 and mainly focused on investor relation, information
disclosure and corporate governance matters of Greentown China.
Before joining Greentown China, Ms. Gu worked at Longfor Group
Holdings Limited (960.HK) for nearly six years where she mainly focused
on investor relations and overseas financing. Ms. Gu received a
bachelor’s degree in economics from Central China Normal University in
June 2013.

Ms. Ng is a director and head of the Listing Services Department of
TMF Hong Kong Limited (a global enterprise service provider). Ms. Ng
has over 20 years of experience in the company secretarial field and
is responsible for provision of company secretarial and compliance
services to listed company clients. Ms. Ng is a fellow member of
The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered
Governance Institute in the United Kingdom.
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The Board is pleased to present the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The principal business of the Group is to provide project management
services. An analysis of the Group's revenue for the Reporting Period
by principal business activities is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 97 to 98 of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had a total GFA
under the management contracts of 125.6 million square meters,
representing an increase of approximately 5% as compared to the
corresponding period last year. The area under construction was 54
million square meters, representing an increase of approximately 2.9%
as compared to the corresponding period last year.

A fair review of the Group’s business and an indication of the likely
future development of the Group’s business (including, in each case
to the extent necessary for an understanding of the development,
performance or position of the Group's business, key performance
indicators) are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” of this annual report and in the notes to the financial
statements. A description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced
by the Group and particulars of important events affecting the Group
that have occurred since the end of the year are also set out in this
section.

To the extent necessary for an understanding of the development,
performance or position of the Group's business, a discussion of the
Group's key relationships with its stakeholders that have a significant
impact on the Group which the Group's success depends on, are set out
in the “2024 Environmental, Social and Governance Report”.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to achieving environmental sustainability.
The Group endeavors to comply with the relevant laws and regulations
regarding environmental protection and adopts effective measures to
achieve efficient use of resources, waste reduction and energy saving.
The Group reviews its environmental policies on a regular basis. Further
details of the Group's environmental policies and performance are set
out in the “2024 Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of the
Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group and its business operations are subject to various laws, rules
and regulations. The Company is committed to ensuring adherence
to such laws, rules and regulations through various measures such as
internal controls, approval procedures, staff trainings and oversight
of business operations at different levels of the Group. The Board
also monitors the Group's policies and practices on a regular basis to
ensure compliance with relevant laws, rules and regulations. So far as
the Directors and senior management are aware, for the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group has obtained the approvals, permits,
consents, licenses and registrations required for and material to its
business and operations, and there was no material breach of the
relevant laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact
on the Group.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the issued Shares of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the changes in the Group's property, plant and equipment
for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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BORROWINGS

The Group had no significant borrowings during the year ended 31
December 2024.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

No equity-linked agreements were entered into or subsisted at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

DONATIONS

The Group has not made any donations during the year ended 31
December 2024.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the changes in the Company’s reserves for the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 101 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend for 2024 of
RMBO0.24 per share to Shareholders, subject to Shareholders’ approval
at the annual general meeting to be convened on Wednesday, 18 June
2025. The dividend payable to Shareholders will be declared in RMB
and paid in HKD based on the average exchange rate published by the
People’s Bank of China for the 5 business days prior to the date of the
AGM.

The proposed final dividend is expected to be paid to Shareholders on
or before Friday, 18 July 2025.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

(a)

For determining the entitlement of the Shareholders to
attend and vote at the AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Friday, 13 June 2025 to Wednesday, 18 June 2025 (both days
inclusive), during which period no transfer of Shares will be
registered. In order to determine the identity of members who
are entitled to attend and vote at the AGM, all share transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops
1712- 1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Thursday, 12 June 2025.

For determining the entitlement to the 2024 proposed
final dividend

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 9 July 2025 to Monday, 14 July 2025 (both days
inclusive), during which no transfer of Shares will be registered.
In order to be eligible for the 2024 proposed final dividend,
unregistered holders of Shares should ensure that all transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Tuesday, 8 July 2025.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The financial summary of the Group is set out on page 8 of this annual
report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue from the largest
customer of the Group accounted for approximately 5.0% of the Group's
total revenue for the year, and revenue from the five largest customers
of the Group accounted for less than 10.6% of the Group's total revenue
for the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the purchases made from the
largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately 3.6% of the
Group's total purchases for the year, and the purchases made from the
five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for less than 13.1% of the
total purchases made by the Group during the year.

DIRECTORS" AND SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS OF THE GROUP

None of the Directors, any of their close associates or any Shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of
the number of issued Shares) had any direct or indirect interests in the
Group's five largest customers or suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the Latest
Practicable Date are as follows:

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Guo Jiafeng (Co-Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Yadong (formerly served as Co-Chairman,
resigned with effect from 31 March 2025)

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Junfeng (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Nie Huanxin (appointed on 18 July 2024)
Mr. Li Jun (resigned on 23 August 2024)

Mr. Lin Sanjiu (resigned on 18 July 2024)
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lin Zhihong
Dr. Ding Zuyu
Mr. Chan Yan Kwan Andy

Pursuant to Article 16.2 and Article 16.19 of the Articles of Association,
Mr. Wang Junfeng, Ms. Nie Huanxin and Mr. Chan Yan Kwan Andy shall
retire from office by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM.

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has entered into a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is
not determinable by the employer within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of
the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS OR APPOINTMENT
LETTERS

Each of the Director has entered into a service contract (for executive
Directors and non-executive Directors) or signed an appointment letter
(for independent non-executive Directors) with the Company for a
specific term of three years and subject to re-election pursuant to the
Articles of Association where necessary.

The service contracts of the executive Directors and the non-executive
Directors may be terminated by not less than two months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other. The appointment letters of
the independent non-executive Directors may be terminated by the
Company or the Director himself/herself with at least three months’
prior written notice to the other party, respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

There are no transactions, arrangements or contracts that is significant
in relation to the Group's business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity connected
with a Director had, directly or indirectly, a material interest subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts other than employment contracts concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the Company were entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND THEIR ASSOCIATES
IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or
any of their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) was
considered to be interested in any business which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

According to the requirements of the Articles of Association, every
Director for the time being acting in relation to any of the affairs of the
Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets
and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they may incur or sustain by or
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices or
trusts. However, this indemnity does not extend to any matter in respect
of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of the said persons.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has taken out insurance for
the Directors and senior management to provide appropriate protection

for the Directors and senior management of the Company.

The permitted indemnity provision was in force during the year ended
31 December 2024 for the benefit of the Directors.
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DIRECTORS" AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and senior management,
together with those of the five highest paid individuals of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 11 and note 38(jii)
to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The remuneration packages of individual Directors (including salaries
and other benefits) are recommended by the remuneration committee
of the Company for the Board's approval, having regard to the Group's
results, Directors’ performance, duties, etc.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the
Company are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 24 February 2020, the Company and Greentown China entered into
a trademark license agreement (the “Trademark Licence Agreement”),
pursuant to which Greentown China licensed certain “Greentown”
series of trademark registered in the PRC and Hong Kong in relation to
the project management business to the Company and its subsidiaries.
The license under the Trademark License Agreement has an initial term
commencing from the date of the agreement and ending 10 years
from the Listing Date, which (subject to compliance with relevant laws
and regulations, including the Listing Rules), may be renewed upon
written notice given by the Company for every 10 years from the expiry
date. For details of the Trademark Licence Agreement, please refer to
"Connected Transactions” section of the Prospectus.
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Annual Caps

Below are the details of the annual caps for the Trademark Licence
Agreement.

G HA
Year(s)

FAEAR
FE LR
Annual Cap

Licence Fee
(AREBET)
(RMB million)

F1F (B LT HHBRFHR—F)

F2F (B LEFFAFERARZ
BREETME —F  TH)

FE3F
FAFEHE105F

1st year (the one year period starting from the

Listing Date) 30
2nd year (the one year period starting from the

expiration of the previous one year period.

Same for license periods below.) 40
3rd year 50
4th year — 10th year 60

T ARTBEHE2024F12ANBILFERE
SHARESCOAETHAIER -

ARBIEETHRERMBEENEER

ﬁﬁo

FEBRERINFEERN

RIELTRA BYIFFRATEFTCEMN
FPRBERER S MBS - WHE
REFEAEXZORAEE KK
BEEBT  ()RERRERIEEGK
Ko (i) RIBE EETTE B MR R ATl ek
BAFEEANAARE RBEREER

BRI -

Note: The Company shall pay a license fee of RMB56.6 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

The Company has complied with the pricing policies as disclosed in the
Prospectus.

Annual Review of the Continuing Connected Transactions

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, the independent non-executive Directors
have reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and
the auditor’s report and confirmed that the continuing connected
transactions were entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group; (i) on normal commercial terms or better; and
(iii) according to the Trademark License Agreement governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole.
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The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions with regard to the Trademark
Licence Agreement in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor
of the Company has issued an unqualified letter containing its findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save for the transactions mentioned in the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” above, the related party transactions
disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions under the
Listing Rules, but are exempt from shareholder approval, disclosure and

other requirements under Chapter 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group does not have any material events subsequent to the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.
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BEERBSTHRAERRKRG - DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AR REEZRZERRAE AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

R2024F 12831 H » EERARAERS  As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
TTBABEARRE REIEE AR (3%E%  Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying
NERE &GS XV B0 T 2 R ) 2 I’RtD shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
AR REEBEEEELZALRDTIR (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required to be
BBELELHEEMNEIS2IEETEFEZE  entered in the register of the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the
B HRBIRESFRAIEBMART KR SFO, or which were required to be notified to the Company and the

B P2 B am BORBIAT - Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:
() RRORMEBEROOES (i) Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares

RARE

BExm PTERD RN
BETRASHSE EEROEHE BEO # Bok
Approximate

Number of Number of percentage of

Name of Director or ordinary derivative interest in the

chief executive Nature of interest Shares Shares Company

FEE LA EnEAA 12,000,000 0 12,000,000 0.60%
Mr. Guo Jiafeng Beneficial owner
RPREED EnEBA 2,306,000 0 2,306,000 0.11%
Mr. Zhang Yadong? Beneficial owner
FlEELAE EnEBA 1,200,000 3,500,000 4,700,000 0.23%
Mr. Wang Junfeng Beneficial owner
BT+ EnEAA 496,000 0 496,000 0.02%
Ms. Nie Huanxin Beneficial owner
BT - Notes:
(1) ZE#REB202FKHERZE (1) Such interests refer to the interests in the award share units granted
BIREEBRMD B PIERRE under the 2022 Share Award Scheme.
%o
2 REREECBEFNTEERE (2)  Mr. Zhang Yadong resigned as a non-executive Director and a
ERBFER - B202563A31H Co-Chairman of the Board with effect from 31 March 2025.
HEAERR o
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(i) AT REEEE

(i) Associated Corporation of the Company

AN F) AR B
EEERE

Name of associated

corporation
Name of Director

of the Company

BRAEE
(EBTEEZ
RS R ERG)
No. of Shares

EMEBEEE BT
BRAEBFDHL®

% of issued
share capital of
the associated
corporation®

(including Share
Options or Award
Shares Granted
to Directors)

BEEKLE AR
Mr. Guo Jiafeng Greentown China
SREBIRIEAED KRR
Mr. Zhang Yadong® Greentown China
Yt iy AR

Ms. Nie Huanxin

Greentown China

8,371,363" 0.33%
15,920,927 0.63%
3,700,353 0.15%

(1) FBOREERW P BI2016 4 88 A st
2|18 T #96,280,00010 B i 1+
(i)2,091,363 B &k ok P B B 19 (1E &
EBEEA)

() FBORERW P BI2016 4 B8 R AE At
EITE T 912,609,000 17 BE R4« K
(i3,311,927 B &k P B 19 (1E &
E=mEAAN)

(3) O AEEREAP E 2016 FRERHERTE
I8 T 93,368,400 19 B8 B ¢ I (ii)
331,953 &t R BUAR 1D (TEAE =
HwEAN)

@) REHAELCEEFNTEERSE
EYHEERE - B2025F3A31H
HEARL

(5) 1R 2024F12 A3 BEERNERE
R4 R B i 25 R A% 30 P B ) B 3577
R EEETERE -

Br ESCRTHR &R & AN - R 2024F 12 A 31
H BMEEERAQRAESTHRAER
AR F S EAARAER AR Z G - AR
RO REEFEFBLARRIREE
E R EIEFIEI2EBTFEZER
fit - HARBZETRIZEBIA D7) KB
RETZ ERTARR o
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Notes:

m

It represents (i) 6,280,000 share options under the Greentown China
2016 Share Option Scheme; and (ii) 2,091,363 shares of Greentown
China (as beneficial owner).

It represents (i) 12,609,000 share options under the Greentown China
2016 Share Option Scheme; and (ii) 3,311,927 shares of Greentown
China (as beneficial owner).

It represents (i) 3,368,400 share options under the Greentown China
2016 Share Option Scheme; and (ii) 331,953 shares of Greentown
China (as beneficial owner).

Mr. Zhang Yadong resigned as a non-executive Director and a Co-
Chairman of the Board with effect from 31 March 2025.

Calculated based on the Director's interest in the relevant shares
and the total number of issued shares of Greentown China as at
31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company had any interest or short positions
in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations, which were required to be entered in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, as at 31 December 2024, none
of the Directors and chief executives of the Company (including their
spouses and children under the age of 18) had any interest in, or had
been granted any right to subscribe for the Shares and debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of the
SFO), or had exercised any such rights.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2024, the following companies and persons (other
than the Directors and chief executives of the Company) had interest
or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares which fell to be
disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were required to be entered in the register kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

FERREB

Name of
substantial shareholder

Nature of interest

RARQTERH
BABEDH

Approximate

R EA

percentage of

Number of interest in the

Shares Company

AR B

Greentown China

BEmfEBA

Beneficial owner

1,432,660,000 71.28%

Br ECPTIRER AN - 7A2024F12A318 -
MEEMA - BEMAEMA L (LIEE
ERARNETmEITHRAE) R 8
IR0 B IR IR 75 R A A& B 28 XV 6
F2RINDEAETHERE  HELALQH
RIBES R EIEPIE B IEREFTEZ
TRz EEIORR  c EFUTAEE
AR A& R 72024412 A31 B E IR EM AR ©

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors are not
aware of any other person (other than Directors and chief executives
of the Company) who have any interest or short positions in the Shares
or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to be entered in
the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
The Directors did not aware of any pledging of Shares by the controlling
shareholder as at 31 December 2024.
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R2024%F 12 A31H B I XTI EH As at 31 December 2024, save as disclosed below, none of the Directors
N BEEE R AR S BRI (D P was a director or employee of a company which had an interest or
ABREELFNHEEGIZE XV 885 2 & 3 short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be
DEEMEXBRAIARRHEREZEK  disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
BEHARIMESRNIES : Part XV of the SFO:

RROPEERATREERS

EEnE RKREZARER RZA B 2B
Name of company which had
such discloseable interest or

Name of Director short position in the Shares Position within such company

Eile Sotes St WITEF

Mr. Guo Jiafeng Greentown China Executive director

SRap RIEAEM AR BITEZRO

Mr. Zhang Yadong® Greentown China Executive director®

BB+ AR B BIRMRE - BREBFE ()
BETIRROELIE ()

Ms. Nie Huanxin Greentown China Assistant president, chief

digital officer (concurrently)
and general manager of operation
management center (concurrently)

MEE Note:

() RERELEEBHEFNTEZRESRS (1) Mr. Zhang Yadong resigned as a non-executive Director and a Co-

BERERE - B20255F 3 A31 BRBAR Chairman of the Board with effect from 31 March 2025. He also resigned as
BHREBEERTBRZRITES B an executive director of Greentown China with effect from 26 March 2025.
20254F 3 A 26 BRBAR ©
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% 17 2% B 5+ &l SHARE AWARD SCHEMES

RAREERMMIBR GO EEE S - B The Company adopted two share award schemes, namely the 2020
2020 F %15 SR Eh 5t 2] 2 2022 5 f 17 22 B Share Award Scheme and the 2022 Share Award Scheme, with major

=E o EXE R LSRN terms and details set out below:
2020 F R 17 SR B =t &l 2022 F 17 R BT &
2020 Share Award Scheme 2022 Share Award Scheme
1. BHX RABERZEENERTABREREAEE KM ERERNFELE L ER
Purpose To recognize the contributions by the eligible participants and to provide them with
incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation and development of the
Group
2. RERZEE BEBLTHRA BEFSFR—BREALTRBERME) A2 ERNERR/ELABRE
Eligible participant SEEHERIZ AL BARAEEEAKNERNELIXESTHEESTSREETEZ

AEIZEMAL(TREALD  EREMAL  HAAERED2ERKROIZERE
FATEIR Y HEAKEERE  NEFEN—EAREALRR  RETZHHNBERE
BRBROIMERZEALBL 28 AE - AIEBERNALTEE2EZEE -

Subject to the Listing Rules, any individual, being an employee or director of any
members of the Group who the Board or any person authorized by the Board for
the administration of such scheme (the “Authorized Person”) (as the case may be)
considers, in its sole discretion, to have contributed or will contribute to the Group;
however, no individual who is resident in a place where the grant, acceptance or
vesting of an award pursuant to such scheme is not permitted under the laws and
regulations of such place or where, in the view of the Board or an Authorized Person,
the compliance with applicable laws and regulations in such place makes it necessary
or appropriate to exclude such individual, shall be entitled to participate in such

scheme.
3. WA H 20204 10 A 28 H 202264 R 24 R
Adoption date 28 October 2020 24 April 2022
4. HARR B B BAREET+ (10) FEAR B B R A3
Duration It shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the adoption date

5. AIRB&ZERMEE AR AR B BIE B 1TA ) #9 1.83% RN RIRERA B B S 31T IR #9 2.657%

Maximum number of 1.83% of the issued Shares of the 2.657% of the issued Shares of the
Shares that can be Company as at the adoption date Company as at the adoption date
awarded
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2020 F D € B ET 2l
2020 Share Award Scheme

2022 F R fr SR EEHE
2022 Share Award Scheme

6.

10.

56

5B
Vesting period

BEE

Purchase price

B2EENER LR
Maximum entitlement
of each participant

RRE

Voting rights

RIgRFH

Remaining life

Annual Report 2024

202012 A24 B2 2023F 12 A 24 H
24 December 2020 to 24 December 2023

ERABAXNBEEARZGEREBRN -

PR 20224 4 A 24 B 5% 4 1 52 By i 40 57 B8
HY - 2022F 4 R 24 AE 202554 A 24 A
The vesting period for the award shares
granted on 24 April 2022: 24 April 2022
to 24 April 2025

72022410 A 28 B H Ky SRR 10 B3 8
HA : 202210 H28 B ZE 20254 10 A 28
H

The vesting period for the award shares
granted on 28 October 2022: 28 October
2022 to 28 October 2025

R2024F3 A2 BRIV R B AL 57 8
HY - 20243 A22 A& 20273 A 22 H
The vesting period for the award shares
granted on 22 March 2024: 22 March
2024 to 22 March 2027

Grantees are not required to pay a purchase price to accept such award shares.

AR ARERA HEIE BT 1%

1% of the issued Shares of the Company as at the adoption date

REAMRBE AR BT REBLPR EM R 1T MR ERE

The trustee shall not exercise any voting rights in respect of any Shares held

pursuant to the trust deed

B20204F 10 A 28 R £ 5T T (10 F B A
W FIRFELOB5F

Effective for a term of 10 years commencing
from 28 October 2020 and with a remaining
life of approximately 5 years

B 202244 24 H (10 F HREE R -
RIsRFHLRT F

Effective for a term of 10 years commencing
from 24 April 2022 and with a remaining life
of approximately 7 years
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2020 £ R B EH &

AR B R B N AR K 2020 FF Bk 19
RENET IR B SR EAR D o 722024 F 1
B1RERER20245F12 8318 @ #IEH A
SEBREERD c REIZ2024F 12 A318
LtFE  BESpROERY B8 -
FESHER AR RN o B AN 2020 F IR 1D S8 B At
212202412 A31H » & 35,740,000
J% 4% B i% D B % 1 ¢ 28,710,000 % 22 &)
%7 2 58 8 -+ 7,030,000 A% 22 B A% 19 2 &
B BT E AR AR -

2024912 A 31 8 1R %2020 F i 19
REE T HEEN R RO A
BT71209610% - MAEBRMHDEE A
7,120,961 8% * {6 ARG B BTN 28
#70.354% °

R MEAT B AR 0 VIR B B IA R FEA
BB ZWENIRE R TR -
U # A& sk FREI O E — P EIT
0 o Bt - AR¥E 2020 F P tn R EhAHE)
RAFEH ARG EAHBETRG - BHX
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The Company has complied with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules when
granting the award shares. If the award shares are to be granted to the
Directors or substantial shareholders of the Company, such grant shall
constitute connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
and the Company shall comply with the relevant requirements under the
Listing Rules.

2020 Share Award Scheme

The Company did not grant any award shares under 2020 Share Award
Scheme during the Reporting Period. There were no unvested award
shares as at 1 January 2024 and as at 31 December 2024. There were no
award shares granted, vested, cancelled or lapsed during the year ended
31 December 2024. Since the adoption of the 2020 Share Award
Scheme to 31 December 2024, a total of 35,740,000 award shares had
been granted, 28,710,000 award shares had been vested, 7,030,000
award shares had been lapsed and no award shares had been cancelled.

As at 31 December 2024, the number of award shares available for
grant under the 2020 Share Award Scheme was 7,120,961 Shares, and
the number of underlying Shares was 7,120,961 Shares, accounting for
approximately 0.354% of the total issued Shares of the Company.

As any grant of award shares shall be satisfied by existing shares
acquired by the trustee through on-market transactions, no further
Shares will be issued in respect of such award shares. Accordingly, no
Share is available for issue as at the date of this annual report under
the 2020 Share Award Scheme, accounting for 0% of the issued Shares
(excluding treasury shares) of the Company as at the date of this annual
report.
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2022 FRR 2R B EH &l

202264 A 24 B - KA RN 2022 F
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o BT EITOFRODBAGETAR
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REE2024F 128318 IEFE - BIE
2022 F B 1 B2 Bt &I B 5 R SR BN AR 1)
# B £8,470,0000% + 2EZEMR M AA
A AIRIR 2022 G IR 10 SR Eh 5T &I R 2022
6A208 317 - WN2024F3 82284 H -

MR2024F3 228 » MBMITEERAR
AITTHAAE, F 18144 » $%H 33,500,000
P A2 EIRR 17 ©

2024512 3318 - & 9,532,000 %
R B C R B S T i 2R B A

{/'\ °

720241 A1H X% 2024912 A 31
H - RE202F &5 RENT 8 7] T &%
&) B2 B AR 19 BB 9 Rl & 2,715,000 3%
5.10,391,000% - AAF R A B - RIE
2022 F 1 B2 B &t &I AT T 3 ITH AR (0 &K
BAROK  MARENRAFRAHAD T
& (R EEFRS ) 0% °
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2022 Share Award Scheme

On 24 April 2022, the Company adopted the 2022 Share Award Scheme
to issue and allot new Shares to the trustee pursuant to the specific
mandate and in accordance with the terms of the scheme rules. The
new Shares to be issued will be held on trust for the grantees until the
end of each vesting condition which may differ among the grantees and
be transferred to the grantees upon satisfaction of the relevant vesting
conditions as may be specified by the Board in the award letter.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the number of award shares
granted under the 2022 Share Award Scheme was 8,470,000 Shares, all
such Shares were issued on 20 June 2022 pursuant to the 2022 Share
Award Scheme, and were granted on 22 March 2024.

On 22 March 2024, a total of 3,500,000 award shares were granted to Mr.
Wang Junfeng, an executive Director and the chief executive officer of
the Company.

On 31 December 2024, a total of 9,532,000 award shares granted had
been vested and no award shares had been cancelled.

On 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, the number of share awards
available for grant under the 2022 Share Award Scheme was 2,715,000
Shares and 10,391,000 Shares, respectively. As at the date of the annual
report, the number of Shares available for issue under the 2022 Share
Award Scheme is 0 Share, accounting for 0% of the issued Shares
(excluding treasury shares) of the Company as at the date of the annual
report.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the number of Shares that
may be issued in respect of awards granted under the all schemes of
the Company divided by the weighted average number of shares of the
relevant class in issue (excluding treasury shares) for the year ended 31
December 2024 was 0.
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2024412 8318 - ARRIAEEAKE  As at 31 December 2024, the Company had a total of 21,042,000
B ENRY D £ 21,042,000 1% © B RS unvested award shares, the details of which are as follows:
N

RBRHBE
Number of Award Shares
72024 F 42024 %
1A1H Eila LTy MR 12A318
AERARE HABE EREE CEEEY BA®  HABE FEH
Unvested Unvested
as at Granted Vested Lapsed as at
1January  during the  during the  during the 31 December Vesting
Name of Grantees Date of grant 2024 Period Net=?  Period MNete® Period 2024 Period
BEARATY
Connected
Grantees Mot
BE/HES
Directors/Former Directors
FERE 202264 424852 2,450,000 - 1,050,000 1,400,000 - it5
Mr. Li Jun 24 April 2022 MNete2 Note 5
TRIERE 2024F3 2285 - 3,500,000 - - 3,500,000 7
Mr. Wang Junfeng 22 March 2024 MNete® Note 7
M=nk4 202264 524 %Y 1,400,000 - 600,000 - 800,000 it5
Mr. Lin Sanjiu 24 April 2022 MNete2 Note 5
WEARES
Subsidiary Director
BRBLE 202264 524 RFY 1,400,000 - 600,000 - 800,000 5
Mr. Luo i 24 April 2022 MNete? Note 5
FRERRA GO

Non-connected
Grantees Mo 10

69%ES 2026424 R 30,879,000 - 6727000 13952000 10,200,000 5
69 employees 24 April 2022 Mot Note 5
6HEEE 2022104288 2,121,000 - 555,000 794,000 772,000 itb
6 employees 28 October 2022 MNote ) Note 6
A% EE 202453 A 22 R - 4,970,000 - - 4,970,000 7
4 employees 22 March 2024 et Note 7
£t

Total 38,250,000 8,470,000 9,532,000 16,146,000 21,042,000
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§% 8 9,532,000 (% 22 A% (5 - B RER% (D
SBEAHZANNEFSRTmES
5.4 TT °
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AEELEEZ (WRTFERE - #h
REBIEERIZE) ¢ (i) B4 4E (A
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X (i) A A BB R AE R IZ T 1B ©

10 FEARRAREALTHIRGRES

R2024% 12 A31H ()& A A B &
2020 F j% 15 22 B a1 8l %, 2022 F B 17 12 )
HERTEZ2EEEREMEFRESN
FEARHE S BB BN R BB 1% AR EE (B
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Note 1:  Mr. Wang Junfeng is the executive Director of the Company. The
Company granted 3,500,000 award shares to Mr. Wang Junfeng on 22
March 2024. The award shares granted will be vested in three tranches
from the date of grant. Mr. Lin Sanjiu and Mr. Li Jun resigned as the
executive Directors on 18 July 2024 and 23 August 2024 respectively.

Note 2:  The fair value per Share granted on 24 April 2022: HKD4.71 (first
tranche), HKD4.39 (second tranche) and HKD4.14 (third tranche).

Note 3:  The fair value per Share granted on 28 October 2022: HKD3.26 (first
tranche), HKD3.13 (second tranche) and HKD2.97 (third tranche).

Note 4:  The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on which
the awards were granted was HKD®6.19. The fair value per Share
granted on 22 March 2024: HKD5.64 (first tranche), HKD5.18 (second
tranche) and HKD4.76 (third tranche). Please refer to note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements for details of the fair value of awards
at the date of grant and the accounting standard and policy adopted.

Note 5:  The vesting period is from 24 April 2022 to 24 April 2025.

Note 6:  The vesting period is from 28 October 2022 to 28 October 2025.

Note 7:  The vesting period is from 22 March 2024 to 22 March 2027.

Note 8: A total of 9,532,000 award shares were vested during the year ended
31 December 2024, and the weighted average closing price of the
relevant shares before the vesting date was HKD5.64.

Note 9:  For the award shares granted during the year ended 31 December
2024, the Company has set performance targets to each Grantee
including the follows: (i) group operational indicators (such as net
profit attributable to the parent company, growth indicators for
fees from new project management projects); (ii) organizational
performance (i.e., the degree to which the operational targets of the
unit where the grantee is located are achieved); and (iii) completion of
individual key performance indicators.

Note 10: Existing employees who are not connected persons of the Company.

As at 31 December 2024, (i) the share options and awards granted and to be
granted to any participants by the Company under 2020 Share Award Scheme
or 2022 Share Award Scheme did not exceed the 1% individual limit (as defined
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules); and (ii) the share options and awards
granted and to be granted any related entity participants or service providers by
the Company in the 12-month period prior to 31 December 2024 did not exceed
0.1% of the total issued shares.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

As at 31 December 2024, the Company did not have any share option
scheme.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report contained in this annual
report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The future declarations of dividends of the Company will be at the
absolute discretion of the Directors. Any amount of dividends declared
and paid will depend on the Company’s future operations and earnings,
capital requirements and surplus, general financial conditions and
other factors that the Directors consider relevant. Any declaration
and payment as well as the amount of dividends will be subject to
the constitutional documents and the relevant laws. No dividend shall
be declared or payable except out of the profits and reserves of the
Company lawfully available for distribution.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's businesses, financial conditions, results of operations and
growth prospects may be affected by risks and uncertainties directly
or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s businesses. The risk factors set
out below are those that could result in the Group businesses, financial
conditions, results of operations or growth prospects differing materially
from expected or historical results. Such factors are by no means
exhaustive or comprehensive, and there may be other risks in addition
to those shown below which are not known to the Group or which may
not be material now but could turn out to be very material in the future.
In addition, this annual report does not constitute a recommendation
or advice to invest in the securities of the Company and investors are
advised to make their own judgment or consult their own investment
advisors before making any investment in the securities of the Company.
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Risks Relating to Our Industry

Our commercial project management business is one of the core
business of the Group, and the number of project management
projects that we manage, and hence, our income level, depend on the
performance of the real estate market in China. Since 2022, China's
real estate sector began implementing definancialization regulatory
policies and the principle of “housing is for living, not for speculation”.
Any market downturn, oversupply of properties or potential decline
in demand for or prices of properties in China generally or in the
regions where we operate could adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Risks Relating to Our Business

The project owners' selection of a project management company
depends on a number of factors, including but not limited to the quality
of services, the level of pricing, the operating scales, the operating
history and reputation of the project management company in the real
estate industry. The project management market in the PRC is highly
competitive, and our competitors may have greater financial, technical
and other resources, better brand recognition and larger customer
bases, and may be able to devote more resources to the development,
promotion and sale of their services and solutions. There is no assurance
that we will be able to procure new project management service
contracts in the future as planned or at a desirable pace or price, or at
all, as a result of the factors discussed above. If we cannot respond to
changes in customer preferences more swiftly or more effectively than
our competitors, or increased competition arising from new market
participants, our business, results of operations and financial condition
could be adversely affected.

Risks Relating to Foreign Exchange

The Group principally focuses on its business in the PRC. Except for
bank deposits and trade receivables denominated in foreign currencies,
the Group is not subject to any other material risk directly relating to
foreign exchange fluctuations. During the year, the Directors expected
that fluctuations of the RMB exchange rate would not materially and
adversely affect the operations of the Group. The management will
continue to monitor the foreign exchange exposure, and take prudent
measures to reduce foreign exchange risks.



BEREFHMEER

ABEMA - NEEREHENANE
RBE NS RETRHZ T2
IR EAERE - WETERZMNE
TEBRREANFS R A BRH
BEENEME TRAN - TR AR
REEMSELEETE - XN TREERE
TEATREERNEERR - ARG RE
BEBER - AEBE R AESRHER
ERM - BREE: BERELAE

o

k>

202412 A31H - KEEHF2377%
BT  EREMEZEEEDFIA1,826
% K 551 (5 Bl 76.82% 5. 23.18%) -
B A20234F 12 A31H £ FH15.61% 0 £
ZHRFAEEENNEERBAER
BANT HREEOE) | BEL o

EHRNRERE

REARNRAEENAHEMLBES
PrAZE  RAFEHRBEH  AAFERE
MARRREER TN RRFTRE

BrEERE

AR RIS B BB SR R B R VE R T AR E
B £ Bf & A 2 N E st A5 B R AU (F h A
{AT PR 7l

BiF% R
AN B N AR R B A AR AR T
BEABBERE -

B E IR AR AR

ExaRs
Report of the Directors

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

During the Reporting Period, the Group provided diversified training
and personal development plans to its employees according to
established human resources policies and systems. The remuneration
package including basic salaries, allowances, bonuses, share award
schemes and other employee benefits offered to the employees
was determined by their duties and the prevailing market terms.
Discretionary bonuses based on individual performance will be paid to
employees as recognition of and reward for their contributions. Staff
benefits, including pension, medical coverage, and provident funds are
also provided to employees of the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 2,377 employees, of which the
number of male and female employees were 1,826 and 551, respectively
(accounted for 76.82% and 23.18% respectively), representing an
increase of 15.61% as at 31 December 2023, mainly due to the increase
in project personnel required for the newly contracted projects and
cadre in Baichuan for talent reserve upgrade.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as required
under the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles and there
was no restriction against such rights under the laws of Cayman Islands.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in the section “SHARE AWARD SCHEMES”, during
the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.
(including sale of treasury Shares, if any). As at 31 December 2024, the
Company did not hold any treasury shares.

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has retired as the auditor of the Company
upon the expiration of its term of office at the conclusion of the annual
general meeting held on 13 June 2024. Meanwhile, Ernst & Young ("EY")
has been appointed as the independent auditor of the Company. For
further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
13 May 2024 and the circular of the Company dated 22 May 2024. Save
as described above, there has been no change in the auditor of the
Company during the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024 have been audited by EY. A resolution for the re-appointment of
EY as the Company's auditor for the ensuing year is to be proposed at
the AGM.

For and on behalf of the Board

Guo Jiafeng
Co-Chairman and Non-Executive Director

Hangzhou, PRC
28 March 2025



;Lll_/rh—\\ =+
PEE RS

Corporate Governance Report



Greentown Management Holdings Company Limited

AN e po o
1k éﬂnﬂﬁ%

Corporate Governance Report

o 3414

EFEgREREY  HEIFEMSE R
B EE - ME - 2] EBEENL
K [EEAIEEE] WRBFIER - R
ENEEE R AEESERE - A
AATRER - BEEELBE 2 -

BRAANRRED - EEEREROF
MER - F2H2024R% - LB RE
AR | RARE L o

RRAEEERER

ARBBORBERFRETRBNEEE
Ao ARRIMBRERRAEERER
WA N ERE R e - EPT A R E R
FE/KPHERERE  BHE  EE0
MEE - BRFES R EEETRIGES
BREVERER - ALt insE =5
BRRHEREEFEN - REE 2024
FI2ANBIUEFE  KARBIZRMABE
BERATAMTRGXESEASNEER
BATHl - BMERMAA - AATNEKE
HNEBTEXREATRARTHNMAMAE
FASFRIMEC ©

EEE

BE

EXZeAEREREHARA LEE
AEBEXER - REEHERKRE - LEB
EREEBEESEHMARBESARF

EEeEENMNEBETREERESAE
KMIBEERE (BREHIFIRELERER
BRITRRE)  BEBEAKELSENMTHER
B ERB A EDE B & E R E R R
BUOEHT EFECRTEFEZES
BE - $INESARERE -

66 Annual Report 2024

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Board leads to establish, promote and continually reinforce the
desired corporate culture of “Quality, Reliance, Efficiency and Sharing”
and the service concept of “Management Creates Value”. Our sound
corporate culture reaches all levels of the Group, and aligns with the
Company’s mission, corporate values and strategies.

For detailed information about the Company’s mission, corporate values
and strategies, please refer to the 2024 Environmental, Social and
Governance Report and the Company’s website.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company is committed to maintaining and promoting stringent
corporate governance. The principle of the Company's corporate
governance is to promote effective internal control measures, uphold
a high standard of ethics, transparency, responsibility and integrity in
all aspects of business, to ensure that its business and operations are
conducted in accordance with applicable laws and regulations and
to enhance the transparency and accountability of the Board to all
Shareholders. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
has adopted the code provisions in the CG Code as its own code on
the corporate governance. To the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has complied with all applicable code provisions under the
CG Code throughout the Reporting Period.

THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and performance,
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to the management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group's operational
and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and
risk management systems are in place. The Board has delegated to the
Board committees responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference.
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Delegation of Management Function

The major powers and functions of the Board include, but are not
limited to, convening the general meetings, reporting its work at
the general meetings, implementing the resolutions passed at the
general meetings, considering and approving the operating plans
and investment plans of the Company, formulating the Company’s
strategic development plans, formulating annual financial budgets and
final accounts plans, formulating profit distribution plans and plans
on making up losses, and exercising other powers and functions as
conferred by the Articles of Association.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of
the Company and advices from the joint company secretaries and
senior management of the Company and may, upon request, seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company'’s expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Board is responsible for making decision with respect to the
strategic plans, major investment decisions and other significant
operational matters of the Company, while responsibilities with
respect to the implementation of the decisions of the Board, day-to-
day management, administration and operation of the Company are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
work tasks are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from
the Board prior to entering into any significant transactions.

Composition of the Board

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, including two executive
Directors, two non-executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors. A list of members of the Board and their positions
have been set out in the section headed “Report of the Directors”. The
dates of appointment and each Director’s biography have been set out
in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management”.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors, have brought a
wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
All Directors have carried out duties in good faith and in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders at all times.

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and this annual report, there is
no relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship(s)) between the Directors, nor is there relationships
between each of the Directors with senior management or controlling
shareholders of the Company.
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Chairmen and Chief Executive Officer

During the Reporting Period, Mr. Zhang Yadong and Mr. Guo Jiafeng
were the Co-Chairmen (the “Chairmen”) of the Board of the Company.
Mr. Wang Junfeng was the chief executive officer of the Company (the
“Chief Executive Officer”). To enhance independence, obligations
and responsibilities, the Chairmen and the Chief Executive Officer were
divided into two roles.

The Chairmen are mainly responsible for setting the Company’s
direction after consultation with the Board and for the macro-oversight
of the management, and are responsible for the effective functioning
of the Board in accordance with the good corporate governance
adopted by the Company. The Chief Executive Officer focuses on
the development and implementation of the policies approved and
authorised by the Board, and is responsible for strategic planning of
different business functions and day-to-day management and operation
of the Group.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Reporting Period, the Company has three independent
non-executive Directors in compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2)
of the Listing Rules, with at least one of them possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The number of independent non-executive
Directors exceeds one third of the number of the Board members.

According to Rule 3.13 of Listing Rules, the independent non-executive
Directors have made confirmations to the Company regarding their
independence during the Reporting Period. Based on the confirmations
of the independent non-executive Directors, the Company considers
each of them to be independent during the Reporting Period.
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The Company has established relevant mechanisms to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board, including
without limitation by reviewing that the independent non-executive
Directors have appropriate qualifications and expertise from time to
time and with sufficient time commitment to the Group, that the number
of independent non-executive Directors comply with the requirements
of the Listing Rules, and that channels are established (including without
limitation at Board meetings) to assess and evaluate the independent
non-executive Directors’ contribution and views. The implementation
and effectiveness of such mechanisms will be reviewed by the Board on
an annual basis. During the Reporting Period, the Board reviewed the
implementation of the abovementioned mechanisms and considered
the mechanisms to be appropriate and effective.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of
Directors are laid down in the Articles of Association.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company, pursuant to which they agreed to act as executive
Directors for a specific term of three years and subject to re-election
pursuant to the Articles of Association where necessary. Either party has
the right to give not less than two months’ written notice to terminate
the service contract.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a specific term of three years and subject to re-
election pursuant to the Articles of Association where necessary, unless
it is terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
service contract or by not less than two months’ witter notice served by
either party on the other at any time.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into an
appointment letter with the Company for a specific term of three years
and subject to re-election pursuant to the Articles of Association where
necessary, unless it is terminated in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the appointment letter or by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party on the other at any time.

Ms. Nie Huanxin, who has been appointed as an executive Director on
18 July 2024, has obtained legal advice pursuant to Rule 3.09D of the
Listing Rules from the legal advisors of the Company on 18 July 2024,
and confirmed that she understood her obligations as a Director.
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In accordance with the Articles of Association, all Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and any new
Director appointed to fill a causal vacancy shall submit himself/herself
for re-election by Shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment. Any Director appointed as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the following annual general meeting
of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with Article 16.2 of the Articles of Association, the Board
shall have power from time to time and at any time to appoint any
person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to
the Board. Any Director so appointed shall hold office only until the
first annual general meeting of the Company after his appointment
and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. In accordance
with Article 16.19 of the Articles of Association, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number
is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not
less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A
retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. The Company at the
general meeting at which a Director retires may fill the vacated office.
Accordingly, Mr. Wang Junfeng, Ms. Nie Huanxin and Mr. Chan Yan
Kwan Andy will retire by rotation at the AGM and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct
regarding Directors’ dealings in securities transactions of the Company
during the Reporting Period. Having made specific enquiry of all the
Directors, all the Directors confirmed that they have strictly complied
with the required standards set out in the Model Code during the
Reporting Period.

The Board has also adopted the Model Code to regulate all dealings
in the securities of the Company by relevant employees who are likely
to be in possession of unpublished inside information of the Company.
Having made reasonable enquiry, no incident of non-compliance with
the Model Code by the Company'’s relevant employees has been noted
during the Reporting Period.
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BEERJIRGFESXERE TRAINING AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

EHMZANEZESKERELENNAER Each newly appointed Director shall be provided with necessary
BRUABREZS THRARGEER  induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper
EBUARERABBER - A0 - HAIK understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as well
GO T E T o AR B INE BEE B &t as his/her responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules and
2 UAEmESRE MBI REA regulations. The Company also arranges regular seminars to provide
Az EZEREERE &N ERLE Directors with updates on latest development and changes in the Listing
By RITEE - EENSTHERER Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time
FAREIRE - MARBRZ&HME  to time. The Directors are also provided with regular updates on the
B NBRESFSERBLASESETA Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as
BE - a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

RAFHFEELMEEEHEEIRE - I Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
BUREFRE 2B LR - AQF] development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
MEEARMECTEENNIEHER joint company secretaries of the Company have from time to time
BEErAC B kBRECEEEIIN updated and provided written training materials relating to the roles,
¥} o functions and duties of a director.

RIBEHRN 2BESFEHFHARA] During the Reporting Period, all Directors had attended training session
ZHEMIE I RIE - AR IS E RN arranged by the Company which was provided by the professional
Rt RAEELT AT REEENGE advisers relating to the continuing obligations of listed companies and
BHEEM EHARMNBEESTR LM its directors, disclosure obligations of listed companies and updates on
MAMEF AR - the Listing Rules.

BEENEE2024F 12 A3 BILFEFE A summary of training received by the Directors for the year ended 31

I EE S T December 2024 is set out as follows:

ZI
EEns Name of Directors Training™
TERIERE Mr. Wang Junfeng J
BRI 2@ Ms. Nie Huanxin® J
FEREO Mr. Li Jun® J
M=NFTE® Mr. Lin Sanjiu® J
IS4 Mr. Guo Jiafeng J
R REE® Mr. Zhang Yadong® J
MoRtk k& Mr. Lin Zhihong J
THEBSTL Dr. Ding Zuyu J
BRICE £4E Mr. Chan Yan Kwan Andy J

2024 FEE RS /1
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Note:

(1) Attended training arranged by the Company or other external parties or
read legal and regulatory updates and other reference materials relating to,
among others, Directors’ duties and responsibilities, corporate governance
and Listing Rules requirements.

(2)  Ms. Nie Huanxin has been appointed as an executive Director on 18 July
2024.

(3)  Mr. Li Jun resigned as an executive Director on 23 August 2024.

(4)  Mr. Lin Sanjiu resigned as an executive Director on 18 July 2024.

(5)  Mr. Zhang Yadong resigned as a non-executive Director and a Co-Chairman
of the Board with effect from 31 March 2025.

The joint company secretaries have also attended the training on the
best practices of performing the duties of company secretary.

LIABILITY INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Company has purchased insurances for all Directors and members
of the senior management to minimize risks that may be incurred in
their normal performance of responsibilities.

DIRECTORS” RESPONSIBILITY ON FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2024.

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements of the Company, with a view to ensuring that such financial
statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group,
and relevant statutory and regulatory requirements and applicable
accounting standards are complied with.

The Board has received from the senior management the management
accounts and such accompanying explanation and information as
necessary to enable the Board to make an informed assessment for
approving the financial statements.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETING

During the Reporting Period, the Company held a total of five Board

meetings and one annual general meeting. The Company has fully

complied with the requirement under code provision C.5.1 of the

CG Code to convene Board meetings at least four times a year at

approximately quarterly intervals.

The attendance of the above meetings by each Director is as follows:

BHE SERHE
Attended/Eligible to attend
ESE2E3A™ RERRXEXE
No. of No. of

Name of Directors Board meetings General meeting

FEIEEAE Mr. Wang Junfeng 4/5 1/1
Lyt el Ms. Nie Huanxin® 2/2 0/0
FEELEO Mr. Li Jun®@ 3/3 11
M=NFEES Mr. Lin Sanjiu® 2/2 1/1
I S A Mr. Guo Jiafeng 5/5 11
SRIBERSEAE® Mr. Zhang Yadong® 4/5 11
etk At Mr. Lin Zhihong 4/5 11
THESL Dr. Ding Zuyu 3/5 11
BRICE %4 Mr. Chan Yan Kwan Andy 5/5 11
BEE - Notes:

m

@

AL LTN2024%7 A18RERTA
HWITEE -

TEREN2024F8 A 23 BB THITE
% °

M= S AR 2024 67 A 18 BBHI#1T
BEo

RERLACHIIFERTEERESTS
SIEERE - B 2025 3 A 31 HABRER ©

m

Ms. Nie Huanxin has been appointed as an executive Director on 18 July
2024.
Mr. Li Jun resigned as an executive Director on 23 August 2024.

Mr. Lin Sanjiu resigned as an executive Director on 18 July 2024.

Mr. Zhang Yadong resigned as a non-executive Director and a Co-Chairman
of the Board with effect from 31 March 2025.
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Notices for all regular Board meetings and the agendas and
accompanying Board papers will be given to all Directors at least three
days before the meetings in order that they have sufficient time to
review the papers. Minutes of meetings are maintained by the joint
company secretaries with copies circulated to all Directors or Board
committee members for information and records. Directors who have
conflicts of interest in a Board resolution have abstained from voting for
such resolution.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered by the
Board and the Board committees and the decisions reached, including
any concerns raised by the Directors/Board committee members.
Draft and final versions of the minutes of each Board meeting and
Board committee meeting are sent to the Directors/Board committee
members for comments and records respectively within a reasonable
time after the date on which the meeting is held. Minutes of the Board
meetings are open for inspection by Directors. All Directors shall obtain
information related to the Board resolutions in a comprehensive and
timely manner. Any Director may seek independent professional advice
at the Company’s expense after making reasonable request to the
Board.

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive
directors, namely Mr. Chan Yan Kwan Andy, Mr. Lin Zhihong and Dr.
Ding Zuyu. Mr. Chan Yan Kwan Andy, who holds the appropriate
professional qualifications as required under Rule 3.10(2) and Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules, serves as the chairman of the Audit Committee.
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The primary duties of the Audit Committee are:

®  to propose the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
external auditor of the Company, and approve the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditor;

e to discuss with the external auditor the nature and scope of
the audit and relevant reporting obligations and to facilitate
communications and monitor the relationship between the internal
audit department and the external accounting firm;

e to review and monitor the external auditor's independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standards;

® to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements,
annual reports, accounts, interim reports and, if prepared for
publication, quarterly reports, and to review significant reporting
judgments contained therein;

* to review the Company’s financial controls, risk management and
internal control systems, discuss the risk management and internal

control systems with the senior management;

e to review the Company’s operating, financial and accounting
policies and practices; and

®  to review other matters required by laws, regulations, regulatory
documents, the rules of the securities regulatory authority of the
place where the Shares are listed and the requirements of the
memorandum and Articles of Association, and as authorized by the
Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held three meetings,
at which (i) the Group’s annual results for 2023 were reviewed and
considered with the external auditors; (i) the Group's interim results for
2024 were reviewed and considered; (iii) the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Group's risk management procedures and internal control system
covering all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls were evaluated; and (iv) the appointment of an
external auditor was proposed.
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Code provision D.3.3(e)(i) of the CG Code provides that the terms
of reference of the Audit Committee shall have the terms that the
members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the Board and
senior management and the Audit Committee must meet, at least
twice a year, with the auditor. The Company has included such terms
in relevant terms of reference, and thus complied with code provision
D.3.3(e)(i) of the CG Code since the Company’s listing.

The attendance of the meetings by each member is as follows:

BHE SERLE
SRR

Meetings attended/
Eligible to attend

Name of Directors

BRIZE %4 Mr. Chan Yan Kwan Andy 3/3
MoRtk kL Mr. Lin Zhihong 2/3
THSEL Dr. Ding Zuyu 2/3
FHEES Remuneration Committee
RARIEKIFNEES  WEF LM The Company established the Remuneration Committee with written
AL 325 R EERSFRIFRER L terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules
TEmMBELE - FTHNEZESHIREL and the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee consists of three

FHITEREX NTHESL - REC
BRAEMMAGHKEE - THEBLRA
FMZEEXF -
FHEZESNIZBES
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BRERFN4EHE - LA R ph 3RS # BN BUR
BYEXNBBERAC EFRNESSR
HER

76 Annual Report 2024

independent non-executive directors, namely Dr. Ding Zuyu, Mr. Chan
Yan Kwan Andy and Mr. Lin Zhihong. Dr. Ding Zuyu currently serves as
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are:

* to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
policy and structure for the Directors and senior management of
the Company and on the establishment of formal and transparent
procedures for developing remuneration policy;
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to review the remuneration of individual executive Directors, senior
management and non-executive Directors;

®  to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules; and

® to review other matters required by laws, regulations, regulatory
documents, the rules of the securities regulatory authority of the
place where the Shares are listed and the requirements of the
memorandum and Articles of Association, and as authorized by the
Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held two
meetings, at which (i) the performance and remuneration package
of the executive Directors and senior management of the Company
were reviewed; (i) the remuneration package of the independent non-
executive Directors was reviewed; and (jii) the proposed grant of award
shares under the 2022 Share Award Scheme were reviewed.

The attendance of the meetings by each member is as follows:

BHE AERLE
SRRE
Meetings attended/

Name of Directors Eligible to attend

THEBL
ERI-FE St
oAt A

Dr. Ding Zuyu 1/2
Mr. Chan Yan Kwan Andy 2/2
Mr. Lin Zhihong 1/2
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Pursuant to code E.1.5 of the CG Code, for the year ended 31
December 2024, the remuneration of senior management by band was
as follows: RMB2,000,001 to RMB3,000,000, 1 person; RMB3,000,001 to
RMB4,000,000, 3 persons; RMB4,000,001 to RMB5,000,000, 1 person;
and above RMB5,000,001, 1 person.

Further details of the Directors’ emoluments and the top five highest
paid employees required to be disclosed under Appendix D2 to
the Listing Rules are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Lin Zhihong, Mr. Chan Yan Kwan Andy
and Dr. Ding Zuyu. Mr. Lin Zhihong currently serves as the chairman of
the Nomination Committee.
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The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are:

e to formulate procedures and standards for the election of Directors
and senior management, and make recommendations to the Board
on the proposed procedures and standards;

* to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession plans for Directors, in
particular, the Chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer
of the Company;

e to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

* to preliminarily examine the eligibility of candidates for
directorship;

® to review other matters required by laws, regulations, regulatory
documents, the rules of the securities regulatory authority of the
place where the Shares are listed and the requirements of the
memorandum and Articles of Association, and as authorized by the
Board.

Three Nomination Committee meetings were held during the Reporting
Period, at which (i) the structure, size and composition of the Board was
reviewed ; (i) the continued independence of each of the independent
non-executive Directors was assessed; (iii) the re-election of Directors
was considered; and (iv) the appointment of Director was proposed.

BHE SEKRLE
R

Meetings attended/
Eligible to attend

Name of Directors

MR L
REELE
THESL

Mr. Lin Zhihong 2/3
Mr. Chan Yan Kwan Andy 3/3
Dr. Ding Zuyu 1/3
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According to the nomination policy, in evaluating and selecting any
candidate for directorship, the Nomination Committee would consider
the following criteria, including, among other things, character
and integrity, qualifications (cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience and
diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy), any potential
contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in terms of
qualifications, skills, experience, independence and diversity, and
willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a
member of the Board and/or Board committee(s).

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon receipt
of the proposal on appointment of new Director and the biographical
information (or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship. The Nomination Committee
should then recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate
candidate for directorship with a ranking of the candidates (if applicable)
by order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy. In formulating the
Board's composition, the Nomination Committee has considered Board
diversity from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
race, language, cultural background, educational background, industry
experience and professional experience. All Board appointments will
be based on the principle of “appointing people on their merits”, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

It also believes the Board has a well-balanced cultural background,
educational background, industry experience and professional
experience where members of the Board have diversified branch of
learning and working experience in different countries and regions.
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The Company will take opportunities to consider the proportion of
female members of the Board when selecting and recommending
suitable candidates for Board appointments to help ensure
gender diversity in accordance with stakeholder expectations and
recommended best practices. The Company also intends to promote
gender diversity when recruiting staff at the mid to senior level so that
the Company will have a pipeline of female senior management and
potential successors to the Board. The Company plans to offer all-
rounded trainings to female employees whom we consider to have
the suitable experience, skills and knowledge of our operation and
business, including but not limited to, business operation, management,
accounting and finance, legal and compliance. The Company is of
the view that such strategy will offer chances for the Board to identify
capable female employees to be nominated as a member of the Board
in the future with an aim to providing the Board with a pipeline of female
candidates to achieve gender diversity in the Board in the long run. As
at 31 December 2024, the Board consists of six male Directors and one
female Director. The Board and the Nomination Committee will ensure
that an appropriate balance of gender diversity is achieved at the Board
level. The Company believes that such merit-based selection process
with reference to the diversity policy and the nature of our business will
be in the best interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole.

Meanwhile, the Company aims to ensure diversity not only within the
Board but also among our employees at all levels, including senior
management, in order to further facilitate the achievement of its
strategic goals and its sustainable development. The Company insists
on diversified and integrated development of talents, and strives to
achieve an appropriate balance of diversity factors for employees at
all levels. In terms of gender diversity, as at 31 December 2024, female
employees in the Group accounted for approximately 23%, and male
employees accounted for approximately 77%. The gender ratio is in line
with the industry normality of the Company. The Board will monitor the
gender composition of the workforce and set targets if needed.

INDEPENDENT VIEWS AND INPUT TO THE BOARD

To ensure independent views and input are made available to the
Board, the Board (or through its Board committees) ensures the
following mechanisms are in place and reviews the implementation and
effectiveness of such mechanisms annually:

() all Directors should have the required character, integrity,
perspectives, skills, expertise and experience to fulfill their roles
and are encouraged to express their independent views through
Board meetings;
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(i) all Directors are required to declare conflicts of interest (if any) in
their roles as Directors and Directors who have material interests
shall not vote or be counted in the quorum for the relevant Board

resolutions;

(iii) the chairman of the Board meets with independent non-executive
Directors annually without the presence of other Directors; and

(iv) all independent non-executive Directors are required to confirm
in writing on an annual basis their compliance of independence
requirements pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of Directors which include:

e to formulate and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

® to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

* to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

e to formulate, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the
Directors; and

* to review the Company’s compliance with the Listing Rules and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

At the beginning of the Reporting Period, Ms. Zhang Panpan ("Ms.
Zhang”) and Ms. Yung Mei Yee (“Ms. Yung"”) are the joint company
secretaries of the Company. Ms. Yung resigned on 4 January 2024 and
Ms. Zhang became the sole company secretary of the Company on 4
January 2024. On 23 August 2024, Ms. Zhang resigned as the company
secretary of the Company, and Ms. Gu Jixiang and Ms. Ng Sau Mei
have been appointed as the joint company secretaries of the Company.
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Ms. Gu is a joint company secretary of the Company and is primarily
responsible for recommending to the Board on corporate governance
matters and ensure that the Company complies with the policies and
procedures of the Board, applicable laws, rules and regulations. To
maintain good corporate governance and ensure compliance with
the Listing Rules and applicable Hong Kong laws, the Company also
appointed Ms. Ng, a director of the Listing Services Department of
TMF Hong Kong Limited (a global enterprise service provider), as the
other joint company secretary of the Company and to assist Ms. Gu in
performing her duties as a joint company secretary of the Company. Ms.
Ng's primary contact person in the Company is Ms. Gu.

During the Reporting Period, Ms. Gu and Ms. Ng had complied with the
requirements on taking no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training as set out in Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR
Financial statements contained in this report have been audited by EY.
Service fees which shall be paid by the Company to the auditor of

the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to
RMB3,260,000.

ARHE
Fri Aty AR 7% Service rendered RMB
EZHTEERE Audit of financial statements 2,267,000
EZTEHRE AN E A Fees other than audit of financial statements 993,000
et Total 3,260,000

M - BREBHRERNINERIZBES
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BAHAREMAE ARG HES -

AR RSN BN A B BHAR A B IS R
MR B T RN LB EI A [
SAZEEIERE ] o

Note: Fees other than audit of financial statements primarily comprise fees for
review of interim financial statements, audit of special purpose financial
statements and other advisory services.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its
reporting responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements is set
out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 88 to 96.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal
control and risk management systems in order to safeguard the Group's
assets and Shareholders’ interests, and reviewing the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control and risk management systems on an annual
basis so as to ensure that internal control and risk management systems
in place are adequate. Such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Company also has an internal audit function
which primarily carries out the analysis and independent appraisal of
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems, and reports their findings to the Board on, at
least, an annual basis. The Company implements and strictly enforces
procedures on inside information according to the relevant procedures
stated under the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information.

The Group's internal control system includes a well-established
organizational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility and
authority. The day-to-day departmental operations are entrusted to
individual department which is accountable for its own conduct and
performance and is required to operate its own department’s business
within the scope of the delegated authority and to implement and
strictly adhere to the strategies and policies set by the Company from
time to time. Each department is also required to keep the Board
informed of material developments of the department’s business and
implementation of the policies and strategies set by the Board on a
regular basis so as to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks in a

timely manner.

The Group has established procedures in handling and dissemination
of inside information in an accurate, secure and timely manner, so
as to avoid possible unauthorised access and mishandling of inside
information within the Group.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems of the
Group to ensure that a sound system is maintained and operated by the
management in compliance with the agreed procedures and standards.
The review covered all material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions. In particular,
the Board considered the resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting functions are adequate. The review was
conducted through discussions with the management of the Company,
its external and internal auditors and the assessment performed by the
Audit Committee. The Board believes that the existing risk management
and internal control systems are adequate and effective, in particular, for
financial reporting and Listing Rules compliance as well as for resolving
internal control defects (if any).

INVESTOR RELATIONS
General Meetings and Shareholders’ Rights

The Company shall in each year hold a general meeting as its annual
general meeting in addition to any other meetings in that year and shall
specify the meetings as such in the notices calling them.

The extraordinary general meetings are convened irregularly. In
accordance with the Articles of Association, an extraordinary general
meeting shall be convened either by the Board or on the requisition
of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company having the right of voting at general meetings. Such
requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or any one of the
joint company secretaries for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of
such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or in the
Companies Law for putting forward proposals of new resolutions by
Shareholders at general meetings. Shareholder(s) who wish to move
a resolution may request the Company to convene an extraordinary
general meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in the
preceding paragraph. For proposing a person for election as a Director,
please refer to the "Procedures for Shareholders to Nominate a Person
for Election as a Director” posted on the Company’s website.

Communication with Shareholders and Investors

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group's business performance and strategies. The Company also
recognizes the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to
make the best investment decisions.

To promote effective communication, the Company makes up-to-date
information and updates on the Company's business operations and
developments, financial information, corporate governance practices
and other information available in the websites of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.lcgljt.com) for public access.

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum and an
important channel for communication between the Board and the
Shareholders. The chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Audit
Committee or, in their absence, other members of the respective
committees, where applicable, are available normally at the annual
general meetings and other relevant shareholder meetings to answer
questions. Shareholders are also encouraged to attend general
meetings held by the Company and are invited to express their views
and raise questions thereat.

The Company has set up an effective communication channel with
investors. It carries out investor relationship maintenance work under the
principles of openness and fairness and with a proactive attitude while
conforming to the rules. During the Reporting Period, the Company
disclosed information truly, accurately, completely and timely according
to the laws, regulations and regulatory requirements to ensure that
investors would know the important matters of the Company in a timely
manner, thus protecting the investors’ interests to the greatest extent.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders
communication policy. As a result of adopting the above measures,
the Shareholders communication policy is considered to have been
effectively implemented.

Shareholders should direct their inquiries about their shareholdings to
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong. Investors may also write to the
Company at its principal place of business as listed below.

The Company sets out the following contact details for shareholders to
communicate with the Company:

China address: 8/F Block C, Xixi International, 767 Wen Yi West
Road, Xihu District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang, the
PRC

86(0571)87958750
stephanie_gu@chinagreentown.com

Telephone number:
E-mail:

Room 1406-1408, 14/F, New World Tower 1, 16-
18 Queen'’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong

Hong Kong address:

(852)37956979
stephanie_gu@chinagreentown.com

Telephone number:
E-mail:

UPDATES ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

The changes in directors’ information as required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, are set out below:

(1) Dr. Ding Zuyu has resigned as the chief executive officer of E-House
(China) Enterprise Holdings Limited (stock code: 2048) on 2 April
2024.

AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

There were no changes to the Company's constitutional documents
during the Reporting Period.
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27/F, One Taikoo Place

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

LXK ERHEME ST Tel B 5%: +852 2846 9888
HEHIRE =.

B 23897988 Fax{&H: +852 2868 4432
Kt — 2718 ey.com

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GREENTOWN MANAGEMENT
HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Greentown
Management Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 97 to 340, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“"IASB"”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the "Code"), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of
how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to
respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters
below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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Revenue recognition on project management services

REZTEEFRELSENG A

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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We identified the revenue recognition on project
management services as a key audit matter due to
the revenue from project management is significant
to the financial statements based on the quantitative
materiality and the degree of management judgment
required in respect of the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation, the method
to estimate variable consideration and assessing the
constraint.

WA E SRR IMKE - SEEEZ2ENHER
HEKBOREENER - R AEE —RERAERR
BEBA - BEEEDER SEEHRNTRELOEED
BA - 2REEZREHR SEEWSEEEBHIKD
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As disclosed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recognises project management
revenue over time by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the performance obligation
at the reporting date using the input method. The
progress is measured based on the Group’s inputs
to the satisfaction of the performance obligation, by
reference to the staff costs of personnel assigned by the
Group to each project incurred up to the end of each
reporting period as a percentage of total estimated
staff costs for each project.
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B EAZRBFUAEREBEOREF R

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition on

project management services included:

)

TR FHE R B AR R BB AR - B
BERS R BT DR EREWAN B - &
TEAS8RENREERER BETEERRRR
BIRALRE  HERMEREE  WRERHNIA
BARE#EE

Obtaining an understanding of, evaluating
and testing the key internal controls over
revenue recognition, including estimation of the
percentage of completion for revenue from project
management services recognised over time, the
determination of the total project management fee
including variable consideration, the determination
of budgeted schedule and total staff costs,
monitoring the progress of project on an ongoing
basis and updating the budget based on the latest
project status;

mERERRANNEE
MERFETTERED - PARHE
WATERBIERR

Checking whether the project management

DL BREAONA
ERERTERAEN

contracts were properly classified, on a sample
basis, and reviewing the contract terms of the
project management contracts to evaluate whether
the Group applied appropriate revenue recognition

policy;
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REZTEEFRELSENG A

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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For project management contracts that contain
variable consideration which is based on the future
sales amount to be realised by the project owners,
the management of the Group estimates the amount
of variable consideration to the extent that it is highly
probable that such an inclusion will not result in a
significant revenue reversal in the future when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration
is subsequently resolved, using the most likely amount,
measured based on the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business.
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Accordingly, significant judgements and estimations
are required in determining the completeness of the
total estimated staff costs, the accuracy of progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation and the accuracy of the amount of variable
consideration recognised at the reporting date.

HEEMOILA L EETHR RS - EMOTE
RIEH  HrTERERD

Analysing significant projects by making
comparison and analysis of some ratios including
gross margin, pay special attention to abnormal
fluctuations;

AEEEUAERRR LG 8 TRAEREANT
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In respect of the management’s assessment of
budgeted schedule and estimated total staff costs
and the accuracy of progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation,
performing substantive tests on a selected project
sample basis including:

o METFTHEMNEBHERAZLERL  ARE
HEHENOEABRRER  BEMSEA
S8R KA
Sending confirmation to the project owners of
selected projects to check the staff assignment
schedule, including the number of staff
assigned, and their title during the project
duration;

o BRIz BEEENKHERESMBRZEERN
DEEABNEFM : &
Checking the assigned staff salaries with the
approved standard salary policy of the Group;
and

o WREMEAMEIKREEEABKA - A
BRIREFEREER
Comparing the actual staff costs incurred with
budgeted staff costs to identify if there was
significant difference;
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RZRBHWARER

Revenue recognition on project management services

BE2024F12 A3 HLLFE - SIRERBHERNOKRAR  (6) BBEMHMABRITNRESLD  KILEHERR R

A R #3,400,194,000 7T (2023 4F : A R #3,247,016,000 TFHEEMNBEEENSZHEZAXY  RRBREEED
JT) e HHEER  HEesERBREOT B ATZRER
The revenue recognised from project management NEREE R a7

services was RMB3,400,194,000 for the year ended 31 Assessing the accuracy of the estimated total
December 2024 (2023: RMB3,247,016,000). project management fee including the estimated

variable consideration embedded in the project
management contracts by examining the relevant
supporting documents such as the signed project
management contracts, approved sales forecast
or pre-sale information of the selected projects,
which subjected to the estimates made by the
management;

6) HHEESHWNERBEENERER ASKAETE
PEE BEEBNETKEZERAREREER
FRARR IR A O A SHETTELE
Performing retrospective review on the actual
unit price from sales contracts and the actual
project staff costs by comparing to management's
estimation in determining total project
management fee and budgeted project cost
schedule;

7) HEBETEMER  UHEFTAREETEED
EREERBEEMNR K
Conducting site visit of projects, on a sample basis,
to inspect the construction progress and project
status of selected projects; and

8 mERTEERRERBBRARRNEGSMBHRE
WEERRE °
Checking and assessing the appropriateness of
the consolidated financial statement disclosures
in relation to revenue recognition on project
management services.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e  Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed
for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lai Chee Kong.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

BZE2024F 12831 ALEE
Year ended 31 December 2024

BZ12H831HILEEE

Year ended 31 December
2024 F 20234

2024 2023
fiE  AR®BFRT ARETT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

N REVENUE 5 3,441,234 3,302,422
TN Cost of services (1,735,670)  (1,580,120)
EH Gross profit 1,705,564 1,722,302
EfblUg A Other income 6 111,646 155,846
H b hzs K 18 Other gains and losses 7 (130,701) (75,878)
HEREHAT Selling and marketing expenses (91,377) (104,520)
TR Administrative expenses (481,081) (514,505)
BB Finance costs 8 (5,222) (5,493)
TEEMEEBEENIBE TAME Impairment losses under expected credit

E518 (FOBR#EEME) loss model, net of reversal 9 (98,328) (42,092)
WEMEAFEZEAEIE  Loss from changes in fair value of

investment properties - (1,333)

HEEENE 2 W Gain on disposal of joint ventures 2,781 -
& — B R AR E Gain on disposal of an associate 694 -
PaN I AN Share of results of associates 12,548 360
DA E AR ER Share of results of joint ventures 10,525 42,721
BRL A PROFIT BEFORE TAX 10 1,037,049 1,177,408
FriSHif X Income tax expense 12 (246,520) (196,711)
FRRE PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 790,529 980,697
AT AL Attributable to:

RKABER A Owners of the Company 801,134 973,607

PR Non-controlling interests (10,605) 7,090

790,529 980,697

FRER PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 790,529 980,697
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BE2024F 12831 BLEFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

HE12A31HLLEE
Year ended 31 December
2024 F 20234

2024 2023
fiE  AR®BFRT ARETT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

Eﬂﬂéﬁﬁﬂﬁ OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
REZHRTEEFHHDPEZE Other comprehensive loss that will
B Hib2HEEIS not be reclassified to profit or loss in

subsequent periods:
AT EFAHMEEIRA  Fair value loss on equity investments
(MRAFEFAHMEE designated at fair value through other
WA D) AR E A E comprehensive income ("FVTOCI") for

B8 (kR TIE) the year, net of tax (6,529) (8,104)
FREMEEER OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR
THE YEAR (6,529) (8,104)
FARAEZEBWALLERE TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR
THE YEAR 784,000 972,593
AN AT FESY Attributable to:
RATHEAA Owners of the Company 794,605 965,503
FEIE AR R A Non-controlling interests (10,605) 7,090
784,000 972,593

ARATEEREREE AEWN EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE

SREF TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY
HAR Basic 14 RMBO0.41 RMBO0.50
e Diluted 14 RMBO0.40 RMBO0.49
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72024128318
31 December 2024

2024 £ 2023 4
12HA31H 12831 H
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
BsE AR®T T ARETTT
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
FRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
M - BB REE Property, plant and equipment 15 80,639 111,087
BEE Intangible assets 16 275,392 354,139
EREEE Right-of-use assets 17 12,446 10,643
BEYFE Investment properties 18 - 44,308
Gl Goodwill 19 981,761 981,761
kNGO ey Interests in associates 20 93,405 100,264
RE SRR Interests in joint ventures 21 297,190 263,733
BAESAREMEEKAR Equity instruments at FVTOCI
A A T A 22 49,409 56,625
RAFEABZE ([ AFE Financial assets at fair value through
SFABRDOSREE profit or loss ("FVTPL") 27 5,000 -
Hh = B UK Other long-term receivables 23 - 129,394
BERIBAEE Deferred tax assets 24 69,669 45,603
HEMIEREEE Other non-current assets 206,790 195,025
BIERBEE Total non-current assets 2,071,701 2,292,582
REBEE CURRENT ASSETS
B 5 REMBEIGIA - & K& Trade and other receivables, deposits
TARTFIA and prepayments 25 1,119,432 823,908
ERIEE Contract assets 26 1,344,663 890,602
JE UL R RE 5 R R Amounts due from related parties 38 493,757 474,422
WA ETABRZSREE Financial assets at FVTPL 27 = 41,324
ERHIRITIER Pledged bank deposits 28 228,928 165,436
IRITHEB KRR S Bank balances and cash 28 1,518,287 2,044,377
WRENEE Total current assets 4,705,067 4,440,069
REBAE CURRENT LIABILITIES
B 5 REAMENFIA Trade and other payables 29 1,286,085 1,257,219
aHaG Contract liabilities 30 545,752 507,614
JE{ST AR 5 R AR Amounts due to related parties 38 420,702 395,246
S FTIS TR Income tax payable 325,024 229,835
HibpeSHiIE Other taxes payable 59,382 26,140
HEBE Lease liabilities 17 5,720 4,233
BEAFEFABENEREEE Financial liabilities at FVTPL 31 151,034 -
BREBEE Total current liabilities 2,793,699 2,420,287
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20241231 H
31 December 2024

B aE

Notes

2024 &
12H31H

31 December
2024
AR®T T
RMB’'000

2023 F
12H31H

31 December
2023
ARETTT
RMB’000

REEEFE NET CURRENT ASSETS 1,911,368 2,019,782
REERRBEE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT

LIABILITIES 3,983,069 4,312,364
kRBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
AT EFABZENEEEARE Financial liabilities at FVTPL 31 - 122,208
HEaE Lease liabilities 17 4,725 3,344
EIETIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 24 36,763 53,206
RIETBAEE Total non-current liabilities 41,488 178,758
BEEFE NET ASSETS 3,941,581 4,133,606
= EQUITY
AAREE AEILER Equity attributable to owners of

the Company
&N Share capital 32 16,769 16,769
G Reserves 3,793,401 3,978,978
RNATHEE AEIEER Equity attributable to owners of

the Company 3,810,170 3,995,747
JEPER R Non-controlling interests 131,411 137,859
R TOTAL EQUITY 3,941,581 4,133,606

F R IR
Wang Junfeng Nie Huanxin
EFE Ea
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BE2024F 1283 ALFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

KNTREARLRS
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
RO
BRAZE A2EYE
RE ik WEREEN URfAER
e RtkE Tl Rt FHRE  OTERE  NOHER & ks
Shares held Attributable
for share Share-based to owners Non-
Share Share Statutory award Special FVIOCI  payments i ofthe  controlling
capital premium heme reserve reserve e i Company interests Total
ARETT  ARETR AREBTT \RETT  ARETR . AREfT  ARET  ARETR
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMBO00
ROUEIA1E At January 2024 16,769 2,952,924 338,210 (20200)  (1,470994) 79,384 23,306 56,642 2,019,652 3,995,747 137859 4133606
ERFR Proftforthe year - - - - - - - B K 801,134 (10405 790529
EnEf2EER Other comprehensive loss
forthe year - - - - - - (6,529) - - (6,529) - 6,529)
ERRENN/ (BE)EE  Total comprehensive income/osy)
forthe year - - - - - - 6,529) - 801,134 794,605 (10,605) 784,000
EATETRE Transfer to statutory reserve - - 2485 - - - - - (2,485) - - -
BONEREENRAE  Recognition ofequitysettled
AN share-based payments - - - - - - - 7,861 - 7,861 - 7,861
FERAZE Vested of share awards - 33,950 - 8 - - - (34032) - - - -
ERRE (1) Dividends declared (Note 13 - - - - - - - - (03 (988043 - [eeay
HERERTE Captalcontrbution rom
non-controling nterests - - - - - - - - - - 4740 4740
FEERERATRS  Distobution of cividends to
non-controling shareholders - - - - - - - - - - (583) (583)
ROUENAYNE At 31 December 2024 16,769 2,986,874 340,755 (20124)  (1,470994) 79,384 16,777 30471 1,830,258 3810170 131,411 3,941,581
ROBFIA1E At 1 January 2023 16,769 291255 229 (3882 (1470994 79384 3140 61578 1839421 3730203 133825 3873028
ERFE Profitfor the year - - - - - - - - 3407 3407 70 980497
EnEREER Other comprehensive loss
for the year - - - - - - (8.104) - - 8.104) - (8.104)
ERRENA/ (BE)EE  Totel comprehensive income/oss)
forthe year - - - - - - B104) - 973,607 965,503 709 972593
ks Transterto stetutory resenve - - 1548 - - - - - [t5648) - - -
BIEREENRDA  Recognition of equitysetted
ERNAR share-based payments - - - - - - - 068 - 308 - 108
SERG%E Vested of share awards - 40348 - 363% - - - (44004) - - - -
ska ) Dividends declared (Note 13) - - - - - - - - (748.020) (748.020) - (748.021)
FiRERE Capital contrution from
non-controlling nterests - - - - - - - - - - 760 760
MERRREATRS  Distobution of dividends to
non-controling shareholders - - - - - - - - - - (118) (116)
WERHER Liquidation of subsidiares - - ) - - - - - b - (3700 (3700
RAOBE1AYNE At 31 December 2023 16,769 2952904 1820 (20.208) (1470,9%) 79384 8306 56,642 2019652 3995747 137859 4133606
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HE2024F 12831 BLEFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

BZ12H831HILEEE

Year ended 31 December
2024 F 20234

2024 2023
fiE  AR®BFRT ARETT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

ReEES OPERATING ACTIVITIES
F AT Profit for the year 790,529 980,697
HERIEE Adjustments for:
Frisfif s Income tax expense 246,520 196,711
& AR Finance costs 8 5,222 5,493
M 5 &5 1R Exchange loss 7 24,406 16,383
B U A Interest income 6 (65,445) (82,948)
BAFEFAEMEEUY A Dividends from equity instruments
M T ARAE at FVTOCI 6 - (22,000)
& —fEEE A A Rl ER Net gain on disposal of an associate
HER (694) -
HESE QBRI FEE Net gain on disposal of joint ventures (2,781) -
DB E N RFEE Share of results of associates (12,548) (360)
DIEEERRIEEA Share of results of joint ventures (10,525) 42,721)
MmE - BB RERETE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 10 9,498 16,919
HiEETEE Amortisation of intangible assets 10 65,258 58,215
FREEERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 10 8,803 9,108
FEEEEEERATHRIME  Impairment losses under expected
E518 ($0BR %) credit loss model, net of reversal 9 98,328 42,092
LARR 1 m B 8 SR B 2 Share-based payment expenses 7,861 39,068
HEME - BE & Net gain on disposal of property, plant
RER MR TR and equipment 7 (2,333) (1,392)
HA3ERBEERIE Impairment of other non-current assets 7 18,636 -
B EERE Impairment of intangible asset 7 51,149 -
RATR I FEE s Gain on early termination of leases 7 (53) (424)
KEMFERNTFEZENERE  Loss from changes in fair value of
investment properties - 1,333
BRATEGFABZNS /R Loss on fair value changes of financial
BEMNDHERBEE liabilities at FVTPL 7 28,826 33,341
BRATVEFABRODEF (Gain)/loss on fair value changes of
BENNTEZS financial assets at FVTPL
(Wzs) /iR 7 (519) 27,620
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BE2024F 1283 ALFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

BZ12H831HILEEE

Year ended 31 December
2024 F 20234

2024 2023
fiE  AR®BFRT ARETT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

LBEF ML LIRS Operating cash flows before

iih=1 movements in working capital 1,260,138 1,277,135
B o RHMEWIE « 354 Increase in trade and other receivables,

NIBR FRIBLE AN deposits and prepayments (407,892) (119,471)
BHEEE Increase in contract assets (507,068) (340,998)
&R BRIk B0 D Decrease in amounts due from related

parties 31,954 41,207

B IR RN Increase in pledged deposits (63,492) -

B 5 K HAth fE TR IE L 10 Increase in trade and other payables 76,785 96,290
JE 1S A BSS 77 IR SR AE BN Increase in amounts due to related

parties 6,499 175,560

BRIEEEIN Increase in contract liabilities 35,276 74,747

E b 3EmEh & B Decrease in other non-current assets 49,137 -

KEARIRS Cash generated from operations 481,337 1,204,470

EBATET Income tax paid (189,663) (249,395)

KEEHMERESFHE NET CASH FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES 291,674 955,075
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BE2024F 12831 BLEFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

BZ12H831HILEEE

Year ended 31 December

2024 % 2023 F
2024 2023
AR¥TR ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BREEE INVESTING ACTIVITIES
B U F B Interest received 60,203 42,285
B Dividends received 28,147 7,441
HEYZ - B KEHEFTS  Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and
B equipment 4,315 722
HE—RBZ QG FTSEIE  Proceeds from disposal of an associate 700 -
HE&E QRIS HRIE Proceeds from disposal of joint ventures 7,140 -
R—REEERFMNRE Investments in an associate (600) (20,000)
AEENAINIRE Investments in joint ventures (16,700) (2,550)
BEWE  BENERE Purchases of property, plant and equipment (16,825) (24,359)
NEEMEREE Additions to other intangible assets (3,802) -
XA REEE Payment for right-of-use assets - (146)
YRR RES Payments for rental deposits (356) (672)
ST HMRHAEKGKIENZEE Payment for arrangement fee for
& other long-term receivables - (84)
HAth R AR GERIB R K Advance of other long-term receivables - (130,000)
FIEAEE H ERE B Advance of loans to related parties = (6,800)
) BA s 5 BRI RN Repayment of loans to related parties 75,070 63,484
M= ERHRNR Advance of loans to third parties (180,000) (568,000)
A5 =7 EREER Repayment of loans to third parties 215,700 583,300
REE HEARITFR Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits - 56,759
FREERRITER Placement of pledged bank deposits - (69,272)
HEZR AT EFABZAEREE Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at FVTPL
BEMSHIE 42,242 326,486
BERATEGF AEMEER Purchases of financial assets at fair value through
mHEMEE other comprehensive income (1,490) -
BERAFEFTABZNEE Purchases of financial assets at FVTPL
BE (5,000) (320,000)
REEBRE(FA) NET CASH FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING
REFHE ACTIVITIES 208,744 (61,406)
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BE2024F 1283 ALFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

HE12A31HLLEE
Year ended 31 December
2024 &

2024
AR®TRT
RMB’000

2023
2023

ARBET T

RMB'000

BESEE FINANCING ACTIVITIES
BRI E Dividends paid (988,626) (748,761)
BRFE Interest paid (4,460) (4,268)
BENTIFERE R Capital refund to the non-controlling interests = (3,700)
HEBBEENXK Repayments of lease liabilities (8,283) (10,039)
(= WNCIE Sl O P Capital contribution from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries 4,740 760
BEFE=FEX Repayment of loans from third parties (5,100) -
RMETHTARSFHE NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (1,001,729) (766,008)
EXREFFHHNTE Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (24,779) (16,383)
BERBESESEYEMGRL) NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND
iR CASH EQUIVALENTS (526,090) 111,278
FHRERFAESEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 2,044,377 1,933,099
ERBEERBESEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 1,518,287 2,044,377
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GENERAL

The Company was established in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 12 December 2016. The
address of the registered office and the principal place of business
of the Company are set out in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of the annual report. The Company’s shares have been
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 10 July 2020. The immediate
and ultimate holding company of the Company is Greentown
China Holdings Limited (“Greentown China”), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and incorporated in the
Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activity of the Group is to provide project management services.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi ("RMB”),
which is the same as the presentation currency of the consolidated
financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the “2020
Amendments”)

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the 2022 Amendments”)

Amendments to IAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
and IFRS 7
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

The application of the amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards
in the current year has had no material impact on the Group's
financial position and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in

a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-
lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale
and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not
recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale and leaseback
transactions with variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate occurring from the date of initial application of
IFRS 16, the amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.

Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS 1

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by a
right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist at the
end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected
by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability can be
settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an equity
instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its classification.
The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of
a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which
an entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current. Additional
disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to
the entity complying with future covenants within 12 months after
the reporting period.



B PR Bt 75 3R 5 X AU & R 2R
BT ANER (%)

< 5 52 5 ) A R HY B B B S R

%ﬁﬁugﬂzfﬁ_ﬁlﬁlé}a—l‘ (:%E)

FEREIRR & 31 2E R 3 1 3 15 5T K HY %
(&)

REED EHAMHENR2023F K&
202451 A1 BRI B EIERAET
WRBEBXERZEEIANE
HBEBEDBEARBNIERDEFT
o Wt ZEFEITAEAEEN
BRI sk B AR E -

FE F B BR & a1 22 R 5 7 5 K B BR B 7%
HERRE7RIETIRERBE L
HRZE

R ETHERIZE 7 5% R BIFR B 5 3R s
R 7 FERI AR S HEARE R
PR R R R FRHER
BINEE - RFERIANBEERTE
SEGBMIERRERE T HRHEE
BREZHFHERRE RERE
KRB ARMONTE - BN
AEEYEEEEBE LY - WX
FEAAH AR EP B HRAL EA

& -

C 78 i 1B 1] R 2 R0 B9 37 5T Bl B
BRBREEASHEARAER
HEN

AEBHARZEWBREREF K
AT B R MR {E 1 R A R T AT B
PR s R AT R R EAERT
Ko REBBNZEHF] RAIER]
BIFR M 3R A SR (2ER)
HERRE AL F AR o

MERERERAT
RE MR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20245128318
31 December 2024

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS 1 (Continued)

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its liabilities
as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and concluded that the classification
of its liabilities as current or non-current remained unchanged
upon initial application of the amendments. Accordingly, the
amendments did not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7
Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure
of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the
amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements
on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.
As the Group does not have supplier finance arrangements, the
amendments did not have any impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

New and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards in
issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued
but are not yet effective, in these financial statements. The Group
intends to apply these new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards,
if applicable, when they become effective.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards in
issue but not yet effective (Continued)

|FRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements?
IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures?
Amendments to IFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification
and IFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Amendments to IFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-
and IFRS 7 dependent Electricity?

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and IAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

Annual Improvements Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IFRS 9,
to IFRS Accounting IFRS 10 and IAS 72
Standards — Volume 11

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

3 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027

¢ No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

Further information about those IFRS Accounting Standards that
are expected to be applicable to the Group is described below.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards in
issue but not yet effective (Continued)

IFRS 18 replaces IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
While a number of sections have been brought forward from IAS
1 with limited changes, IFRS 18 introduces new requirements
for presentation within the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, including specified totals and subtotals.
Entities are required to classify all income and expenses within the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income into
one of the five categories: operating, investing, financing, income
taxes and discontinued operations and to present two new defined
subtotals. It also requires disclosures about management-defined
performance measures in a single note and introduces enhanced
requirements on the grouping (aggregation and disaggregation)
and the location of information in both the primary financial
statements and the notes. Some requirements previously included
in IAS 1 are moved to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as IAS 8 Basis
of Preparation of Financial Statements. As a consequence of the
issuance of IFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable, amendments
are made to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, |AS 33 Earnings per
Share and IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition, there
are minor consequential amendments to other IFRS Accounting
Standards. IFRS 18 and the consequential amendments to other
IFRS Accounting Standards are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier application
permitted. Retrospective application is required. The Group is
currently analysing the new requirements and assessing the impact
of IFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of the Group's
financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards in
issue but not yet effective (Continued)

IFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced disclosure
requirements while still applying the recognition, measurement and
presentation requirements in other IFRS Accounting Standards. To
be eligible, at the end of the reporting period, an entity must be a
subsidiary as defined in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements,
cannot have public accountability and must have a parent (ultimate
or intermediate) that prepares consolidated financial statements
available for public use which comply with IFRS Accounting
Standards. Earlier application is permitted. As the Company is a
listed company, it is not eligible to elect to apply IFRS 19.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards in
issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Amendments to the
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments clarify the
date on which a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised
and introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise a
financial liability that is settled through an electronic payment
system before the settlement date if specified criteria are met.
The amendments clarify how to assess the contractual cash flow
characteristics of financial assets with environmental, social and
governance and other similar contingent features. Moreover,
the amendments clarify the requirements for classifying financial
assets with non-recourse features and contractually linked
instruments. The amendments also include additional disclosures
for investments in equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income and financial instruments
with contingent features. The amendments shall be applied
retrospectively with an adjustment to opening retained earnings
(or other component of equity) at the initial application date. Prior
periods are not required to be restated and can only be restated
without the use of hindsight. Earlier application of either all the
amendments at the same time or only the amendments related to
the classification of financial assets is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards in
issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity clarify the application of the “own-use”
requirements for in-scope contracts and amend the designation
requirements for a hedged item in a cash flow hedging relationship
for in-scope contracts. The amendments also include additional
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to understand
the effects these contracts have on an entity’s financial performance
and future cash flows. The amendments relating to the own-use
exception shall be applied retrospectively. Prior periods are not
required to be restated and can only be restated without the use of
hindsight. The amendments relating to the hedge accounting shall
be applied prospectively to new hedging relationships designated
on or after the date of initial application. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 shall be applied
at the same time. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards in
issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a
full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute
a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investor's interest in that associate or joint venture.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28
was removed by the IASB. However, the amendments are available
for adoption now.

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether
a currency is exchangeable into another currency and how it shall
estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures
of information that enable users of financial statements to
understand the impact of a currency not being exchangeable.
Earlier application is permitted. When applying the amendments,
an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings or to
the cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated in a
separate component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of
initial application. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards in
issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards — Volume
11 set out amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7 (and the accompanying
Guidance on implementing IFRS 7), IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7.
Details of the amendments that are expected to be applicable to
the Group are as follows:

e |FRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendments
have updated certain wording in paragraph B38 of IFRS 7
and paragraphs IG1, IG14 and 1G20B of the Guidance on
implementing IFRS 7 for the purpose of simplification or
achieving consistency with other paragraphs in the standard
and/or with the concepts and terminology used in other
standards. In addition, the amendments clarify that the
Guidance on implementing IFRS 7 does not necessarily
illustrate all the requirements in the referenced paragraphs
of IFRS 7 nor does it create additional requirements. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group'’s financial
statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards in
issue but not yet effective (Continued)

e IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify that
when a lessee has determined that a lease liability has been
extinguished in accordance with IFRS 9, the lessee is required
to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of IFRS 9 and recognise any resulting
gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition, the amendments have
updated certain wording in paragraph 5.1.3 of IFRS 9 and
Appendix A of IFRS 9 to remove potential confusion. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group'’s financial
statements.

e |FRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The amendments
clarify that the relationship described in paragraph B74 of
IFRS 10 is just one example of various relationships that might
exist between the investor and other parties acting as de facto
agents of the investor, which removes the inconsistency with
the requirement in paragraph B73 of IFRS 10. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

e |AS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace
the term “cost method” with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of
IAS 7 following the prior deletion of the definition of “cost
method”. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by
IASB. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Material accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the

Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

. has power over the investee;

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial

statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group's accounting policies.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group's relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of
relevant reserves between the Group and the non-controlling
interests according to the Group’s and the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate interests.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
(Continued)

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if
any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest and (i) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities
of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
to another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable IFRS Accounting Standards). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
acquired processes are considered substantive if they are
critical to the ability to continue producing outputs, including
an organised workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge,
or experience to perform the related processes or they
significantly contribute to the ability to continue producing
outputs and are considered unique or scarce or cannot be
replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability
to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses, other than business combination
under common control are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated
as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board in March 2018
(the "Conceptual Framework”) except for transactions and
events within the scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21, in which the
Group applies IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 instead of the Conceptual
Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a
business combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except
that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes
and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively,

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 at the
acquisition date;
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

e  assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard; and

e |ease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as defined
in IFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a) the lease
term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets
are recognised and measured at the same amount as the
relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable
or unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with
market terms.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over
the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed as at the acquisition date. If, after re-
assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in
the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation
may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice
of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-
date fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that does not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with
the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e, the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising from
interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
and measured under IFRS 9 would be accounted for on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had disposed
directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively during
the measurement period (see above), or additional assets
or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of
the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recognised as of that date.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business (see the accounting policy above) less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group's cash-generating units (or group of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less
than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to
the other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of cash-
generating units).
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of
the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating
units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the cash-
generating unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of
cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is
measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation
(or the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion of
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint ventures used
for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of
the associate/joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the
Group. When the Group's share of losses of an associate or
a joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate
or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate or joint venture.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint venture,
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of
Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

20244F FE IR 131



Greentown Management Holdings Company Limited

REMBRRME

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20245128318
31 December 2024

3. MEMBBRNENELER

132

EXETBERER (&)

3.2 EXEFEE (&)

RBENFREE N ANKRE (H)

EAEEHBENRREER
ATHAREBERFEN  BIA
AL ERRRET AR
7 EANRERERNIE
3P R o AR TR B BR B 15 5
HERFE R BEAKE RE
FERIBEE R AIRA SR AIHH
BaBEREEDREREE -
AIREEZEE BN A FERE
REED  BRZRAFEERR
RINEEREHN QT E - £
EREBLENRHELERRM
EER S KBRS
ERBIHAERAINRATHE
BEEFREREREERE R
BES=k- WGP Fa:y)
EAEHRIEN AP EZH
EREMAES - I REH
REAINFEE R RIHAE QR
EERREHRREEXREM
BRNERZELAMNEME
D Ui & AP B AR B GX B R )
AL RAHBEN MR-
DRI - e b AT 42 5% B 2 /2 B 3K
BERRNEMEE Y ST E
Rk EREER B R
BEXABREEFHIERER
@ AKRESEREXDD
REMRMERE G E QAR
BIEW m S BRI E R ERN D
BEEa(FR—REMDEH
#%) o

1=

Annual Report 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of
the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains
an interest in the former associate or joint venture and the
retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of IFRS 9,
the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that
date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of
the associate or joint venture and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing of the relevant
interest in the associate or joint venture is included in the
determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate
or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis
as would be required if that associate or joint venture had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore,
if a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified
to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or
liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/
partial disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised
in the consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related
to the Group.

Changes in the Group'’s interests in associates and joint

ventures

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
or a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion
of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in
ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Acquisition of additional interests in associates or joint

ventures

When the Group increases its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to use the
equity method, the goodwill is recognised at the acquisition
date if there is an excess of the consideration paid over the
share of the carrying amount of net assets attributable to the
additional interests in associates or joint ventures acquired.
Any excess of share of the carrying amount of net assets
attributable to the additional interests in associates or joint
ventures acquired over the consideration paid are recognised
in the profit or loss in the period in which the additional
interests are acquired.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group's accounting policies relating to
contracts with customers is provided in Notes 5, 26 and 30.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application or
arising from business combinations, the Group assesses
whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under IFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

The Group applies the practical expedient not to separate
the non-lease components from the lease component, and
instead account for the lease component and any associated
non-lease components as a single lease component.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It
also applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

e  any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received,

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of their estimated useful lives and the lease
term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever the lease term has changed, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular
contract.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
and lease incentives from the lessor by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.

When the modified contract contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)
Classification and measurement of leases (Continued)

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease
components, the Group applies IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15") to allocate consideration
in a contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease
components are separated from the lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted under
IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments from lessees.

Lease modifications

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for
as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided
through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)
Lease modifications (Continued)

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease
as a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating
to the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.

Foreign currencies

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.



3.

REMBRROERELER
EXETBERER (&)

3.2 EXEFEE (&)

-E V%N

Wi BESLEESEREE
(AR E—BRRREG EHRE
REMBKHENEE) MER
FEAG M8 XA HE 1 B AR
AEFBERANN D ¢ W&
FEBEANM LA BERERE
HIHE - MRFERARATE
WEAR(E - PIAEAEFRAAR
RELZHREXHE - BRKAE
RERAERESMEENH
B EARRA o

BT

PRIFRER I EE A KBS E T
H S R R U B B - B
AT SR AT/HED -

TR 48 B 5 A S B % 4 B R
{5 B0 AR R P A FE AR A A S2 Y
HIF IR R AN B TR -

BT e RE EEL R
37 3k B 18 O i (8 2 FE R A Bk
A A SR B4R O BN B B 75 S 85
AN e R AR R AR A 2 YA
AR AR ERERN R E
R o ZEMBEt AU -

MERERERAT
e M RKRME

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20245128318
31 December 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are included in “other income”.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

The Group participates in state-managed retirement benefit
schemes, which are defined contribution schemes, pursuant
to which the Group pays a fixed percentage of the wages of
its qualifying staff as contributions to the plans. Payments to
such retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense
when employees have rendered services entitling them to the
contributions.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier
of when the group entity can no longer withdraw the offer of
the termination benefit and when it recognises any related
restructuring costs.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another IFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in
the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Shares granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payment to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group'’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share-based payment
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based payment

reserve.

When shares granted are vested, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payment reserve will be transferred
to “shares held for share award scheme” and “share
premium”.

Modification to the terms and conditions of the share-based
payment arrangements

If the modification reduces the total fair value of the share-
based arrangement, or is not otherwise beneficial to the
employee, the Group continues to account for the original
equity instruments granted as if that modification had not
occurred.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because of
income or expenses that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit or loss nor
the accounting profit and does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets for investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of
such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through
sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the current and deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments,
the Group considers whether it is probable that the relevant
tax authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment used,
or proposed to be used by individual group entities in their
income tax filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred
taxes are determined consistently with the tax treatment in
the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the relevant
taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most
likely amount or the expected value.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including leasehold land
and buildings held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes, are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which include both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets”
in the consolidated statement of financial position except
for those that are classified and accounted for as investment
properties under the fair value model. When the consideration
cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building
element and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold
land, the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately. Intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with indefinite useful lives are carried at
cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment losses
and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated
useful life of 5 to 10 years.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use

assets and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amounts of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use

assets and intangible assets other than goodwill (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use

assets and intangible assets other than goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated
to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use

assets and intangible assets other than goodwill (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
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Impairment of other non-current assets

Other non-current assets are properties held for sale, among
which the certificates of some properties are yet to be
obtained.

At the end of the reporting period, other non-current assets
are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value; and
provision for other non-current assets impairment is made for
on the excess of the cost over the net realisable value. Net
realisable value for other non-current assets is determined by
reference to estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less estimated costs necessary to make the sales.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and a breach of
contract, such as a default or past due event;

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather
than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents
as defined above.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
and it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of
money is material).

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the
obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be
met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and it is
not recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Contingent liabilities (Continued)

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is
recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable
estimate can be made.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
IFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income ("FVTOCI"):

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
financial assets at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of
a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which
IFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

e  on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking;
or

e itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that is required to be measured at amortised cost or
FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

() Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

(i) Equity investments designated at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value recognised in other
comprehensive income (“OCI”) and accumulated in
the FVTOCI reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will be transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to
receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the “other income”

line item in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
at FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in
the “other gains and losses” line item.

20244F FE IR 163



Greentown Management Holdings Company Limited

e ERRMET
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20245128318
31 December 2024

3. MEMBBRNENELER

164

EXETBERER (&)

3.2 EXEFEE (&)

EMTA (&)

THEE (&)

RIBBIR 3R 2R 9 R
TTREE RS REE M EA
THARE

AEE IR BRI G mEE
AIF ISR AFHIRERENE
BMEE(BREEHEKFA -
H 8 W RIA - FEURREREE T R
R HibRHEEFOR - 2
RRTERERITERLER)
UEARHEERBREREEE
B EMEERE]) RAET
BEREEG - AHMEEER
MEBENEHRE BHER - A
R 5 B ez B 46 i SR A 2K

Annual Report 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss ("ECL") model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, other receivables, amounts due from related
parties, other long-term receivables, pledged bank deposits
and bank balances and cash) and contract assets which are
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9. The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessments are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables, contract assets and trade related amounts due
from related parties. The ECL is on these assets is assessed
individually for debtors with credit risk characteristics that are
significantly different from other counterparties and collectively
using a provision matrix with debtors’ ageing as groupings of
various debtors that have similar loss patterns for these assets.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss

allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a

significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in

which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment

of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on

significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default

occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

®  an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

() Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g, a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,

the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased

significantly since initial recognition when contractual

payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the

Group has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

() Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.
A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if
i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers
pledged bank deposits and bank balances to have low
credit risk because the counterparties are banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies or with a good reputation.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

(¢) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower's
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
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impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e., the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision
matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience, adjusted by forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL are the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition. For a lease
receivable, the cash flows used for determining the ECL
are consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the
lease receivable in accordance with IFRS 16.

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss ("ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, amounts due
from related parties, pledged bank deposits and bank
balances and cash) and contract assets which are subject
to impairment assessment under IFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes

in credit risk since initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration
the following characteristics when formulating the

grouping:

Past-due status;

*  Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e  External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.



3. MEMBBRNENELER
EXETBERER (&)

3.2 EAETHR (&)
EBTA M)

THEE (&)

RIBBIR 3R 2R 9 R
TTREE RS REE M EA
HERE ()

(v)

EHEEE BN E N

27 (43
N

AEBERAEESHTAR
ERmEE  NEmTPER
@A T AR R E Y s B
18 EE S M EM R
R EA RS E SRR
FRIA Ko B At = B FE MR OR
AREHEERI - HE

X7
e

3.

MERERERAT
RE MR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20245128318
31 December 2024

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade and
other receivables, trade related amounts due from related
parties and other long-term receivables as well as contract
assets where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated
in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and
translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period.
Specifically:

e  For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are
not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the “other
gains and losses” line item (Note 7) as part of the net
foreign exchange gains/(losses); and

e  Forfinancial assets measured at FVTPL that are not part of
a designated hedging relationship, exchange differences
are recognised in profit or loss in the “other gains and
losses” line item as part of the gain/(loss) from changes in
fair value of financial assets (Note 7).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at
FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated
in the FVTOCI reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is
transferred to retained earnings.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the

substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a
business combination to which IFRS 3 Business Combinations
applies, (ii) held for trading, or (iii) it is designated as at FVTPL.

The financial liability at FVTPL held by the Group is the
contingent consideration arising from the acquisition of a
subsidiary, which is regarded as a business combination
applied IFRS 3.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and other
payables, and amounts due to related parties are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged or cancelled, or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net
amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Group currently has a
legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts;
and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period,
but prior to the date of authorisation for issue, about
conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period, it
will assess whether the information affects the amounts that
it recognises in its financial statements. The Group will adjust
the amounts recognised in its financial statements to reflect
any adjusting events after the reporting period and update
the disclosures that relate to those conditions in light of the
new information. For non-adjusting events after the reporting
period, the Group will not change the amounts recognised in
its financial statements, but will disclose the nature of the non-
adjusting events and an estimate of their financial effects, or a
statement that such an estimate cannot be made, if applicable.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.
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4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Determination of the percentage of completion for
revenue recognised over time

The Group recognises project management revenue over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation at the reporting date using input method,
measured based on the staff costs of who assigned by the Group
to each project incurred up to the end of each reporting period
as a percentage of total estimated staff costs for each project.
Significant judgements and estimations are required in determining
the completeness of the estimated total costs and the accuracy
of progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation at the reporting date. The Group has a budgeted
project schedule and total estimated staff costs for each project
in which management reviews the development progress and
execution of the performance obligations. As part of this process,
management reviews information including but not limited to, the
cost incurred and accrued to achieve the schedule. Changes in cost
estimates in future periods can have effect on the Group's revenue
recognised. In making the above estimations, the Group relies on
past experience and work of staff. The Group recognised project
management revenue over time amounting to RMB3,400,194,000
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB3,247,016,000).

Estimated variable consideration in connection with
project management contracts

For project management contracts that contain variable
consideration which is based on the future sales amount to be
realised by the project owners, the management of the Group
estimates the amount of variable consideration to the extent
that it is highly probable that such an inclusion will not result in
a significant revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved, using the most likely amount, measured based on certain
percentages on the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business. The Group has a process to monitor each project sales
performance, and the management of the Group relies on the
latest information obtained and their past industry experience to
review and update the most likely future sales amount to determine
the total project management fee periodically.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Useful lives and amortisation of the intangible assets
arising from the acquisition of a subsidiary

The intangible assets of the Group are the contractual rights
from the project management contracts arising from a business
combination. The estimates of useful lives of the intangible
assets are determined based on the estimated remaining periods
of certain project management contracts acquired from the
acquisition, over which the contractual rights are expected to
generate net cash inflows for the Group. The estimated useful lives
of the intangible assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate, including the
conditions and working progress of certain project management
contracts. The Group will revise the amortisation charges where
useful lives are different from that of previously estimated on a
prospective basis. Periodic review could result in a change in useful
lives and therefore amortisation expenses in future periods. As
at 31 December 2024, the estimated useful life of the intangible
assets from the acquisition was eight years (2023: eight years).

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating unit (“CGU") to which
goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires
the directors to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise
from the CGU and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. The key assumptions that are used in the calculation
of the value in use of the CGU include i) annual sale growth rate
for the first five years/compound annual growth rate of revenue for
first five years; ii) gross margin rate; iii) pre-tax discount tax; and iv)
long-term growth rate. Where the actual future discounted cash
flows are less than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which results in a downward revision of future discounted cash
flows, a material impairment loss may arise. The carrying amount
of goodwill as at 31 December 2024 was RMB981,761,000 (net of
accumulated impairment loss of RMB nil) (2023: RMB981,761,000
(net of accumulated impairment loss of RMB nil)). Details of the
impairment loss calculation are set out in Note 19.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

ECL allowance

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets,
including trade receivables, other receivables, amounts due from
related parties and contract assets, which are subject to impairment
under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. Significant
judgements and estimations are required in determining the
impairment assessment including the judgements on a grouping
basis for the provision matrix and the estimations on the expected
loss rates used to calculate the ECL allowance. Details of the
determination of ECL allowance are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers is as follows:

2024 F 2023
2024 2023

AR¥BTR ARETRT
RMB’000 RMB'000

Sk N Revenue recognised over time:

[EEZpe= Commercial project management 2,752,490 2,346,326
B Governmental project management 625,846 788,480
Hth (FfaE) Others (Note) 62,898 167,616
4t Total 3,441,234 3,302,422
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers is as follows: (Continued)

Note: Revenue from other services include (a) project management
services provided for certain governmental projects amounting
to RMB21,858,000 (2023: RMB112,210,000), which were tendered
by the subsidiaries of Greentown China and managed by the
Group as the Group did not obtain the grade 1 qualification
for real estate development prior to August 2020. Such
arrangements are no longer entered into by the Group since
the grade 1 qualification was obtained by the Group in August
2020. As a result, the Group presented the revenue from certain
projects as "others” in the disaggregation of revenue; and (b)
construction design and other consulting services amounting
to RMB41,040,000 (2023: RMB55,406,000). Revenue from each
of other services was less than 10% of the total revenue of
the Group during both years. Therefore, all other services are
aggregated into one reportable segment as set out below.

(b) Performance obligations for contracts with customers
and revenue recognition policies

Commercial and governmental project management services

The Group provides project management services to
commercial and government customers. Such services are
recognised as a performance obligation satisfied over time
as the customers simultaneously receive and consume the
benefits provided by the Group's project management
services. Revenue for these project management services
is recognised over time on input method based on the
proportion of staff costs incurred for work performed to date
relative to the estimated total budgeted staff costs.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)
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and revenue recognition policies (Continued)

Commercial and governmental project management services
(Continued)

The commercial and governmental project management
service fees are invoiced to the clients periodically on an
agreed-upon payment schedule and/or milestone between
the customers and the Group. The Group recognised a
contract asset over the period in which the commercial and
governmental project management services are performed
representing the Group's right to consideration for the
services performed because the rights are conditional on the
Group's future performance in achieving specified milestones.
Contract asset is transferred to trade receivables at the point
at which the rights become unconditional. Payments received
before the related services are performed are included in
the consolidated statement of financial position as contract
liabilities.

For commercial and governmental project management
contracts that contain variable consideration based on the
future sales amount of the project, the Group estimates the
amount of consideration to the extent that it is highly probable
that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the uncertainty associated
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved using
the most likely amount method which is better predicts the
amount of consideration to which the Group will be entitled.

Since the period between payments pertain to commercial
and governmental project management services and transfer
of the associated services is less than one year, the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction
price for any significant financing component.

The Group applies the practical expedient to expense all
incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs would
otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or loss within one
year.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(b) Performance obligations for contracts with customers

and revenue recognition policies (Continued)

Governmental project management service with construction

design and other consulting service

For certain government customers, the Group provides
project management service with construction design and
other consulting service at the early stage of the projects.
Construction design and other consulting service is considered
to be a distinct service as it is both regularly supplied by
the Group to other customers on a stand-alone basis and is
available for customers from other providers in the market.
Transaction price is allocated between project management
service and construction design and other consulting service
on a relative standalone selling price basis. Revenue relating to
construction design and other consulting service is recognised
over time on input method based on the proportion of contact
costs incurred for work performed to date relative to the
estimated total budgeted contract costs.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations for contracts with customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31
December 2024 and 2023, and the expected timing of
recognising revenue are as follows respectively:
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(c) Transaction price allocated to the remaining

performance obligations for contracts with customers

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2024

[GE 3

Commercial

project

management

ARBT T
RMB’000

BFRE

Governmental

Hit

project
Others
ARBTR
RMB’000

management

ARBT T
RMB’000

—F R Within one year 2,620,468 413,162 14,274
—F More than one year 11,396,866 799,477 31,153
14,017,334 1,212,639 45,427

R2023F 12531 H

As at 31 December 2023

BERE
Commercial
project

management
AREEF T
RMB'000

BT

Governmental

Hit

project
Others
ARETT
RMB'000

management
ARETIT
RMB'000

—FR Within one year 2,904,420 771,609 34,737
—F LA E More than one year 12,461,718 968,739 35,080
15,366,138 1,740,348 69,817

EXRBHRESEL TR
SRERER  BRRTER
BIRH - ZEE SRR
B HE -
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These amounts disclosed above do not include transaction

price allocated to performance obligations which have been

satisfied but not yet recognised due to variable consideration

constraint.
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5. WMARDEER (F) 5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)
(d) ZEEF

(d) Segment information
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The chief operating decision-maker of the Group has been
identified as the executive directors and certain senior
management (collectively referred to as the “CODM").
Operating segments are determined based on the Group's
internal reports which are submitted to the CODM for
performance assessment and resource allocation. This is also
the basis upon which the Group is organised and managed.

The Group's consolidated revenue and results are attributable
to the market in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
(country of domicile) and all of the Group's non-current assets
are located in the PRC.

No segment assets and liabilities are presented as they were
not regularly provided to the CODM for the purpose of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

The Group's reportable segments under IFRS 8 Operating
Segments are as follows:

(1) Commercial project management — provides property
development management service to project owners

(2) Governmental project management — provides property
development management service to government on
resettlement housing property development projects and
public infrastructure

(3) Others (including (i) project management service provided
for certain governmental projects tendered by the Group
before the grade 1 qualification was obtained by the
Group in August 2020, and (ii) construction design and
other consulting service, etc.)
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

5. WARZEHER (&)

(d) ZHEPER (&)

(d) Segment information (Continued)
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For the commercial project management service, the CODM
reviews the financial information of each commercial project
management service project, hence each commercial project
management service project constitutes a separate operating
segment. However, the commercial project management
service projects possess similar economic characteristics,
and are with similar development and selling activities as
well as similar customer bases. Therefore, all commercial
project management service projects are aggregated into one
reportable segment for segment reporting purposes.

For the governmental project management service, the CODM
reviews the financial information of each governmental project
management service project, hence each governmental project
management service project constitutes a separate operating
segment. However, the governmental project management
service projects possess similar economic characteristics,
and are with similar development and selling activities as
well as similar customer bases. Therefore, all governmental
project management service projects are aggregated into one
reportable segment for segment reporting purposes.

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating
segments based on the post-tax profit of the group entities
engaged in the respective segment activities, which include
share of results of associates and joint ventures, but exclude
certain other income, fair value changes in financial assets
mandatorily measured at FVTPL, administrative expenses,
finance costs, exchange gains and losses and licencing fee.
Financial information provided to the CODM is measured in
a manner consistent with the accounting policies adopted in
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements as
described in Note 3.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable
segment is as follows:
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

(d) Segment information (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2024

BRAE BRRE
Commercial Governmental
project project
management

ARRTR
RMB'000

ENET [

ARBT7
RMB'000

it

by

Others  Segment total

ARBF7
RMB'000

ARBFT
RMB'000

Faf at

Eliminations Total

ARBTT
RMB'000

AR®TR
RMB'000

AR Segment revenue

MR External revenue 2,752,490 625,846 62,898 3,441,234 - 3,441,234
DEEUA Inter-segment revenue 142,539 365,276 1,909 509,724 (509,724) =
@t Total 2,895,029 991,122 64,807 3,950,958 (509,724) 3,441,234
PHEE Segment results 813,644 81,134 5,792 900,570 438 901,008
FAMEMMA Unallocated other income 431
BATEABZERI2E Unallocated gain from

BENATEZHN changes in fair value of

e financial assets at FVTPL 519
AARTHEX Unallocated administrative

expenses (14,668)

AORBENA Unallocated finance costs (30)
AOEERESE Unallocated exchange losses (24,406)
FALEMAEH Unallocated withholding tax (25,000)
APEDERAE Unallocated licencing fee

(F3 3811)e)) (Note 38()e)) (47,325)
ERHE Profit for the year 790,529
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5. WARDERESR (&) 5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)
(d) oHER (&) (d) Segment information (Continued)
BZ20234 12531 HILFEE Year ended 31 December 2023

HERE HE Afth 7z i &5t
Commercial ~ Governmental
project project

management  management Others  Segmenttotal  Eliminations Total
ARETT  ARMTT ARMTT ARETT  ARETR  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000

AR Segment revenue
SO External revenue 2,346,326 788480 167,616 3,302,422 - 3,302,422
AHRERA Inter-segment revenue 183,938 618,232 7,099 809,249 (809,2¢9) -
@t Total 2,530,264 1,406,712 174,715 411169 (809,269 3,302.422
PHEE Segment results 873,664 156,049 75872 1,105,585 438 1,106,023
AAREMBA Unallocated other income 59
RATEABER2R Unallocated loss from

BENATEZHN changes in fair value of

ANEEE financial assets at FVTPL (30,505)
AARABAER Unallocated administrative

expenses (26,779)

AORBENA Unallocated finance costs (51)
FORESEE Unallocated exchange losses (16,383)
APRmERAE Unallocated licencing fee

(B35 381)(e) (Note 38(i)(e)) (51,667)
ERFE Profit for the year 980,697
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5. WARDERESR (&) 5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)
(d) oHER (&) (d) Segment information (Continued)
B 5 SBE# Other segment information
HZ2004F 12 A31 HIFFE Year ended 31 December 2024

BERE BRRE
Commercial Governmental
project project

management  management Others Segment total  Unallocated Total

AEETR  ARMTR  ARBTR AR¥TR  ARETz  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

HENPERAENEE T Amountsincluded in the
measure of segment
profit or loss:

BHEEBEETRRE Impaiment losses under

BB (NkER) expected credit loss

model, net of reversal (98,482) 119 35 (98,328) - (98,328)
EMIERBEENFESSE Impaimentloss on other

non-current assets - - (18,636) (18,636) - (18,636)
BV AENRERE Impairment loss on

intangible assets (51,149) - - (51,149) - (51,149)
PEBENTEE Share of results of associates 2,245 1,309 8,994 12,548 = 12,548
PMERERTEE Share of results of joint

ventures 427 233 9,865 10,525 - 10,525
0% BERZERE  Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment (5,177) (3,978) (75) (9,230) (268) (9,498)
BYAREEH Amortisation of intangible

assets (65,166) (92) - (65,258) - (65,258)
ERERENE Depreciation of

right-of-use assets (6,721) (1,146) - (7,867) (936) (8,803)
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5. WARDIPER (&) 5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)
(d) ZEREH (%)
B 5 A ()

(d) Segment information (Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)

HZ20203F 1231 HIFFE Year ended 31 December 2023

BxAE

Commercial

BRRE

Governmental

ANk 5t

project project

management
ARETT
RMB'000

management
AEBTT
RMB'000

Others
ARETT
RMB'000

Segment total
ARETT
RMB'000

Unallocated
ARETT
RMB'000

Total
AREFT
RMB'000

HENIEREENLE . Amountsincduded in the

measure of segment
profit or loss:

BHEEHEETRRE Impaiment losses under

BB (NkER) expected credit loss

model, net of reversal (41.916) 731 (907) 42,092) - (42,092)
RENZLTEREMER Loss from changes in fair

value of investment

properties - - (1,333 (1,333) - (1333
AMEBERREE Share of results of associates 2729 425 279 360 - 30
HMEaERTEE Share of results of joint

ventures 11423 317 30,981 2,721 - LN
% BEREEAE  Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment (9,255) (6,461) (1,033) (16,749) (170) (16919)
RV AEEH Amortisation of intangible

assets (58,215) - - (58,215) - (58,215)
FRERERE Depreciation of

right-of-use assets (5,879 (1,516) (1,030) (8,421) (687) (9,108)

BBETEEFHEHN Information about major customers

BEREEFERERARER
HEB10% B P YA -

No revenue from a customer of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group.
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Habg A 6. OTHER INCOME

2024 F 2023 F
2024 2023

AR®BTR ARETRT
RMB’000 RMB'000

REUTRIEANBHBA : Interest income from:

— R1T4E% — bank balances 43,836 30,438
— (A H IR E R — loans to third parties 24,369 42,211
— ME=ZFREERK —loans to related parties (Note 38(i)(c))
(P 5% 38()(c)) 41,076 40,737
109,281 113,386
BT BY (B EE () Government grants (Note (i) 1,861 19,565
HEaIEREEEALBSUWA  Gross rental income from other
non-current assets 89 503
KREZEAFEFAEMERE  Dividends from equity investments
W gz IR & HIAR S designated at FVTOCI - 22,000
HAb Others 415 392
4EEt Total 111,646 155,846

BRE - Note:

() ZEFEIZEAEREAQEHRLE (i)  The amounts were mainly accounted for (a) tax refunds and benefits,
A R (o) e B E AT A PIES and (b) enterprise development supports received from PRC
EERIE - EIWEENEA G government authorities, which have no conditions imposed.

5 o
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7. HRERERE 7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

2024 F 2023
2024 2023

AR¥BTR ARETET
RMB’000 RMB'000

mEEERE Impairment of intangible assets (51,149) -
BAFEFAEZHNEMERE Loss from changes in fair value of financial

MR FEZEESNEE liabilities at FVTPL (28,826) (33,341)
b 5 EE Exchange loss (24,4006) (16,383)
HEHMIEREEEREE  Loss on disposal of other non-current assets (12,300) -
HMIEmENE ERRE Impairment of other non-current assets (18,636) -
PEWE - B KEERNE Net gain on disposal of property, plant and

R equipment 2,333 1,392
BATEFABGZNE/MEE Gain/(loss) arising on financial assets at FVTPL

EENWE (BR) 519 (27,620)
RATZ L ER M Gain on early termination of leases 55 424
HAh Others 1,711 (350)
et Total (130,701) (75,878)

8. BEERZA 8. FINANCE COSTS

2024 £ 2023
2024 2023

AR®TR ARETET
RMB’000 RMB’000

EZFEFNFBAX Interest expenses on loan from a third party (2,422) (3,150)
HEAENFE Interest on lease liabilities (573) (754)
a7 B B A Interest expenses on loans from related parties (391) (1,505)
R ZEE T Interest on notes receivable (1,836) -
AEERNTHER Arrangement fee for entrusted loans = (84)
@Et Total (5,222) (5,493)
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0. EHIEEEEERXTHHME 9. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT
EiaEE LOSS MODEL, NET

2024 £ 2023
2024 2023

ARBTRE ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000

BOIRERE / ORERIE) @ Reversal of impairment losses/

(impairment losses) on:

— ERNEE — contract assets (53,007) (24,288)

— B S WA — trade receivables (32,314) 1,928

— HAth Y GRIE — other receivables (13,248) (21,297)

— FEML AR 5 R K — amounts due from related parties 241 683

— HAh REAEIGRIE — other long-term receivables - 882

FEE Total (98,328) (42,092)
BB ETE B NHIEE36 © Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 36.
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10. BRBLATAHE 10. PROFIT BEFORE TAX
AR B BR A AT A A IR - The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging:

2024 £ 2023
2024 2023

ARBTR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000

e Directors’ remuneration 11,671 25,922
HEN K E AR T Salaries and other benefits 1,095,194 970,616
RIREF BN Retirement benefit scheme contributions 49,203 51,456
BIRA (BIEESEH) Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) 1,156,068 1,047,994

R ABERANMIRFAZENK A (B Research and development costs recognised

BEEITHAZH) as expenses (included in administration
expenses) 23,591 31,785
ME - BENRERETE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 9,498 16,919
B & Amortisation of intangible assets 65,258 58,215
FREESENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 8,803 9,108
BZEERE Impairment of intangible assets 51,149 -
TEHEEBEEXIB T ZREME Impairment losses under expected credit loss
B8 55 (FNpR#EE D)) model, net of reversal 98,328 42,092
1% B B 5 B Auditors’ remuneration 3,396 4,663

198 Annual Report 2024



MERERERAT
RE MR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20245128318
31 December 2024

MEE BREITHAEREAEN
B ESMS
BB ARAT AL (20234 © N\
MEEREFEHRTESENIEE
BHEHOT -

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments paid or payable to each of the nine (2023:
eight) directors and the chief executive officer of the Company are
set out as follows:

BZE2024F12H31HLEEE Year ended 31 December 2024

fig

Fees

A
AfbER

Salaries and
other benefits

EyRe EHEA
(£ () RIS
Retirement

Performance- benefits
based bonus scheme

(Note (i) contributions

Total

ARETT ARETT ARETT  ARETR  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
THABRATES Chief executive officer and
executive director
THI % (3 i) M WANG Junfeng Note (i) 320 1483 1519 133 3415
YrES Executive director
FEEA (W3 vif) Mr. LI Jun (Note (viii) 160 1,049 - 85 1,924
EFT L () Ms. NIE Huanxin (Note (i) 145 - - - 145
WA (B3t (v) Mr. LIN Sanjiu (Note (i) 176 753 640 - 1,569
FHTES (M i) Non-executive directors (Note (i)[v)
b33k Mr. GUO Jiafeng 320 - - - 320
I M ZHANG Yadong 320 - - - 320
BUFHTES Independent non-executive
(HzE(i) directors (Note (vi)
i Vayyd Mr. LIN Zhihong 320 - - - 320
THEEL Dr. DING Zuyu 320 - - - 320
BCELE Mr. CHAN Yan Kwan 320 = = - 320
2,401 3,245 2,159 218 8,023
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1M1 B BEE{THAEREN 11.DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND FIVE

BEeFMEEME (&) HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)
BZE2023F12H31HLEEE Year ended 31 December 2023

ok HEH st
Performance- Retirement
Salariesand ~ based bonus  benefits scheme

Fees  other benefits (Note()) contributions Total
AEETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

TRARRHTES Chief executive officer and

executive director
FiRERE (K i) Mr. WANG Junfeng (Note (i) 30 1714 7306 119 9459
YnEs Executive directors
FE A (3E (i) M. LI Jun (Note (vil) 0 205 93 119 3587
s () M LIN S (Note () 0 163 1768 ? 3818
FHTES (U1 (i) Non-executive directors (Note (i)v)
b3k Mr. GUO Jiafeng 30 - - - 30
EORLE M. ZHANG Yadong 0 ; - - )
BUEBTES (i) Independent non-executive

directors (Note (vi)
Wndks Mr. LIN Zhihong 30 - - - 30
THEEL Dr. DING Zuyu 30 - - - 30
RCERE Mr. CHAN Yan Kwan 30 - - - 30

2,500 557 10017 30 18,464
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1M BE BEE{THAEREN 11.DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND FIVE

BSHMESME (&) HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

RARMITES RITHAZA AR Equity-settled share-based expenses for executive directors and

EEE AR RERHRAX - chief executives of the Company:

DR EEE
UR% &
ERNRAX
(Bt =E (i)
Equity-

settled
share-based
expenses
(Note (ii))
ARETT
RMB'000

HZE2024F12 A31 HIESFE  Year ended 31 December 2024

THHEBRERITES Chief executive officer and executive director

THEIERE Mr. WANG Junfeng 5,173
HITESE Executive director

FERE Mr. LI Jun (2,095)
ERF Ms. NIE Huanxin _
M=NkE Mr. LIN Sanjiu 570
st Total 3,648

HZE2023F 12 A31HIEFE  Year ended 31 December 2023

THREBRITES Chief executive officer and executive director

TERESE Mr. WANG Junfeng -
HITES Executive directors

e Mr. LI Jun 4,746
M=NEE Mr. LIN Sanjiu 2,712
@et Total 7,458
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(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)
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11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES" EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

The performance-based bonus is discretionary based on the Group's
financial results and directors’ performance as decided by the board.

Equity-settled share based expenses was due to certain share award
schemes which is measured at the fair value of the equity instruments
at the grant date. The fair value of award shares was calculated
using the Monte-Carlo simulation or Binomial model which has been
recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the vesting period.
Market price of the shares of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024 are not related to the calculation of the fair value of
award shares. The key inputs into the models are disclosed in Note 33.
Mr. LI Jun, Mr. LIN Sanjiu were granted share awards under 2020 Share
Award Scheme on 24 December 2020. Mr. LI Jun and Mr. LIN Sanjiu
were granted share awards under 2022 Share Award Scheme on 24
April 2022. Mr. WANG Junfeng was granted share awards under 2022
Share Award Scheme on 22 March 2024. The granted shares of WANG
Junfeng under 2022 Share Award Scheme has not been vested. Other
details of the share award schemes are set out in Note 33.

Mr. GUO Jiafeng and Mr. ZHANG Yadong received remunerations
from affiliates in the group headed by Greentown China. The non-
executive directors are of the opinion that the services provided to the
Group only occupy an insignificant amount of their time and therefore
it is concluded that the non-executive directors are not remunerated
for such services.

Mr. LIN Sanjiu was appointed as an executive director of the Company
in January 2020, resigned on 18 July 2024 by reason of age. The
emolument details of Mr. LIN Sanjiu set out in Note 11 only include
the emolument during his tenure as an executive director of the
Company.

Mr. GUO Jiafeng and Mr. ZHANG Yadong were appointed as non-
executive directors of the Company in January 2020.

Mr. LIN Zhihong, Dr. DING Zuyu and Mr. CHAN Yan Kwan were
reappointed as independent non-executive directors of the Company
in May 2022.

Mr. WANG Junfeng was appointed as an executive director of the
Company in January 2023 and appointed as the chief executive officer
of the Company in July 2023.

Mr. LI Jun ceased to act as the chief executive officer of the Company
in July 2023 and resigned as an executive director of the Company
with effect from 23 August 2024.

Ms. NIE Huanxin was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 18 July 2024.
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20245128318
31 December 2024

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND FIVE

HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES" EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were paid for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors’ and independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as
directors of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year.

Five highest paid individuals’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
one (2023: three) of them is director of the Company whose
emoluments are included in the disclosure above. The emoluments
of the remaining four (2023: two) individuals were as follows:

2024 £ 2023 F
2024 2023

AR®TRE ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

BB Employees
- Fre MEAMET — salaries and other benefits 4,849 3,151
- ENERES — performance-based bonus 4,055 16,927

- BB BIHER
- BB B AR &
ERANFIX

— retirement benefit scheme contributions 394 238
- equity-settled share-based expenses

5,326 1,310

14,624 21,626
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1M BE BEE{THAEREN 11.DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND FIVE
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T

HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES" EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Five highest paid individuals’ emoluments (Continued)

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:

2024 F 2023
2024 2023
EEAR BEAE

Number of  Number of

employees  employees

3,000,001 /87T % 3,500,000/8 7T HKD3,000,001 to HKD3,500,000 2 -

3,500,001 /& 7T & 4,000,000 /8 7T HKD3,500,001 to HKD4,000,000 1 -

5,000,001 77T & 5,500,000 % 7T HKD5,000,001 to HKD5,500,000 1 -

5,500,001 /& 7T & 6,000,000/8 7T HKD5,500,001 to HKD6,000,000 -

18,000,001 /& 7T E 18,500,000/ 7T HKD18,000,001 to HKD 18,500,000 - 1
4 2

FR- REARB R ERE
ETHESFMIFRRTHRAERS
FENE B B F R AR ERE AR
TR D 2R - AR R ENET
BIVFEBENMIFE33 - REEHRN
FEHANERSTERAURD RE
PR FRBAST

R MEFE - A& B E R T
EENAN RS F A T B
YRR E DA SR B 3 hn A AN 55 B B
HEERED - SKIERBERAYE -
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During the year, certain non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees were granted share awards, in respect of
their services to the Group under the share award scheme of the
Company. Details of the share award scheme are set out in Note
33. The Group recognised the share-based payment expenses in
the profit or loss over the vesting period.

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
any of the directors or the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office.



12. FiHRAX

AEBREHAHERBRAT

MERERERAT
RE MR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20245128318
31 December 2024

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The major components of the Group's income tax expense are as
follows:

2024 £ 2023
2024 2023

ARBTR ARETET
RMB’000 RMB'000

BNEATRIR - Current tax:

- PR ST — PRC enterprise income tax 279,498 265,139
BEFERETR Under provision/(over provision) in prior years:

(FREER ) -

- BEMEH —EIT 5,354 (3,173)
REIEFTISEL Deferred tax (38,332) (65,255)
st Total 246,520 196,711

RAE kMR —FEER R AR
RSB MFR2 RS TIA

AR BRE B M AR M B A 7
WESELPAEHREE - HRRES
AEENEBL BESETAERK
A e

REBEFECEMSTETEEMR
BRED RERABBEE K
5 BB B R R VAR R 5 25% 3K
15% - MM EREEEEFRAA
FAT TS ERREEARA A
(THBBE ] et
ERANEEMERREAFEDR
15% °

AEBETRHEZENMHE AR
HERFENPEBMEREFE - 7
FEELEEMERERER - %ZFA
ERTEMNBRTNEEMERIZ
FR e SR B A ) 25% 51 & - I FE B
20% M BB E - H % %F B
BRANAFENRRLEMEHR
PR 5% o NEVEA B EANERTD
BFEBEBFALEMSHAREF
EITEFAHA

The Company is registered as an exempted company and as such
is not subject to the Cayman Islands taxation.

No provision for income tax has been made for the Company’s
subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong as they had no assessable
profits derived from Hong Kong during the year.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the "EIT
Law"”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% or 15%. Greentown Construction
Management Co., Ltd. and Zhejiang Greentown Shangli
Construction Management Co., Ltd. (“Greentown Shangli”) are
new technology enterprises and the applicable income tax rate is
15% for the current year.

Certain subsidiaries of the Group operating in the PRC meet the
eligibility criteria set for small and low-profit enterprises in this year,
which are eligible for preferential corporate income tax policy.
The EIT of those eligible PRC subsidiaries is calculated based on
25% of the taxable profit amount and a preferential tax rate of
20% is applied, thus the final EIT rate for those PRC subsidiaries
for the current year is 5%. The qualification of small and low-profit
enterprises is reassessed annually through the annual EIT filing
process.
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax
at the PRC statutory tax rate to the tax expense at the effective
tax rate, and a reconciliation of the PRC statutory tax rate to the

206

TER R EFRHEAEERNT

effective tax rate, are as follows:

2024 &
2024

AR®TT
RMB’000

20234
2023
ARET T
RMB’000

% B R Profit before tax 1,037,049 1,177,408
1 25% (2023 4F : 25%)Ft%E  Income tax expense calculated at 25%

RECERETAEES (2023: 25%) 259,262 294,352
’Vﬁﬂﬁ’ﬁ%@ BIEBEMTIS2E Tax effect of share of results of associates (3,137) (90)

DMEEERRRE E’]TRW%; Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures (2,193) (10,680)

BERBWANTE Effect of income that is non-taxable = (5,500)
Ik #ilhgE o) 2" Effect of expenses that are not deductible 20,726 31,338
RERRBEERIAE ER Effect of unused tax losses not recognised as

ABARIBEENTEE deferred tax assets 4,795 823
AERRBELERIBEER Effect of deductible temporary differences not

TR EEENTE recognised as deferred tax assets 325 1,541
BRI ARERAAEABIIE Utilisation of unused tax losses previously not

518 recognised (219) (997)
B) A SE B AR W R Y AT 4R Utilisation of deductible temporary differences

TRF R previously not recognised (614) (1,757)
EA EALLﬁIE&EUHﬁﬁIEE'J Effect of preferential EIT rate applied to

BELEMRSF of- 2= deferred tax and current tax (62,779) (109,146)

%?E?D%R%Tﬁ%.q:‘ [ Effect of withholding tax at 5% on the

B8 2~ R 9 AT 93 B A &Y distributable profits of the Group'’s PRC

TE subsidiaries 25,000 -
BEFERETR Under provision/(over provision) in prior years

(ERFEAR) 5,354 (3,173)
FARHRBH Tax charge for the year 246,520 196,711
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

In addition to the amount charged to profit or loss, the
following amounts relating to tax have been recognised in other
comprehensive income:

BENTRELEE

Year ended

20245128318 023F 124318
31 December 2024 31 December 2023

i Il

BBAISR BHERE  FEH&TE  REATE RBE  FMEHETE
Net-of- Net-of-

Before-tax income tax Before-tax income tax
amount  Tax benefit amount amount Tax benefit amount

AE#Tr  ARMTr ARMTx ARETT ARMTT  ARETR

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000

TBEHNEZERT  ltem that will not be rechssified to

BH profit or loss:

BRATEFALMZERE Fair value loss on investments in
BRATARENATE  equity instruments at FVTOCI

B (8,706) 2171 (6,529) (10,805) 2701 8,104
13. kR 13. DIVIDENDS

FR - ERARAEBEATREE
2023% 12 A31 HIEFEMRIKRE
B AR®0407T(20234F : B
ARKE0307) REFRIREERAR
¥£0.1070 (2023 F : B AR 0.08
JT) A& A A R 1,005,000,000
JL(20234F : A R #766,361,000
To)  BLIEIA B A E kAR 1 22 B
ATEIFTFETRO DR EAR
#21,551,0007C (20234F © A R #
18,334,0007T) ° A HAR% B K 45 Bl AR
BER2024%7 A15 A2 EURM -

EEgCEZEE E2024F12
AJNBLEFERERPERETRK
ARBQ24T RESEAARE
482,400,000 7T + WZBFFARA A IK R
RARRBGRITHORRBEFRE
ERUERFAMEE o

During the year, a final dividend of RMB0.40 per share (2023:
RMBO0.30 per share) and a special dividend of RMB0.10 per
share (2023: RMBO0.08 per share) in respect of the year ended 31
December 2023 were declared to owners of the Company, in an
aggregate amount of RMB1,005,000,000 (2023: RMB766,361,000),
including a dividend of RMB21,551,000 (2023: RMB18,334,000)
distributed to the treasury shares held by the Group for share award
schemes. The final dividend and special dividend were wholly paid
on 15 July 2024.

A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 of
RMBO0.24 per share, an aggregate amount of RMB482,400,000, has
been proposed by the board, and is subject to the approval of the
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.
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14.

208
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BREARBFNNESEIREST QR
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RiEmMEELEFMBETEEL AR
RIEC TR M 21T < EimAR hnige F
HE -

AR ERARERTEABGER
AR REERNTIREBE T 8RR
=

Ean

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of 1,967,440,000 (2023: 1,958,322,000) outstanding during the year.
The number of shares for the current year has been arrived at after
eliminating the shares of the Company held under the share award
schemes.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 attributable
to ordinary equity holders of the parent. The weighted average
number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the year, as used in the basic
earnings per share calculation, and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued on the deemed
exercise of all dilutive potential ordinary shares arising from share
options granted by the Company.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company are based
on the following data:

2024 5 2023 F
2024 2023
ARETIT
RMB’000

ARMT T
RMB’000

B8¥
RN ESBRERK
BERNOEN

Earnings:

earnings per share calculation

Earnings for the purpose of basic and diluted

801,134 973,607
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14 BRI ERESIEEAE  14. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
HEREF (&) ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
(CONTINUED)

BZ12A31HLFE

Year ended 31 December

2024 % 20234
2024 2023
T’ &
‘000 ‘000
8 Shares:
R E G IRERE T E Weighted average number of ordinary shares
BRI T 8L for the purpose of the basic earnings per
share calculation 1,967,440 1,958,322
BHEESERRTE Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
%17 42 ) Share awards 31,123 40,644

R E GRS B AR Weighted average number of ordinary shares
BRI T 8L for the purpose of diluted earnings per share
calculation 1,998,563 1,998,966
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15. 9% - BRENRE 15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

B - RER
BEXE £

Furniture,

1HRET EaRk s

Land and Leasehold fixtures and  Transportation

Buildings
AR%TR
RMB'000

improvements

AR%FR
RMB'000

equipment
ARBT R
RMB’000

equipment Total
ARBTR ARBTR
RMB'000 RMB'000

20245128318 31 December 2024

RAOMETAIR: At January 2026
s Cost 92,140 27,399 55,328 15,046 189,913
ZiHTERAE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment (29,679) (22,056) (15,840) (11,251) (78,826)
EmEE Net carrying amount 62,461 5,343 39,488 3,795 111,087
RO4E1A1E HIB At1 January 2024, net of
ZETERAE accumulated depreciation
and impairment 62,461 5,343 39,488 3,795 111,087
RNE Additions 161 1,877 661 1,303 4,002
ERGHEME Depreciation provided
during the year (3,868) (2,506) (2,319) (805) (9,498)
HE Disposals - (48) (404) (1,530) (1,982)
&% Transfers - - (22,970) - (22,970)
R04F128318  At31 December 2024, net of
MBRZFHMERRE  accumulated depreciation
and impairment 58,754 4,666 14,456 2,763 80,639
R204F128318 :  At31 December 2024;
A Cost 92,301 29,228 23,733 6,658 151,920
ZHTERAE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment (33,547) (24,562) (9,277) (3,895) (71,281)
REFE Net carrying amount 58,754 4,666 14,456 2,763 80,639

210 Annual Report 2024



MERERERAT
fRE MWK M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20245128318
31 December 2024

15. 0% - BERXE (&) 15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

THRET HEXE

ELE e
Furniture,
Land and fixtures and

Leasehold Transportation

equipment Total
ARETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000

Buildings
ARBTTL
RMB'000

improvements
ARETR
RMB'000

equipment
ARBT
RMB'000

R2023%E1818 31 December 2023
003F12R318 At 1 January 2023;
AR Cost 92,126 28,196 39,590 16,121 176,033
ZHTERAE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment (25,829) (19,062) (10,591) (11.223) (66,705)
ERHE Net carrying amount 66,297 9,134 28,999 4,898 109,328
R023F1A18 k% At1January 2023, net of
ZETERAE accumulated depreciation
and impairment 66,297 9134 28,999 4,898 109,328
NE Additions 14 2928 17 848 766 21,556
ERGHRME Depreciation provided during
the year (3,850) (4,506) (6,982) (1,581) (16,919)
HE Disposals - 2.213) (377) (288) (2.878)
R2023F12A318 At 31 December 2023, net of
MRETERAE  accumulated depreciation
and impairment 62,461 5,343 39,488 3,795 111,087
R23E12A3HE At 31 December 2023;
K Cost 92,140 27,399 55,328 15,046 189,913
ZHTERAME Accumulated depreciation
and impairment (29.679) (22,056) (15,840) (11,251) (78,826)
FHFE Net carrying amount 62,461 5,343 39,488 3,795 111,087
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15.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum after taking

into account the residual value:

4.75% and 19%
Shorter of the lease term or useful

Land and buildings
Leasehold improvements
life of the leasehold properties
Furniture, fixtures and 19% to 31.67%
equipment
Transportation equipment 19%
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Software

AR®BT T
RMB’000

REEHH
EHIREFI*
Contractual
rights from

the project
management
contracts*
ARBT T
RMB’000

Total
AR®EF T
RMB’000

2024%12A318

202441 A1 BN -

31 December 2024

Cost as at 1 January 2024,

OBk RETEESH net of accumulated
amortisation - 354,139 354,139
NG Additions 14,690 - 14,690
LEYE 2 Transfers 22,970 - 22,970
FNEHIEEE Amortisation provided during
the year (7,043) (58,215) (65,258)
FRRIE Impairment during the year - (51,149) (51,149)
M2024F12 A 31 H At 31 December 2024 30,617 244,775 275,392
R2024F12 8318 At 31 December 2024:
DN Cost 43,896 465,717 509,613
M NORE Accumulated amortisation
and impairment (13,279) (220,942) (234,221)
FREDFE Net carrying amount 30,617 244,775 275,392
2023%F12HA31H 31 December 2023
2023F 1 A1HEIEKA © Cost as at 1 January 2023,
OB RETEE S net of accumulated
amortisation - 412,354 412,354
FNFHREEH Amortisation provided during
the year - (58,215) (58,215)
R20234F12 A31H At 31 December 2023 - 354,139 354,139
R2023F 128318 At 31 December 2023:
(D% Cost - 465,717 465,717
RETHEE Accumulated amortisation - (111,578) (111,578)
RREFE Net carrying amount - 354,139 354,139
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16.

214

BVEE (&)

* AEBEFBEFEEREEHEA
REE202F12A31BILFEE R
FEZHWEERBEESEHNRES
HHELER - EBBRAIFERF
B R E AR A R H) N\ HARS (B 78
B Z S B IRIE A RS R R A
Pz et BAfE ) ey o

MR2024F 128318 AR FHER
Y ERBETBER - MAEEY
—EEBRIBEEHEINNREESE
BAETRENR - REEEBN
B AT Y B & 58 A A K 244,775,000
L e REBEEAEEFEL
FRERSREEEIENIKTE
ENREREEAMET - RE
AP EEERFREMBRERE
MATFEEER - BeRETEAE
AR ER BHATFHEES R A
16.8% K% 77.65% ° 1B & 5 8 Al &, -
REELEBNUNEEAERBEARKE
51,149,000 7C - EERBEEED T
MNreERkEmE2mEER [
iz B A o
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

*

The intangible assets held by the Group are the contractual rights
from the project management contracts with the project owners,
which arose from the acquisition of Greentown Shangli from third
parties during the year ended 31 December 2022, have finite useful
lives and are amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of
approximately eight years, representing the estimated period during
which future economic benefits from these acquired contracts are
expected to be received.

As at 31 December 2024, due to the downturn of the property
development market in Mainland China, the Group performed an
impairment test on a cash-generating unit which belonged to the
contractual rights from the projects. The recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit was RMB244,775,000 which was determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by senior management.
The key assumptions made in the impairment test related to the
discount rate and EBIT margin. The discount rate and EBIT margin
applied in the cash flow projections were 16.8% and 77.65%.
Based on the impairment test, the carrying amount of the cash-
generating unit was impaired by RMB51,149,000. The impairment
loss recognised was included in “Other gains and losses” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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17. HE 17. LEASES
TEBEEREHEA The Group as a lessee
AREBRBERAEYWENHEES The Group has lease contracts for office premises. Leases of office
B MAEMENHER —MKAE13 premises generally have lease terms between 13 months to 4 years.
BAAZE4F - —& s » NEBEHRE Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing
HRAEB A EERDHEEEE the leased assets outside the Group.
E o
(a) EHEZE (a) Right-of-use assets
rEEGFAREENRAER The carrying amount of the Group's right-of-use assets and the
FRZFHIMT movements during the year are as follows:

i NEL

Office

premises

ARBTTT

RMB'000

20231 A1 H At 1 January 2023 18,573
NE Additions 5,245
REXRIEEE Early termination of leases (4,067)
FrEXH Depreciation charge (2,108)

7 2023F 12831 B K At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024

20241 A1 H 10,643
NE Additions 11,432
RR&IEEE Early termination of leases (848)
FrEX Depreciation charge (8,803)
PE 5 A2 Exchange realignment 22
72024412 A 318 At 31 December 2024 12,446
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17. HE (&) 17. LEASES (CONTINUED)
AEBEAERBA(E) The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b)) HEAE (b) Lease liabilities
HEEENRIRERFANED The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements
LU during the year are as follows:

2024 ¥ 2023
2024 2023

AR®TR ARETET
RMB’000 RMB’000

B A1 HEREE Carrying amount at 1 January 7,577 17,008
HHEE New leases 11,432 5,099
FRNRRRERIEE Accretion of interest recognised during
the year 573 754
(B Payments (8,283) (10,793)
RE&KIEHEE Early termination of leases (901) (4,491)
Ve 5% A Exchange realignment 47 -
M12 A 31 BREREE Carrying amount at 31 December 10,445 7,577
DR Analysed into:
ENERER 5> Current portion 5,720 4,233
JERNERER > Non-current portion 4,725 3,344
HEBGBEMEIHSTHNEGRE B The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in Note 36
AR HEE - to the consolidated financial statements.
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17. HE (&) 17. LEASES (CONTINUED)
KEBEAFEHEA (F) The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(c) BREERBEZPERNCEN (c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases
I are as follows:

2024 5 2023
2024 2023

ARBTRE ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

HEBBRNEL Interest on lease liabilities 573 754
EREEETEX N Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 8,803 9,108

HEHHE RMEEEEE Expense relating to short-term leases and
HEEENAS GTAHEE leases of low-value assets (included in

Fx RITHFX) selling expenses and administrative
expenses) 1,511 5,115

RIBmR R R B Total amount recognised in profit or loss 10,887 14,977
AEBEERHBEA The Group as a lessor
AEERESEHELHHERR The Group leases its properties consisting of ten commercial
TIEEEMFEEKNYE - RHEE properties under operating lease arrangements. Leases are
FHETERN  NF—ZE2=F-H negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 3 years. The terms of
EH—REKBEPEIFRES the leases generally require the tenants to pay security deposits
WIRBEEROTAEHIELES and provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the then
AR AEBRNFAERET KA prevailing market conditions. Rental income recognised by the
A R #890007T (20234 : AR ¥ Group during the year was RMB89,000 (2023: RMB503,000), details
503,0007T) © BREAFFIBEH R E®R of which are included in Note 6 to the financial statements.
=MIEE6 o
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17. HE (&) 17. LEASES (CONTINUED)
AEBEALBBAA(E) The Group as a lessor (Continued)
R2024F K 2023F 12 31H » K& At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the undiscounted lease payments
B PR R HARR B H A B AT LAY 48 & receivable by the Group in future periods under operating leases
HEE TRBCREGRAEM I T with its tenants are as follows:

2024 £ 2023
2024 2023

ARBTRE ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000

—FR Within one year 248 275

—FREMFA After one year but within two years 103 275

MFERE=FR After two years but within three years - 115

mst Total 351 665
18. IREWE 18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2024 % 2023
2024 2023

ARBTRE ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000

»1 A1 BREREE Carrying amount at 1 January 44,308 45,641
PIBE R AT ERAFFE Net decrease in fair value recognised in profit

or loss — (1,333)
R EHMIEREEE Transfer to other non-current assets (44,308) -
12 A 31 BREREE Carrying amount at 31 December - 44,308
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19. GOODWILL

- o801
FiERR
EEEE
RAEHFR

Acquisition

BB AR A 22

of Greentown
Construction
Management

Group and

Acquisition

Greentown  of Greentown
Shidai Shangli Total
ARETT AREFTT ARETT
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

R2024512 A31A K
202312 A31H

At 31 December 2024 and at
31 December 2023 769,241 212,520 981,761

BEgBFEHERREERH
RiggREREENHE

722015 4F Uy B8 4% 39 MY /B & B A%
EHEEZRXEREBERA A (4
BEWERRERER ) MW
RIETERERBR QA ([N
RDEBEEHEARKT69,241,000
T ARKEBEERIAHREER
BEEESBENEEZREEEE
R 45 8 B (X B 7B B 15 [R) Ak 7B - A
BERKRRTHEROEE - 25
B ARB LA EERN®ER - B
HAMEUHNERLEENRRE

£ o

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Greentown
Construction Management Group and Greentown Shidai

The goodwill of RMB769,241,000 arose on the acquisition
of subsidiaries, namely Greentown Real Estate Construction
Management Group Co., Ltd. &M EHEREZERESE R AT
("Greentown Construction Management Group”) and Greentown
Shidai Urban Construction Development Co., Ltd &I T
ERBERAMR AT, (“Greentown Shidai”) in 2015 because the
consideration paid for the acquisition effectively included the
benefits of expected synergies, revenue growth and future market
development of Greentown Construction Management Group and
Greentown Shidai. These benefits are not recognised separately
from goodwill because they do not meet the recognition criteria for
identifiable intangible assets.
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19.

220

EE (&)

WEgEELERREREE
REPHREENETE (R)

BEEHWEERREESEETHAR
2018 F W EE & BHAR R IR (X o UL -
WIBZMENERREEEE R
BEREENHESSEE [
RERSELEEN(RERSEL
BAL]) e R2024F12A31H &
ERA BERENBREEAEN
PR AERE -

RERASELBEUNAT KD EHE
EREEEERLENTFHUB
BENRSRERD  REME
BEfEETE - FARASZRERAR
B 15 B 4T 3R X /314.12% (2023 4F -
14.38%) ° £ REETENH MR
BREBEBEHEELENXHN
BemA/ mibhat B - &ihat
DIRBEMNBERRANESYHD
BERRNME - EFMAE - EA%
FENA K BENRENEFE
BRI REMEB KT EEE KER
TELBEMUMREERDEATKRE

TR -
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19. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Greentown
Construction Management Group and Greentown Shidai
(Continued)

Greentown Construction Management Group completed the
merger by absorption of Greentown Shidai in 2018. Therefore,
goodwill arose on the acquisition of Greentown Construction
Management Group and Greentown Shidai has been allocated
to one project management cash-generating unit (“project
management CGU"). As at 31 December 2024, the director
considered that there is no impairment of CGU containing
goodwill.

The recoverable amount of the project management CGU has
been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash
flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period approved by management. The pre-tax discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections is 14.12% (2023: 14.38%).
Other key assumptions for the value in use calculations relate to
the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted
sales and gross margin, such estimation is based on the unit’s
past performance and directors’ expectations for the market
development. The directors believe that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions on which the recoverable
amount is based would not cause the carrying amount of the
project management CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.
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19. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Greentown
Construction Management Group and Greentown Shidai
(Continued)

The table below sets forth the other key assumptions that are used
in the calculation of the value in use of the CGU at 31 December

AR E A RIS - 2024 and 2023.
2024 F 2023
2024 2023
BOFFEHEERE Annual sale growth rate for the first five years 2%-6% 3%-12%
EF= Gross margin rate 26%-45% 25%-93%
BRAT BT HTIR Pre-tax discount rate 14.12% 14.38%
RHEERE Long-term growth rate 1% 1%

Wi mEELENEE

RANFWRERBBERELR
2 ARBEEOREENEES
T REBAEMDEREEHREP
ARNETEERL - DARARSE
EMESBRNRE - WAL R KRR
KhGERNELS - ZFEaL R
BYRBERERNER BELTE
AR B E ERERIRE -

BREASRMNBEMmE - WL
MEEENHEE s EEZ—ERE
EEEBEA . P2024F128318 -
EERA PERHENHCEALAE
B EEERE -

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Greentown Shangli

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Greentown Shangli in 2022
because the acquisition included the assembled workforce of
Greentown Shangli, some potential contracts which are still
under negotiation with prospective new customers and the
benefit of expected synergies, revenue growth and future market
development of Greentown Shangli as at the date of acquisition.
These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill
because they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable
intangible assets.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arose in
acquisition of Greentown Shangli has been allocated to one CGU.
As at 31 December 2024, the director considered that there is no
impairment of CGU containing goodwill.
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19. B& (&)
BB mEEENEE (&)

REBRcELASBMNAIKRESREFE
RAEEREI AN TFRUBEEE
MmIReR=TEA - REREEFE
BT EARESRERINI A
PrIRR A12.7% (20234 : 14.7%) °
FREBENAEMARRRNES
RESFEREREMNENEER

A mibhst B ARt R E
BUNBERRILEZYHMSEERE
MEE - BEEME  THZERR

MEMSEAI L E BB TS EIR
i)’zi = {7 #Y R B AL AT Y [al

TR NETE2024F12 5318
N2023F12ANBHREELEE
(2 REEPT AR E MBS RER

19. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Greentown Shangli
(Continued)

The recoverable amount of the project management CGU has been
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by management. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the
cash flow projections is 12.7% (2023: 14.7%). Other key assumptions
for the value in use calculations relate to the estimation of cash
inflows/outflows, which include compound annual growth rate
and gross margin are based on the unit's past performance and
directors’ expectations for the market development. The directors
believe that any reasonably possible change in any of these
assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of the CGU to
exceed its recoverable amount.

The table below sets forth the other key assumptions that are used
in the calculation of the value in use of the CGU at 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2023.

2024 2023 F
2024 2023

BRAFRAEEFIERE Compound annual growth rate of revenue
for first five years 8.8% 9.5%
EA= Gross margin rate 99% 98%
BRAZATATIR Pre-tax discount rate 12.7% 14.7%
RHIER= Long-term growth rate 1% 1%

BHREFWBEHRELNHEG D
ARRIRIA

222 Annual Report 2024

None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions is expected to
be deductible for tax purposes.
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20. REEZE DRI RER 20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

2024 ¥ 2023 5
2024 2023

AR®TR ARETET
RMB’000 RMB’000

REEZ N RIRIF EMIREK A Cost of unlisted investments in associates 52,695 72,795
FEAGUEEEFE - FNBREULEL Share of post-acquisition profits, net of
f% B dividends received 40,710 27,469
et Total 93,405 100,264
R2024F K2023F12AH31H » K As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had interests in the
SERTINEFRBEIAT REENE following principal associates established and operating in the
TSN T B R ¢ PRC:

FEERFRENTRE
BenneR ER RERELH
Proportion of ownership
interest/voting rights held

by the Group
Registered R12A31H
Name of associates capital As at 31 December Principal activities
2024 % 2023 %
2024 2023
MIEAEEERTRERERAR N 25% 5% RERS
(R ) 100,000,000 7¢
Zhejiang Greentown Jiayuan Construction Project ~ RMB100,000,000 Project management service

Management Co., Ltd. ("Greentown Jiayuan”)

AEREHEREERAR AR% 25% 5%  RERE
100,000,000 7
Southwestern Greentown Real Estate RMB100,000,000 Project management service

Development Co., Ltd.

IR EEEREERRAR ARH 40% 40%  EERNEN
(TFREE)) 50,000,007
Zhejiang Greentown Fanxing Holdings Group RMB50,000,000 Management and consulting

Co., Ltd. ("Greentown Fanxing")

20244F FE IR 223



Greentown Management Holdings Company Limited

FEMERRMET
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20245128318
31 December 2024

20. REtE A AR (&)

224

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

BENTER

Name of associates

Registered

capital

IREK

Principal activities

MBI R EEERERAR
(TR )

Hangzhou Xiaoshan Zhegi Greentown Asset
Management Co., Ltd. ("Xiaoshan Zheqi")

IR BEENTIIZARAR
(A= BEM])

Zhejiang Greentown Landscape Garden Project
Co., Ltd. ("Greentown Landscape Garden”)

MNRERNEREREABR LA
(I%ERN])

Hangzhou Lvxing Yuanli Enterprise Management
Consulting Co., Ltd. ("Lvxing Yuanli")

MMEARERREEER LA
(TANER D)

Hangzhou Hengtai Lvxing Enterprise
Management Co., Ltd. ("Hangzhou Hengtai")

MMAREEZREEBR AT
(TR ])

Hangzhou Future Chanzhu Construction
Management Co., Ltd. ("Hangzhou Future”)

BRI SHEERRRERAR AT
(TAE)

Ningbo Hangzhou Bay New Area Lvkai
Construction Management Co, Ltd.
("Hangzhou Bay")

Annual Report 2024

ARE
10,000,000 7T
RMB10,000,000

N
19,341,350 7
RMB19,341,350

ARE
3,000,0007T
RMB3,000,000

ARE
4,000,0007C
RMB4,000,000

N
5,000,0007C
RMB5,000,000

AR
5,000,000 7C
RMBS5,000,000

rEEBENTEE
ER/ REELA
Proportion of ownership
interest/voting rights held
by the Group
R12A318
As at 31 December
2024 20235
2024 2023
35% 35%
49% 49%
50% 20%
N/A REA 35%
(ii)
51% 51%
(i) 0)
40% 40%

REZRNEA

Investment holding and
consulting

SERH R

i
5

Landscape design and
consulting

B KA

Management and consulting

BEREN

Management and consulting

IR

Project management service

8=

Project management service
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

BENTER

Name of associates

Registered

capital

AEERERNAER
ER/ REELA
Proportion of ownership
interest/voting rights held
by the Group
R12A318
As at 31 December
2024 20235

2024 2023

IREK

Principal activities

BHEREE DEEXBR LA

Greentown Construction Shanghai Industrial Co.,

Ltd.
MMNEBRREREALTF
Hangzhou Xinran Technology Co., Ltd.
RIPERE () BRERER A

Zhongyi Green Star (Hangzhou) Construction
and Development Co., Ltd.

ZMRBRRERERAA
(IR e )

Taizhou Lvlian Construction Management
Co., Ltd. ("Taizhou Lvlian")

MNEBRRECXERABLE (BRAY)
(TMARRAEEE])

Hangzhou Lvjing Fujie Enterprise
Management Partnership (Limited
Partnership) ("Hangzhou Lvjing Fujie")

ARE
10,000,000 7T
RMB10,000,000

N
1,000,0007C
RMB1,000,000

ARE
10,000,000 7T
RMB10,000,000

N
5,000,0007C
RMB5,000,000

ARE
101,000,000 7T
RMB101,000,000

40% 40%

35% 35%

35% 35%

51% 51%
(i) 0)

N/A FEH
(iii)

35.64%

BEREN

Management and consulting

BEREH
Management and consulting
RIERRE

Project management service

HRI2AR%

Project management service

BB

Investment holding and
consulting
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F—RE=F DHERENET
EAARE T EHERENIER
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

One out of three directors of this company is appointed by the Group,
while a valid board resolution of relevant activities requires two-thirds
of directors’ voting rights. Therefore, this company is accounted for as
an associate of the Group.

Zhejiang Greentown Lvxing Construction Management Co., Ltd.
disposed all its 35% equity interest of Hangzhou Hengtai to a third
party at the consideration of RMB700,000 during the year. The carrying
amount of equity disposed is RMB6. The difference between the
carrying amount of equity disposed and consideration was recognised
in “gain on disposal of an associate” line item in profit or loss.

Hangzhou Lvjing Fujie introduced a new partner during the year.
According to the new partnership agreement, two out of four
members of investing committee of this partnership is appointed
by the Group, while a valid decision of relevant activities requires
a unanimous approval from all members of investing committee.
Therefore, this partnership is accounted for as a joint venture of the
Group.

Summarised financial information of a material associate

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's material

associate, Greentown Jiayuan, is set out below. The summarised

financial information below represents the amounts shown in the

associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS

Accounting Standards.

The associate is accounted for using the equity method in these

consolidated financial statements.

2024
2024

2023 F
2023
ARETIT
RMB’000

AR®T T
RMB’000

MENEE Current assets 517,332 729,057
ERENEE Non-current assets 13,658 14,556
mEERE Current liabilities 294,366 526,985
FEPERR R Non-controlling interests - 8,027
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20. REFE A RIER (&) 20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
EARBE NN EEREBE Summarised financial information of a material associate
(&) (Continued)
NEEERBENSBERE TS The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following:
I8 :

2024 2023
2024 2023

AR®TRT ARETET
RMB’000 RMB'000

HeMREZEEY Cash and cash equivalents 5,520 14,420

2024 5 2023
2024 2023

ARBTRE ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

WA Revenue 258,274 258,159
W ERES ABIEFEAFIE Profit for the year attributable to
the owners of Greentown Jiayuan 40,699 8,348
AL FRMERFETIIRE : The above profit for the year includes the following:

2024 2023 F
2024 2023

AR®TR ARETET
RMB’000 RMB’000

HrEE R Depreciation and amortisation 719 1,374
FEMA Interest income 104 213
PRSI Income tax expense 8,416 4,506
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20. REf&E N R () 20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
EARBE NN EEREBE Summarised financial information of a material associate
(&) (Continued)
A B ERIE NS BBk Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
BRONBE AN ERREEN carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the
R consolidated financial statements:

2024 2023 F
2024 2023

AR®TR ARETET
RMB’000 RMB'000

R EEER AE(h RS Equity attributable to owners of Greentown

Jiayuan 249,294 208,595
REERGEIRERMFTAER  Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in
Rz Greentown Jiayuan 25% 25%
REERGHERE Carrying amount of the Group's interest in
HERREE Greentown Jiayuan 62,323 52,149
Z RN E KRB E N FIELER Aggregate information of associates that are not individually
material:

2024 F 2023 F
2024 2023

AR®BTR ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000

REBFEANSGTEERE Group's share of total profits for the year 2,373 (1,727)
REBRZEHE AR)ERA Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's
FRE(EARE interests in these associates 31,082 48,115
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of a material associate
(Continued)

The Group's share of total profits for the year includes the provision
for the share of certain associates as its share of losses of those
associates exceeds its interests in those associates. As at 31
December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not fulfil the obligation
of registered capital contribution to those associates and the
Group obligated to undertake the share of losses limited to the
unfulfilled capital contribution to those associates registered by the
Group. Other than the above-mentioned provision, the amounts of
unrecognised share of losses of these associates were nil as at 31
December 2024 and 2023.

21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

2024 ¥ 2023
2024 2023
ARETTT
RMB'000

AR®T T
RMB’000

REERARIKIEEMIRERZA Cost of unlisted investments in joint ventures 205,837 176,277
FEMEUEBE FE - HOBREUER Share of post-acquisition profits, net of

fZ 8 dividends received 91,353 87,456
#Et Total 297,190 263,733
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21. REEQNFINRER (&) 21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
2024 F K 2023412 A31H » K As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had interests in the
SERTINERBEKT REENE following principal joint ventures established and operating in the
EaERAPHEEER PRC:

FEERREENAARE
i REELH
SfMER M12A31H

Proportion of ownership

interest/voting rights held

Registered by the Group
Name of joint ventures capital As at 31 December Principal activities
2024 % 2023F
2024 2023
LR BRERTREREARAF ARE 51% 51% R
((LE%Hz)) 5,000,000 7 (i (i)
Shanghai Greentown Fugjin Project RMB5,000,000 Project management service

Management Co. Ltd. (“Shanghai Fugin”)

IIRFHEREEERRRAR ARE 51% 51%  RERS
(MRgHES]) 10,000,007 (i (i
Shandong Lvxin Wanhe RMB10,000,000 Project management service

Management Co., Ltd.
("Shandong Lvxin Wanhe")

MBS AIREREEBR LA AR% 51% 51%  RERS
(I#hEel= 1) 20,000,000 7T (i) (i)
Xinjiang Chuangjing RMB20,000,000 Project management service

Construction Management
Co., Ltd. ("Xinjiang Chuangjing")

BRREEHERRERARAR AR% 51% 51%  RERE
(Memizg]) 50,000,007 (i (i)
Greentown Jingfeng Real Estate RMB50,000,000 Project management service

Co., Ltd. ("Greentown Jingfeng”)

MIGEBRERERERBRAR AR¥ 51% 51%  RERS
(THDTR ) 10,000,000 7 (i) (i
Zhejiang Shidai of Greentown RMB10,000,000 Project management service

Construction Management
Co., Ltd. (“Zhejiang Shidai")
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21. REEQXFINRER (&) 21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

FEEREENAERE
R RERELH
R12A318

Proportion of ownership

aMER

interest/voting rights held

Registered by the Group
Name of joint ventures capital As at 31 December Principal activities
2024 20235
2024 2023
BRARREREEERAR ARH 51% 51%  RER%
(MBmER]) 50,000,000 7 (i) 0
Greentown Changyu Construction RMB50,000,000 Project management service
Management Co., Ltd.
("Greentown Changyu”)
BRRREREEERAR ARH 51% 51%  HRER%
([maze ) 50,000,000 7 (i) )
Greentown Lvming Construction RMB50,000,000 Project management service
Management Co., Ltd. ("Greentown Lvming")
WRENEAFHERRERER AR ARE 51% 51%  HRERS
(TLxEaD) 3,000,007 (i) (i)
Shandong Greentown Wanhe RMB3,000,000 Project management service
Real Estate Construction
Management Co., Ltd. (“Shandong Wanhe")
MR ERRERERAR AR% 51% 51%  KRERG
(MHTERED 10,000,007 (il (i
Zhejiang Greentown Jiangxin RMB10,000,000 Project management service
Construction Management
Co., Ltd. ("Zhejiang Jiangxin”)
MR ERZRERERAR AR% 51% 51%  HRER%
(AL A RRERERAR) 10,000,007 (i) (i)
(DTARmER )
Zhejiang Greentown Chanshang Construction RMB10,000,000 Project management service

Management Co., Ltd. (formerly named
MIRHE R EERRAR)
("Zhejiang Greentown Chanshang”)
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21. REEQXFINRER (&) 21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

rEEREENREE
R RERELH
SMER M12A31H

Proportion of ownership

interest/voting rights held

Registered by the Group
Name of joint ventures capital As at 31 December Principal activities
2024 2023%
2024 2023
ERARER R EEBR AT ARH 51% 51%  RERS
(AfEs A R EEARAR]) 10,000,007 (i (i)
(HEmarsm Al )
Beijing Greentown Innovation Construction RMB10,000,000 Project management service

Management Co., Ltd. (formerly named
HRAIERERERAT)

("Beijing Greentown Innovation”)

BRI BRERERAF ARE 51% 51%  RERSG
(T#39t 7 1) 50,000,000 7T (i) (i)
Greentown Northern Construction RMB50,000,000 Project management service

Management Co., Ltd.
("Greentown Northern")

BIESL (LR BREBARAT AR 51% 51% RERH
(TARRIESL)) 10,000,000 7¢ (i (i)
Greentown Zhenghong (Beijing) RMB10,000,000 Project management service

Construction Management Co., Ltd.
("Greentown Zhenghong”)

SR HERTRRERBR A ARH 51% 51%  RERS
(M mE)) 50,000,000 7 (il ()
Greentown Tianyuan City RMB50,000,000 Project management service

Construction Development
Co., Ltd. ("Greentown Tianyuan")
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21. REEQXFINRER (&) 21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

rEEREENREE
R RERELH
SMER M12A31H

Proportion of ownership

interest/voting rights held

Principal activities

Registered by the Group
Name of joint ventures capital As at 31 December
2024 % 20235
2024 2023
MM S NEREBERAF ARH 51% 51%
(TNl 20,000,0007¢ (i (i)
Hangzhou Greentown Dingli RMB?20,000,000

Construction Management
Co., Ltd. ("Greentown Dingli")

MG EREEREEERAA ARE N/A FER 51%
([T ) 10,000,000 7 (vi) 0
Zhejiang Greentown Shenye RMB10,000,000

Real Estate Construction
Management Co., Ltd.
("Zhejiang Shenye")

MM e BELERAT ARE 51% 51%
(Mgm#el) 25,744,898 & (ii) (il
Hangzhou Greentown Duhui RMB25,744,898

Construction and Design
Co., Ltd. ("Greentown Duhui")

WA B 2SR R AT AR% 51% 51%
(MmFE ) 12,245,000 7C (il (i
Zhejiang Greentown Lipu RMB12,245,000

Construction Design Co., Ltd.
("Greentown Lipu”)

IR BB LR ER AR ARE 50.98% 50.98%
([ ER]) 6,120,0007C (ii) (il
Shandong Greentown Qinghe RMB6,120,000

Architectural Design Co., Ltd.
("Greentown Qinghe")

IR

Project management service

AR

Project management service

RIEAR

Project management service

RIEAR

Project management service

RIEARE

Project management service
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21. REEQXFINRER (&) 21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

rEEREENREE
R RERELH
SMER M12A31H

Proportion of ownership

interest/voting rights held

Registered by the Group
Name of joint ventures capital As at 31 December Principal activities
2024 20235
2024 2023
AT RAR R EEREEERAF ARH 51% 51%  RER%
(A ISR ERERARAR) 50,000,007 (iv) (iv)
(TS EM )
Zhejiang Greentown Public City Infrastructure RMB50,000,000 Project management service

Construction Management Co., Ltd.
(formerly named #TARS M B ER AR A A)
("Greentown Public City Garden”)

BHLEREREE L) ARAR ARE 51% 51%  RERSG
(T&ERE]) 10,080,000 7T (i) (i)
Greentown Leju Technology Management RMB10,080,000 Project management service

(Zhejiang) Co., Ltd. ("Leju Technology”)

G (AL EERZREEBR AT AR% 51% 51%  KER%
(TR (AL 100,000 (i 0
Green Forest (Zhoushan) Real Estate RMB100,000 Project management service

Construction Management Co., Ltd.
("Green Forest (Zhoushan)")

HIEREHREEEBR AT AR®  N/ATER 51%  KER%
(:ipan==:)) 10,000,007 (vii) (iv
Zhejiang Xinglian Marketing Planning RMB10,000,000 Project management service

Management Co., Ltd. ("Zhejiang Xinglian")

AL R AREH R BRAA AR% 51% 51%  RERS
(MmIHg]) 10,000,000 7C (iv) (iv)
Zhejiang Zhonghe Hongmei Decoration RMB10,000,000 Project management service

Design Co., Ltd. (“Zhejiang Zhonghe")
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21. REEQXFINRER (&) 21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

rEEREENREE
R RERELH
R12A318

Proportion of ownership

SMER

interest/voting rights held
Registered

Name of joint ventures capital

Principal activities

MG R LR S HAARAR

(AN E R REERA EHHMBRAF)

(THRMARSHR )

Hangzhou Greentown Xinyuan Architectural
Design Office Co., Ltd. (formerly named
MM E B RRERA FHERAA)

("Hangzhou Greentown Xinyuan”)

HEENERRET L (AREH)
(IREEN])

Zhuhai Wanhe Yuanze Investment Center
(Limited Partnership) ("Zhuhai Wanhe")

BRESERRAERAA
(MEHEE])

Wuxi Lvju Urban Construction Co., Ltd.
("Wuxi Lvju")

LB EEERERBRAR

Zhejiang Greentown Xisong Construction
Management Co., Ltd.

HREARHEERERARAT
(cit-1=3))

Greentown Wanhe Real Estate Construction

Management Co., Ltd. ("Greentown Wanhe")

AR%
10,000,000 7T

RMB10,000,000

ARE
141,000,000 7T
RMB 141,000,000

ARE
6,000,0007T
RMB6,000,000

N
10,000,000 70
RMB10,000,000

ARE
10,000,000 7T
RMB10,000,000

by the Group
As at 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
51% 51%
(iv) (iv)
71.44% 71.44%
(v) )
51% 51%
(ii) (ii
51% 51%
(ii) (ii)
51% 51%
(iv) (iv)

RN R

Construction and service

WA KR

Investment and service

AR R

Construction and service

BER R

Construction and service

BER RS

Construction and service
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21. REEQXFINRER (&) 21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

rEEREENREE
R RERELH
SMER M12A31H

Proportion of ownership

interest/voting rights held

Registered by the Group
Name of joint ventures capital As at 31 December Principal activities
2024 20235
2024 2023
MM EEEBUMEZERAR ARH 51% 51%  ERLES
10,000,000 7T (iv) (iv)
Zhejiang Greentown Management Smart RMB10,000,000 Management and consulting

City Operation Co., Ltd.

A 01 NG 46.22% 35.64%  REERKEH
101,000,000 7T (viii)
Hangzhou Lvjing Fujie RMB101,000,000 Investment holding and
consulting
WIS mBFEEERERER AR AR 51% TER  BERRHB
10,000,000 7T (ix)
Zhejiang Greentown Pinzhi Real Estate Construction  RMB10,000,000 N/A Construction and service

Management Co., Ltd

ERZEERAREEERAA ARH 50% TER  BERERS
10,000,000 7T (ix)
Guangxi Lvjin Construction Project Management RMB10,000,000 N/A Construction and service
Co., Ltd
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(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

HZERR=ZREFTHMBHEAE
BRI MERXBNERESS
RBRAESZN =D " BERR
RSB - [t ZERRUERETE
HIEE= R NSNS

FZERBRREFTH =RHEE
BRI MERXBNEREFS
RBRAE= D _EBEREER
B Bt - ZERRHERAEEN
ER-VNCIPN

AZARLREFETN =RZAAEH
ZE - MEBEBNERESTSR
BERAETRES TULERS -
At ZARHERAKEN —RE
BREAER

RZERR=ZREETHMBEHAE
BRI MEBXBNAERES
CRRRAEMBES —BULER
B Ft - ZERRHEREEEN
BERAAR -

HZABREZBREMEKBTH—
EZHAEEEE  MEBREENE
BREREAERELZEGKE —
BHUERE o Bt - ZARBIE/R
SENEERAINARK

BREHERREEEEERAA
R E R AR E AR 5,100,000 7T
1 E A5 A M T 03 51% IR i 2 50
HEF—RE=H  BHEREN
BEmEEAAREA541,000T B
HERENREERRE BN E
ERBmHN [ HE ML nN
Was | THE R -
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21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Two out of three directors of these companies are appointed by the
Group, while a valid board resolution of relevant activities requires
more than two-thirds of directors’ voting rights. Therefore, these
companies are accounted for as joint ventures of the Group.

Three out of five directors of these companies are appointed by the
Group, while a valid board resolution of relevant activities requires an
two-thirds of directors’ voting rights. Therefore, these companies are
accounted for as joint ventures of the Group.

Three out of seven directors of this company are appointed by the
Group, while a valid board resolution of relevant activities requires
an unanimous approval from all directors. Therefore, this company is
accounted for as a joint venture of the Group.

Two out of three directors of these companies are appointed by the
Group, while a valid board resolution of relevant activities requires an
unanimous approval from all directors. Therefore, these companies
are accounted for as joint ventures of the Group.

One out of two members of the investment committee of this
partnership is appointed by the Group, while a valid decision of
relevant activities requires a unanimous approval from all members of
investment committee. Therefore, this partnership is accounted for as
a joint venture of the Group.

Greentown Real Estate Construction Management Group Co., Ltd.
disposed all its 51% equity interest of Zhejiang Shenye to a third
party at the consideration of RMB5,100,000 during the year. The carry
amount of equity disposed is RMB4,541,000. The difference between
the carrying amount of equity disposed and consideration was
recognised in “gain on disposal of an associate” line item in profit or
loss.
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21. REE R RN () 21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

BisE - (8) Notes: (Continued)

(vii) NN IR EER AR ARRN (vii) Hangzhou Greentown Jiulve Investment Management Co., Ltd.
FE AR E AR 2,040,000 7T # disposed all its 51% equity interest of Zhejiang Xinglian to a third party
ERAEMMNIEZ# 5% REDEH at the consideration of RMB2,040,000 during the year. The provision of
ET—HE=F - SHERENE equity disposed is RMB182,000. The difference between the carrying
BAEARE182,0007T - BEHER amount of equity disposed and consideration was recognised in “gain
ERERmERERE 2 R ZRENE on disposal of an associate” line item in profit or loss.
mE [ HE—FEEE AR e
HE PR -

(viii) EFIBEFAMIFE 20(ii) © (viii) Details are set out in Note 20(iii).

(ix)  FZAE 2024 FrEMAK AL (ix) The company was incorporated in 2024.

ERGEQTNUKERBE Summarised financial information of material joint

ventures

BHAEEERGERFKEEM Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s material

NAFHR & B B 55 & R 2 51 1A joint ventures, Zhuhai Wanhe and Greentown Lipu is set out below.

T TXHHMBEEHBERGER The summarised financial information below represents amounts

AR 75 B R B 7 ¥ 5 4 Rl & 51 22 R shown in the joint ventures’ financial statements prepared in

RER S IRE MRS - accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards.

BERNANZEREMBREPERE The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in

FAEREIIRR these consolidated financial statements.

HEEHN Zhuhai Wanhe

2024 F 2023 F
2024 2023

AR®BTR ARETRT
RMB’000 RMB'000

mENEE Current assets 19,463 13,211
ERBEE Non-current assets 140,000 140,000
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21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

B ENTNHEERBE Summarised financial information of material joint
(18) ventures (Continued)

NWEEERBENSBERETIE The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following:
I8 :

2024 £ 2023 F
2024 2023

AR®BTRE ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

Ae MREEHEY

Cash and cash equivalents 1 3

2024 £ 2023
2024 2023

ARBTRE ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000

FAFE
FABKKEEFNBE

Profit for the year 6,252 20,600
Dividends received from Zhuhai Wanhe during
the year - 7,441

A EFAMBERETIIEE

The above profit for the year includes the following:

2024 £ 2023 F
2024 2023

AR®BTRE ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

BAVEF AR ERE
EELE 2 Wt

Gain arising on financial assets at FVTPL
20,144 20,688
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21. REE R RN ()
ERGEQANMBERBE

(%)

A BT E RHEE RiR A BB K

BRWNE LR R ERRAE B

YRR -

21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material joint
ventures (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the interest in the joint venture recognised in

the consolidated financial statements:

2024 2023
2024 2023

AR®TRT ARETET
RMB’000 RMB'000

wEEMRREEER Equity attributable to shareholders of Zhuhai
Wanhe 159,463 153,211
REERIKEEMBFTAER  Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in
i dadaat] Zhuhai Wanhe 71.44% 71.44%

REERKEEMNER Carrying amount of the Group's interest in
REE Zhuhai Wanhe 113,920 109,453
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21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material joint
ventures (Continued)

Greentown Lipu

2024 F
2024

2023 F
2023
ARETIT
RMB’000

AR®T T
RMB’000

MBEE
FREBEE
mBAE
FRBAE

Current assets 104,088 109,118
Non-current assets 50,667 52,573
Current liabilities 35,549 54,116
Non-current liabilities 19,621 18,130

NEBEEMBENSEERETIE

I8

The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following:

2024 F
2024

2023 F
2023
ARETTT
RMB'000

AR®T T
RMB’000

RelBReEHED

Cash and cash equivalents 43,552 65,405

2024 &
2024

20234
2023
ARET T
RMB’000

ARBT T
RMB’000

YA
FRFE

Revenue 99,684

10,139

149,305

Profit for the year 16,250
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21. REEQNFINRER (&) 21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
EXGELNANUBERBE Summarised financial information of material joint
(18) ventures (Continued)

BUEFZ () Greentown Lipu (Continued)
A EFRMERRET5ISE : The above profit for the year includes the following:

2024 5 2023
2024 2023

ARBTRE ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000

WE R Depreciation and amortisation 4,777 4,095
FBHA Interest income 1,304 700
FTiSBiFR < Income tax expense 64 774
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21. REEARIER () 21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
EREERTANHHKEREE Summarised financial information of material joint
(%) ventures (Continued)

BUEFZ () Greentown Lipu (Continued)

LA EBFIE AR E RSBl R Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
WRHREERNEREEAEAN carrying amount of the interest in the joint venture recognised in
HER - the consolidated financial statements:

2024 £ 2023 F
2024 2023

ARBTR ARETRT
RMB’000 RMB’000

BB AIEFEE Net assets of Greentown Lipu 99,585 89,445
B AEBEEEEEEER  Less: Accumulated results of particular projects
REEE attributable solely to the Group (56,563) (56,563)
ARN I AR R B (S i Equity attributable to shareholders of
Greentown Lipu 43,022 32,882
KEBREGEMFERFTERE  Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in
- Endn ]l Greentown Lipu 51% 51%

REBDMEEEHRAEBLETAE  Group's share of adjusted net assets in

FEE Greentown Lipu 21,941 16,770
o AEEBLFEEBMHZRE Add: Accumulated results of particular projects
FTEE attributable solely to the Group 56,563 56,563
REAREEFENR TR Accumulated dividends received from
ERENE i ds) particular projects pertaining to the
Group (9,508) (2,508)

REBRERFIL MR Carrying amount of the Group's interest in
[ERiE] Greentown Lipu 68,996 63,825
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21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

21. REE QTR (B)
X&

B ENFANTHENRE
(&)
B (E)

BERIETERNE E A RIERER

Summarised financial information of material joint
ventures (Continued)

Greentown Lipu (Continued)

Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not individually
material:

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARBTT
RMB’000

AR®TR
RMB’000

REEFADETERRE Group's share of total profits for the year 888 17,719
REERZEEG S A=A Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's
FREE4RE interests in these joint ventures 114,274 90,455
AEEBFADBBNERBEET The Group's share of total profits for the year includes the provision

AENRIEEEE  DEERZSE
AENREMMEBEBBENZSES
BNEIREL © 72024 F K 2023 F
12H 3B AEEHREZEEE
AEIEBITHAMERALENER - B
NEBBEBAEIEEER(BRRA
EREZESE R DAMERE

THHE) o B LB EIN - 522024
FN2023F 128318 &4 %

RANAREREREERSERT -
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for the share of certain joint ventures as its share of losses of those
joint ventures exceeds its interests in those joint ventures. As at 31
December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not fulfil the obligation
of registered capital contribution to those joint ventures and the
Group obligated to undertake the share of losses limited to the
unfulfilled capital contribution to those joint ventures registered
by the Group. Other than the above-mentioned provision, the
amounts of unrecognised share of losses of these joint ventures
were nil as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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2. EEBRAFESAHEME 22 EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR
HW AR ARRE VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

2024 2023 F
2024 2023

AREBTR ARETET
RMB’000 RMB'000

ETE A A FEF AEMEE Equity investments designated at fair value
9

W B R AR E through other comprehensive income
BATFEFERIELMIRA  Unlisted equity investments, at fair value
BE 49,409 56,625
Pt IE F IR AR EIEARE R NG The above unlisted equity investments represent the Group's equity
B 2 FE BRI - KAAQF] interests in private entities established in the PRC. The directors
BEECEREBZERATAKRER of the Company have elected to designate these investments in
EREBEATEFAEMEERA - equity instruments as at FVTOCI as they are held for the long term
HENERRBIEEZHEERM TS primarily with the objective of strengthening business relationships.
HE AFERES FIURATE There was no dividend (2023: RMB22,000,000) declared by the
FAEMEEWAGENERZT above equity instruments at FVTOCI for the current year have been
BEMEIRMKRE(2023F : AR recognised in profit or loss.

22,000,000 7T) i 1Bz AHERR o
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23. Hb R HIEW A 23. OTHER LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES

2024 5 2023
2024 2023

ARBTRE ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

& 7E I % EoAth R BAFEUNGRIE ©  Fixed interest rate of other long-term

receivables:
— [A)— & BB 5 2 e — unsecured and unguaranteed loans to
I EIERER related parties (Note 38ii))
(B3 38¢i)) 331,605 405,836
- FZHEWIPEFR(ME) - secured loans to third parties (Note) 170,326 205,700
501,931 611,536
B EEBERE Less: Allowance for credit losses (31,064) (23,994)
470,867 587,542
DR Analysed as:
ik 2 Current 470,867 458,148
FETED Non-current = 129,394
HEt Total 470,867 587,542
Wiz - B 5 REMEYKIEE T Note: The amounts due within one year shown under trade and other
TR—FERNENENFHIE - A5 receivables, the details of which are set out in Note 25.
BRI PRI EE 25 ©
A B E b B B e U Il A S Details of impairment assessment of other long-term receivables
BB FAMTEE 36(b) © are set out in Note 36(b).
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24, EIER1E

THI AR E B R 2 B R
SECHEAE (BE) R

24. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior
years:

Impairment
loss
ARETTL

RVBI000

AR
BEHE

Impairment
of other non-

Tax losses ~ current assets

i

RMB000

178
8-
IMA

Fair value

Fairvalue  adjustment -
adjustment-  contingent
FVTOCI ~ consideration
AEBTL  ARETR

RMB'000 RVBI000

BrEE
Intangible
assets
arising from
acquisition of
Greentown
Shangli

RMB000

Right-of-
use assets
AREFT

RMBI000

Lease
[iabilities

RABEIR1R At January 2003 11 28 31% (10467) 1544 (103089 243 245 (15559)
g/ (R Creditec(charged) to profioross 808 () %5 - 83% 87 855 (1201) jX]
REBZENAME Charge to other comprehensive income - - - 2001 - - - - 2701
fagg e Effect of change ntax rate (%) - - - - 123 - - 1090
RABEIENE 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024

RAUE1A1R 2403 1847 34 ) BIm 5121 1810 123 140
g/ () Creditec(charged) to proft oross 15,206 (1,019) 184 - 7,208 16,403 (#41) 1 38,332
RERRERATR Charge to other comprehensive income - - - 21 - - - = M
RAUE1E3N At 31 December 2024 40,009 828 3615 (569 30985 (36716) (2.251) 2025 32906
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24 JEEBLIR (&)

REEMBHRRARZIME @ BT
MBEEEMBEEBEEATRITE
FILABDEATR TH & E K SH B ERFE TH &
BEARERERIBER —EEEE
RO MK AR 50 BERAK
$H o M2024F 128318 & T iE
EFIEEERABEBARE7,793,000
J0 (20234 © AR 9,491,0007T) B
REF AR RIS - IR EM
T BRERIBEASKHOTOT

24. DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to
the same legal entity and fiscal authority. As at 31 December 2024,
certain deferred tax assets and liabilities of RMB7,793,000(2023:
RMB9,491,000) have been offset in the statement of financial
position. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances
for financial reporting purposes:

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARET T
RMB’000

ARBFR
RMB’000

EEFRIAE E Deferred tax assets 69,669 45,603
FEERIAEE Deferred tax liabilities (36,763) (53,206)
32,906 (7,603)

2024128318 AEEA A
HURE B 14 = 7 A A R % 20,438,000
JL(20234F + AFR¥E21,594,0007T) °
EH 7 AT ) FA R SR A ) R 4 8 AT HUR
EREEEMAREERK  WER
ZE R HUR R 1 = R R IR
BEE -
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group had deductible temporary
differences of RMB20,438,000 (2023: RMB21,594,000). No deferred
tax asset has been recognised in relation to such deductible
temporary differences as it is not probable that taxable profit will
be available against which such deductible temporary differences
can be utilised.
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MR2024F12A831H AEBHE
R E) R IR B 18 A K 1 44,185,000
J0(2023%F + AR¥20,297,0007T)
AJEERIRF K - ERZEEE
A R #16,283,000 7T (2023 4 :
AR ¥7,385,000 7T ) 7 52 i 1E 7 18
BE - ARREFE R0 TER
M I B ER T A R 627,902,000
JC(20234F : A R #12,912,0007T )
BRELEHIBEE - RZSAER
MIEEEMES @ BEREERERE
RER  ZEBBEEBEBBELENT
B FEIfEm -
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31 December 2024

24. DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had unused tax losses of
RMB44,185,000 (2023: RMB20,297,000) available for offsetting
against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of RMB16,283,000 (2023: RMB7,385,000) of such losses. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining
RMB27,902,000 (2023: RMB12,912,000) due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams. For these unrecognised tax losses, pursuant
to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, these tax losses will
be carried forward and expire in the years as follows:

2024 F 20234

2024 2023

AR®Tr ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 £ 2024 = 4,436
2025 4 2025 1,944 4,185
2026 F 2026 — 132
2027 & 2027 867 867
2028 2028 5,455 3,292
2029 4 2029 19,636 -
st Total 27,902 12,912

£ eP B P 4t Y BB 2 R O B AR A L
e K B AR AT B TR B R A By =
B AR B A AR #1,961,667,000
7C(20234F : A K #2,019,651,000
TT) c BEERR - HRAKERFE
MR R R - ZEHEARIR
A] 518 5K 93k 5 B8 2 ¥ /O 7T g 1
K o

The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately
RMB1,961,667,000 (2023: RMB2,019,651,000). In the opinion of the
directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute
such earnings in the foreseeable future due to the Group's business
development in Mainland China.
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25. ES R HMEWFRIE - €  25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
RBMNFIR PREPAYMENTS

2024 £ 2023 F
2024 2023

ARBTR ARETRT
RMB’000 RMB’000

2 5 W IR Trade receivables 488,233 221,623
B EEEEEE Less: Allowance for credit losses (50,793) (23,840)
437,440 197,783
H UK IR Other receivables 693,165 642,589
B EEBERE Less: Allowance for credit losses (37,875) (24,664)
655,290 617,925
FENFIER RS Prepayments and deposits 26,702 8,200
4EEt Total 1,119,432 823,908
M2024F12A318 - B 5 &K Included in the trade receivables were bills receivable amounting
A BT UM B A R 42,040,000 to RMB42,040,000 as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023:
7L(2023F12A318: A R & RMB28,664,000). All bills received by the Group are with a maturity
28,664,00070) - B AEBEWRE period of less than one year.

ERRSER IR -
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25. BEZ R EMBWRIE - BE

RFEMAFE (&)

R2024 12 A31 8 - HibfEWFIE
BEE = ERARM 415,851,000
TT(2023F12A31H: A R ¥
405,700,000 70) (R EWFIEAR
#£45,851,0007C (20234 : A R #
38,750,0007C)) - iZ ZEE R TEH
R—FAWKE - EEFFHENTF 6%
ZE15% (2023412 A31H : 6% &
15%) ° ZEERIAH T HE AR -
R EEIRERERANZ
SERFBS T RIEAIKT - &£
BRALEELNBRLT » ~AEH
TEHERBERMBEEERR - 5t
ETHEETFTEZF2ER  BEA
R #170,326,0007C(2023F : AR
¥ 205,700,0007T ) X ¥R & B H &
REE - BBANEREEALR
FZ R 1R A AR B AR G I A B
HEEREE - Bt ARAIEER
B BEREHBENEERKRKRE
KRG EEFRZ LN -

MR2024F12A31H > Lt AEE
FEZFNERBBREBEERAEA
R # 200,000,000 7T (20234 12 A 31
B : AR #200,000,0007T) B R
SHEBHERN —REBA - KA
NEEBNMZETE=ZFEXRN
FERR  WREEFEERKRBEVN
HERARE RIEE N - BEK AR
BEBEEEHRIL RERZEBANE
BEERRREEL - 1202412 A 31
H ZS5HAEEERGENTEL
EEBEENIRT 2 R5HREEE
A A B 29,196,000 7T (2023 F 12
A318 : AR¥22,101,0007T) °

AEEBREINAFAELPRLEER
H - phig HAEE M8 90 R Y FE IR 45
Bz ~TEEERERERRE
TaMERTERZY  BETHES
] AR 3% 260 2 B M R0 2 R SRR R
HARBEEP 2R ik -
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Included in other receivables were loans to third parties amounting
to RMB415,851,000 (31 December 2023: RMB405,700,000)
(collectively with interest receivable of RMB45,851,000 (31
December 2023: RMB38,750,000)) as at 31 December 2024. The
loans are expected to be recovered within one year which carry
fixed interest rates from 6% to 15% (31 December 2023: 6% to 15%)
per annum. The loans are pledged with collateral such as land use
rights, shareholders’ interests, constructions in progress and trade
receivables of the borrowers. The Group is not permitted to sell or
repledge the collateral in the absence of default by the borrowers.
Among certain secured loans to third parties, the balances of
RMB170,326,000 (2022: RMB205,700,000) are not past due as at the
reporting date, and there has not been any significant changes in
the debtors’ credit quality and their related collateral pledged for
these advances. Therefore, the directors of the Company are in the
view that there have been no significant increase in credit risk nor
default as at the reporting date.

As at 31 December 2024, included in the above-mentioned balance
of the Group's loans to third parties was a debtor with the carrying
amount of RMB200,000,000 (31 December 2023: RMB200,000,000)
whose repayments were overdue as at the reporting date, the
directors of the Company individually assessed the credit risk for
such loan to a third party and consider that there is a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition because the
project held by the debtor has been suspended which indicates
significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor. As
at 31 December 2024, the accumulated impairment losses under
ECL model of such outstanding significant balance amounted to
RMB29,196,000 (31 December 2023: RMB22,101,000).

The Group normally does not allow a credit period to its customers.
For the receivable balances which have been past due for more
day 90 days, the senior management of the Group consider
certain past due balances are not in default since certain balances
could be recovered based on the historical repayment pattern
of the overdue receivables and the financial conditions of the
corresponding customers.
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25. BEZ R EMBWRIE - BE
RABNIE (&)

TERANEREHMRENEZEH
2IMEFREFA(BREERRE
%) (RIREEERRR) MRk D
i

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables (including
bills receivable), net of allowance for credit losses, presented based
on the invoice date at the end of each reporting period:

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARBTFT
RMB’000

AR®TR
RMB’000

180 XA Within 180 days 335,628 163,934
180 K% 365K 180 to 365 days 31,079 13,725
365 KA E Over 365 days 70,733 20,124
#Et Total 437,440 197,783

Z 5 RN ERENEEREE
AT

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARETTT
RMB’000

AR®TT
RMB’000

A At beginning of year 23,840 27,716
BEBEFRE Impairment losses, net 32,314 (1,928)
ss Af AR EIR &5 Amount written off as uncollectible (5,361) (1,948)
REFER At end of year 50,793 23,840

B EXPrtmE=FTRENER
Sh - HfbRMIRE R REKEHE
M EE - R EXPIAE =771k
HAERIN - H b U I R FE
I A 12 AR ER KR
Hi U -
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Besides the above-mentioned loans to third parties, other
receivables were mainly earnest money for potential projects.
Except for the above-mentioned loans to third parties, other
receivables and prepayments are expected to be recovered within
12 months or normal operating cycle.
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Details of the impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in Note 36(b).

26. CONTRACT ASSETS

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARET T
RMB’000

AR®T T
RMB’000

KRB Project management service

AREE Contract assets 1,461,817 954,749
B EEBEEE Less: Allowance for credit losses (117,154) (64,147)
#Et Total 1,344,663 890,602

BREET REAREBRERRER
BERRENENER  KFEAK
B RZEENAFARBRREK
RIBVERR T AR  BFHER
KRAREGTE  AREEBRER
5 FEMRIA

TECHACFANEESENALX
& -

AEBHNRERS A QBN KE
Bk HEREHBRZRIEA—
BEIETRHERERRKRZADREER
R o AN SR E — AR 7 2% B 45 E B B
AREPFYREC EAMEEERE
BRAKAREEERRE S EK
IR °

ARESERSEREELRD
fh 54 AN SR 78 M 1 — R BB
PR -

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to
consideration for work completed in connection with project
management service and not billed because the rights are
conditioned on the Group's future performance. The contract
assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional.

Typical payment terms which impact the amount of contract assets
recognised are as follows:

The Group's project management service contracts include
payment schedules which require stage payments over the project
construction period once certain specified milestones are reached.
The Group typically transfers contract assets to trade receivables
when specified milestones are reached and the completion of
corresponding construction progress is agreed with the customers.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current because the
Group expects to realise them in its normal operating cycle.
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26. ERAEE () 26. CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED)
AREERENBREEBEZDHI The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of contract
T assets are as follows:

2024 5 2023
2024 2023

ARBTRE ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

) At beginning of year 64,147 39,859

EE R FEE Impairment losses, net 53,007 24,288

RER At end of year 117,154 64,147
ABRIEEZBEN HFBEEH LT Details of the impairment assessment of contract assets are set out
36(b) ° in Note 36(b).

27. BAFEFTABRZNEHE  27. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
E PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 2023
2024 2023

ARBTR ARETET
RMB’000 RMB’000

EHERE Structured investment = 41,324
BAFEFFESAIELETIRE  Unlisted investments, at fair value 5,000 -
5,000 41,324
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27. AT EF AEHENERE 27. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

Z= (&) PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

M2024F12A318 - kit 3k £ As at 31 December 2024, the above unlisted investment was 1%
KBEAERBNEEMREXKRES equity interest in Yangzhou Guanghe Rongtai Industrial Investment
BOE(BAREE)W1%EE - AR Partnership Enterprise (Limited Partnership). It was classified
ZEBEWRGIEEREATETA as financial asset at fair value through profit or loss as it was
BEaremiEE  HitEBERR mandatorily designated as such.

NHEFABRENEREE -

HE2024F12A3MBIEFE - K For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recognised a
EEBERIEES| R AFEEZE W gain on fair value changes arising from the investment amounting
#H AR #519,000 70 (2023 4F : E1E to RMB519,000 (2023: loss of RMB30,505,000) which was included in
AR#30,505,0007T) © EBETAIE “other gains and losses”.

flb s Ko &5 18 | o
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28. BANK BALANCES AND CASH/PLEDGED BANK

DEPOSITS

2023
2023
ARBTT
RMB'000

2024 %
2024

AR®TR
RMB’000

RITIRE Cash at bank 1,518,264 1,375,728
EFRe Cash on hand 23 6
FEHATFER (BEEG) Term deposits on demand (Note (i) = 668,643
HeMREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 1,518,287 2,044,377
BIEIIRITF (B Gi) Pledged bank deposits (Note (ii) 228,928 165,436

Bt -

(i)

(i)

AEEARETHERIMAAE
RIIBEEAE © i 28 A RTiE 1R
o BIERRITIRBRP M XMmIE
FERERAE - BEAEMER -
ERERERDBERREIRESE

2024512 A31 8 - SRFHIETT
“E8R A R 81,000,000 7T K A R
63,000,000 TEREA DM FEM
WOEBURES - AEEREEERB R
EEMERBERBERET AN
MEESE  ALESEETGY
EBEBIESIE o Bt - 72024
F12 831 B IR R AR AAE B
# o B buiESN - FREEMP TR
7 ERRITHAREEE#HER
FHERER -
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Notes:

(i)

The term deposits on demand are under the Group's rights of early
redemption at their principal before the maturity date. In the event of
early withdrawal prior to maturity, a prevailing current account interest
rate would be offered instead of the term deposits interest rate
without any penalty. The term deposits on demand are then classified
as cash and cash equivalents.

At 31 December 2024, the restricted bank balance amounting to
RMB81,000,000 and RMB63,000,000 were frozen by court for dispute
on project management contracts. The Group's legal counsel and the
directors were unable to determine the amount of compensation that
would be required to pay based on the information available, and
therefore the directors were not able to assess the potential impact
on the Group. Consequently, no provision was made in respect of
this proceeding as at 31 December 2024. Besides those mentioned
above, the deposits have been pledged to banks as collateral for the
issue of letter of credit by the bank in connection with the project
management projects.
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28. BITHEGRES BIEME  28. BANK BALANCES AND CASH/PLEDGED BANK

T (&) DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)
RTINS LI EERN T HIRTT Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
BERMEEFE  MEBAFRAKREE deposit rates. Term deposits on demand and pledged bank
ARTEFARZENEHNEG deposits are earn interest at the respective contract rates.
é\ o
BRERTESKRLDERRTERZ Details of impairment assessment of bank balances and pledged
BT h B ER AT 36(b) © bank deposits are set out in Note 34(b).

29. BEZ R E b ENFIE 29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2024 2023 F
2024 2023

AR®TR ARETET
RMB’000 RMB'000

=Y NS Trade payables 97,605 34,073
H A fE A< 508 Other payables 969,314 937,211
ERNIE Payroll payable 204,928 270,435
HHBBIEEREMNDHAEE  Provision for share of losses of joint ventures

NRIEEFHRE G exceeding interests invested 14,238 15,500
mat Total 1,286,085 1,257,219
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29.

258

BEENEMENTIE(E) 29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

R2024F 128318 - H4th fE 3
BEREFZTEERRERRBR
A R #20,000,0007T (2023412 A
318 : AR%25,000,00070) ° #%5%
BREHBR —FAEE  FRX
A12%(2023F 12 A31H : 12% &
15%) °

TRARBEZBHZINE HEN
AR

Included in other payables were unsecured and unguaranteed
advances from third parties of RMB20,000,000 (31 December
2023: RMB25,000,000) as at 31 December 2024. The advances are
expected to be settled within one year which carry interest at 12%
(31 December 2023: 12% to 15%) per annum.

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables presented
based on the invoice date:

2024 5 2023
2024 2023

AR¥TRT ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

1A Within 1 year 95,221 32,431
15224 1to 2 years 1,125 870
2E3F 2 to 3 years 635 676
3FALE More than 3 years 624 96
HeEt Total 97,605 34,073
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30. BHERE 30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

2024 5 2023
2024 2023

ARBTRE ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000

BHRIE Contract liabilities 545,752 507,614
FEOEREYEaGESEMNHEAY Typical payment terms which impact the amount of contract
&R T - liabilities recognised are as follows:
EREEREBERERBENEEN When the amount of stage payment according to the payment
NRERARERN S BN R HEHE schedule determined in the project management service contract
BRI SERERERENTL received by the Group exceeds the amount of the revenue
LE BRI iR M A S FE R - RIS E could be recognised based on the proportion of completion of
EE4BE - DENREREDNE the project management service rendered to date, this will give
BREEBZEERERBEANREE rise to contract liabilities. The stage payment results in contract
ZERS TR AR © liabilities being carried forward to recognise as revenue when the

performance obligation of corresponding project management
service is satisfied.

2024 F K 2023 F W& A BEIEINE The increase in contract liabilities in 2024 and 2023 was mainly due
EEHNFERBEHRERT P K to the increase in advances received from customers in relation to
HY R ZAFIR NPT EL - the provision of project management at the end of the year.
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3. RAVEFARENERME 31
15

il

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 £ 2023
2024 2023

AR®BTR ARETT

RMB’000 RMB'000

JETTSHARE Contingent consideration payables 151,034 122,208

1E R BB A B R EE R IR
—&n BOKREBEREER/EA
HEUR A WS FEAK 12 = & BRI 4
MEFAREEENEERG S
- BNRARERENAFEE
£ NS

As parts of the equity transfer agreements in relation to the
acquisition of Greentown Shangli, a portion of the consideration
was determined to be contingent, which is dependent on the
service fee receivable from the new project management projects
of Greentown Shangli during a three-year period following
completion of the acquisition. The movement of the fair value of
contingent consideration payables is as follows:

2024 5 2023
2024 2023

AR®TRT ARBTET

RMB’000 RMB'000

A At beginning of year 122,208 88,867
NEEFIFET7) Fair value changes (Note 7) 28,826 33,341
RER At end of year 151,034 122,208
Mk Current 151,034 -
IERB Non-current = 122,208

151,034 122,208
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32. SHARE CAPITAL

REBE BRAs

Number of shares Share capital

THET

HK$'000

EE

7202341818 2023
12831 B 2024F 12
A 31 BEiREE0E

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
at 1 January 2023, 31 December
2023 and 31 December 2024

TCHYE AR 100,000,000,000 1,000,000
BRITRAR : Issued and fully paid:
7202361 H1H ~ 2023  Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

F12A31HX 2024412 at 1 January 2023, 31 December

A 31 BEKREEQ0.0E 2023 and 31 December 2024

TR AR (FIE) (Note) 2,010,000,000 20,100

MR2024F 12 A31H » AR AR
7K 20,100,0008 7T (FHE R AR
16,769,000 7T) ©

MisE : 720245128318 & I 15 #&
BEREMmARAMKNRE
S8 7 B 15 5145 A 138,553,961
M A% 15 (2023F 12 A31 8 :
48,085961H Ik h ) - © B B
23,878,000/ 7T, (2023 4F 12 A 31
B : 24,043,000 7t ) (B E B
49 N R 20,124,000 7 (2023 4
12A318 + A K % 20,206,000
JL)) ° BRARGREIF EIMEEE
B MIFE33 ©

ARABAEREEETIEREARNME
BRE) - WHAENBESERAR
MR R E DB AR O - Bt -
SRARMNEER ARG AKREE
REMBRREK - BRERDEEF
ST RRORSERFRD
tERREm P HIRR A [ MR AR 2R

AHEIFTR D | RAKREISR S R
BRAZ

As at 31 December 2024, the share capital of the Company was
HK$20,100,000 (equivalent to RMB16,769,000).

Note: Included in the number of shares as at 31 December 2024 were
38,553,961 (31 December 2023: 48,085,961) shares amounting to
HKD23,878,000 (31 December 2023: HK$24,043,000) (equivalent to
approximately RMB20,124,000 (31 December 2023: RMB20,206,000))
held by the trusts which are constituted by the Company for the
share award schemes. Details of the share award schemes are set
out in Note 33.

The Company has the power to direct the relevant activities of
certain trusts and it has the ability to use its power over the trusts
to affect its exposure to returns. Therefore, the assets and liabilities
of the trusts are included in the Group's consolidated statement of
financial position and the ordinary shares held for the share award
schemes were regarded as treasury shares and presented as a
deduction in equity as “shares held for share award scheme” in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity of the Group.
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33.

262

DR AERNARRS
% 17 52 B =t &l
2020 FR1P B2

RAR R G EEE T8 ([ 251 8))
ThiR ¥ — B R 2020410 F 28 H @
BNEEQREARERN 25
EMEEREERESRENE -
NBEREEBEAAEENFEL
B NRERBT - 5520304 10 A 27
BEH - RIBEZAE - ARRES
gAERABNRAEERES (B
RARIER) R TRDIER - RIFZ
FTE BEIROBHEARR AR
=5 ([2020F 55 )) A B BRI FH
MEBRBREAZSHWELIFEHER
BERGORZA - MARAEEBL
ZAABERRBHETLTERAA
(IZFEAD BEZTEMERA -

RIBZTEIR L ER RO BB

1S AHMN20205F 10 H28 H 2 1T
Btn 48 2REN 1.83% o
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33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Share award scheme

2020 Share Award Scheme

The Company's share award scheme (the “Scheme"”) was adopted
pursuant to a board resolution passed on 28 October 2020 for
the primary purpose of providing incentives to directors and
eligible employees to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group, and will expire on 27 October 2030.
Under the Scheme, the board of the Company or an authorised
person may grant share awards to eligible employees, including
directors of the Company. Pursuant to the Scheme, the award
shares will be satisfied by existing shares to be acquired and held
by a trust constituted by the Company (the “2020 Trust"”) through
on-market transactions at the average prevailing market price, and
the Company appointed an independent trustee, Computershare
Hong Kong Trustees Limited (the “Trustee”) acted as the
administrator of the Scheme.

The total number of the award shares made pursuant to the
Scheme shall not exceed 1.83% of the total number of issued
shares as at 28 October 2020.



BUBRDAERNATRRS

(%)
B4 SR BT & ()
2020 /8 1531 B (&)

2020 FIEFREE R FH B A 3.308
TT(HRERHOARK2797T) E R
& # T 45 £ U8 35,830,961 f% 42
BIiR ) - BIEAREEN 2020612 B
24 BIREZAEMESBNEERE
BiEEE ([2020F &R A ) HEH
/935,740,000 i% B2 B J 1 - E X I
MEEENAR D D R HLER B ¢ () 50%
MEEKRGERRE AN @A
FHEB - & (i) % =1 50% &) 12 B
BHERIEEAENE —EEFH
SR o % MERE 2020 AR AERCPT
GEEKE(RE-HANEBEER
RAEIIRG (B A R G ) I
ﬁ%;ﬁ%@%ﬁ&mkf%’x
ABRIEZT R SR B %
ﬁkf 22T 2020 F AR A o

B AR FE AN B EQ023F -
1,270,000 A% ) RENR D E B E E 1%
2020F F B A BR B - FA20244F 12
A318 - st EE & TS
8 B/ T 62 AR 1D B E B 7,120,961
B (20234 : 7,120,961 0% ) A% 17 -
& %8 523,523,00078 T (20234 :
23,523,000% 7T ) (HERH AR
#19,856,000 7T (20234F = A B
19,856,0007T)) °
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33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

Share award scheme (Continued)

2020 Share Award Scheme (Continued)

The 2020 Trust has acquired 35,830,961 award shares from the
market at an average prevailing market price of approximately
HKD3.30 (equivalent to approximately RMB2.79) per share,
including an aggregate of 35,740,000 award shares granted by
the Group to its 45 directors and eligible employees (the “2020
Grantee") pursuant to the Scheme on 24 December 2020. The
award shares granted shall be vested in two tranches, (i) 50% of the
award shares shall vest on the first anniversary date of the grant
date, and (ii) the second 50% of the award shares shall vest on the
second anniversary date of the grant date. When the relevant 2020
Grantee has satisfied all vesting conditions including a condition in
relation to the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of
vesting, and becomes entitled to the shares forming the subject of
the award, the Trustee shall transfer the relevant granted shares to
the 2020 Grantee in accordance with the Scheme rules.

During this year, no (2023: 1,270,000) award shares have been
vested by the qualified 2020 Grantee, the remaining number of
shares repurchased from market for share award scheme as at 31
December 2024 were 7,120,961 (2023: 7,120,961) amounting to
HKD23,523,000 (2023: HKD23,523,000) (equivalent to approximately
RMB19,856,000 (2023: RMB19,856,000)).
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BUBRDEERPMAERS  33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(%) (CONTINUED)

o sEBEt &l (&) Share award scheme (Continued)

2020 F R 7B =12 (#8) 2020 Share Award Scheme (Continued)

mARTTREEV IR BN AR () BB 28T - Movements in the number of award shares outstanding are as
follows:

RBROEA

Number of

award shares

R2023F1H1H At 1 January 2023 1,270,000
B8 (M) Vested (Note) (1,270,000)
B2 Forfeited -
R2023F12 831 H At 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024

K2024F12 H31 8 -

PiEE - 72022412 A31H + 1R #2020 Note: As at 31 December 2022, there were 1,270,000 granted award
F iR 1p B2 B FT BI# Y 1,270,000 shares under 2020 Share Award Scheme have not been vested
AR EE B AR 17 8 R ER 8 - Th R R 4B since corresponding grantees have not satisfied the performance
EAEEAREBBRERRTEE conditions during the vesting period. According to the 2020 Share
BUg A  ARHR 2020 5F e 1 £E B = Award Scheme, these granted award shares were vested in 2023 as
2 ZEEREEERH R 2023 the performance conditions were fulfilled.

FRCEREBEHMERE o

HZE2024F12831BIEFE - # During the year ended 31 December 2024, no share award was
EARYE 2020 F A 17 82 Eh At &1 3% 48 granted under the 2020 Share Award Scheme.
BORn
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33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

Share award scheme (Continued)

2020 Share Award Scheme (Continued)

The fair value of award shares was calculated using the Monte-
Carlo simulation. The key inputs into the model were as follows:

24 December

B Ra A RIS

PAn (B

RERE B BE U B
EETFH

AR B

TE AR B et

£ —HEREE R X

B LR E R R R

Key inputs 2020
Share price HKD3.20/% 7T
Closing price condition on vesting date HKD4.16 7T
Expected life 10 years
Expected volatility 41.92%
Expected dividend yield 0.00%
Risk-free rate for the first tranche 0.08%
Risk-free rate for the second tranche 0.07%

REEEGAREZLERNDOEE
HA 45 3R B 8 B8 (AN SR 18] 9 2020 4F %
BANBHFEE L ([FRHARB T
E]) LETEBBENBRHNURKRS
RERHHER IS - R 2024
F12A310 - BHBEERETHA
85.93% (2023 4 : 85.93%) °

EREEREBNROERHHED
B DR BLTE 5B B4 SR ATZ IR
2% %19 58 Bh14.07% (2023 4F -
14.07%) KB A - BERWAET
AR BERZ AR -

The Group shall estimate the expected yearly percentage of
the 2020 Grantee that will stay within the Group at the end
of the vesting periods of the granted shares (the “Expected
Retention Rate”) in order to determine the amount of share-
based compensation expenses charged to profit or loss. As at 31
December 2024, the Expected Retention Rate was assessed to be
85.93% (2023: 85.93%).

The number of share awards granted expected to vest has been
reduced to reflect historical experience of forfeiture of 14.07% (2023:
14.07%) of share awards granted prior to completion of the vesting
period and accordingly the share-based payment expense has
been adjusted.
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MR 2022128318 » ARAE
M2022F E/ AR BITUHE T
52,024,000% 82 B A% 15 72 20224F
4248 - 20229 108 28H & 2024
F3A228  NEERIE 2022F %
MEBEHE SRR 73BEEM
ARET - 6HAKBEIURSH
EEREBRBI([2022F % KAL)
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33.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

Share award scheme (Continued)

2022 Share Award Scheme

The Company's 2022 share award scheme (the “2022 Share Award
Scheme"”) was adopted pursuant to a board resolution passed on
24 April 2022 for the primary purpose of providing incentives to
directors and eligible employees to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group, and will expire on 23
April 2032. Under the 2022 Share Award Scheme, the board of
the Company or an authorised person may grant share awards to
eligible employees, including directors of the Company. Pursuant
to the 2022 Share Award Scheme, the award shares will be satisfied
by the issue and allotment of new shares to a trust constituting
the trust deed to service the 2022 Share Award Scheme (the 2022
Trust”), and the Company appointed the Trustee acted as the
administrator of the Company’s 2022 Share Award Scheme.

The total number of the award shares made pursuant to the 2022
Share Award Scheme shall not exceed 2.657% of the total number
of issued shares as at 24 April 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company issued and allotted
52,024,000 award shares to the 2022 Trust. On 24 April 2022, 28
October 2022 and 22 March 2024, 52,024,000, 2,580,000 and
8,470,000 award shares were granted by the Group to its 73
directors and eligible employees, 6 eligible employees, and 5
director and eligible employees, respectively (the “2022 Grantee”),
pursuant to the 2022 Share Award Scheme.
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33.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

Share award scheme (Continued)

2022 Share Award Scheme (continued)

Subject to the satisfaction of the vesting criteria and conditions of
the award letter, the award shares shall be vested in three tranches,
(i) 30% of the award shares shall vest on the first anniversary date of
the grant date, (i) 30% of the award shares shall vest on the second
anniversary date of the grant date, and (iii) 40% of the award shares
shall vest on the third anniversary date of the grant date. When
the relevant 2022 Grantee has satisfied all vesting conditions and
becomes entitled to the shares forming the subject of the award,
the Trustee shall transfer the relevant granted shares to the 2022
Grantee in accordance with the scheme rules. Each of the 2022
Grantee further agreed to the Company that, upon vesting of the
award shares, the vested award shares can only be sold when the
latest closing price per share stated on the daily quotation sheet of
the Stock Exchange is no less than HKDé6.5 per share.

Movements in the number of award shares outstanding are as
follows:

RBROEE

2022 2022 & 2024 %
48241 108 28H 3H22H

22 March

24 April 28 October
Number of award shares 2022 2022 2024

R2023F1H1H At 1 January 2023 47,900,000 2,580,000 -
[ Vested (10,600,000) (459,000) -
220 Forfeited (1,171,000) - -
MN2023F12A31H At 31 December 2023 36,129,000 2,121,000 -
BT Granted - - 8,470,000
BB Vested (8,977,000) (555,000) -
28U Forfeited (15,352,000) (794,000) -
MN2024512 A31H At 31 December 2024 11,800,000 772,000 8,470,000
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33.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

Share award scheme (Continued)

2022 F Rt 5E B2 (48) 2022 Share Award Scheme (Continued)
BRI OO RFEDER ZEAE The fair value of award shares was calculated using the Binomial
AISHESH - ZIRA A4 A 2R model. The key inputs into the model were as follows:
B
2022 F 2022 F 2024 5
4H24H 10H 28H 3H22H
24 April 28 October 22 March
B A BB Key inputs 2022 2022 2024
IRAD(B1 Share price HKD5.757%7C HKD4.45787C HKD6.19787T
HE R Condition of sale HKD6.50/#7C  HKD6.50/#7C  HKD6.507# 7T
FEEtF Expected life 10 F years 10 years 10 years
TEHA R & Expected volatility 38.330% 36.967% 36.371%
TE BAAR B W an = Expected dividend yield 4.217% 4.389% 8.500%
I N =R Risk-free interest rate 2.784% 3.634% 3.523%

BHEBERARRMERTESR
AL RBIMEL FHF(CRRE -
AR AL AR ) TR HR AR IR AN Lt 5R
fERAF A6

AEBERZEERESEGEK2022
FARBATBHEETEREMBERS
ERMERAESUEH TN - HE

2022 F Rkt B2 Ep AT &I A TE B 3R B
K LETEBENBRAURG A
EMaHER R - R2024F
128318 * BRI 2022 F R 1D 2B
FTEI72022F 4 A24 8 ~ 2022410
A28 B %2024 3 22 B EREE
B E - TEESEBES RIS
#5546.83% ~ 56.47% K. 66.11% (2023
G 61.84%  6419% RE) ©
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Expected volatility was determined by using the historical average
annualised daily volatility of the Company and comparable
companies within the same industry. The expected life used in the
model is in accordance with the vesting conditions as described
above.

The Group shall estimate the expected vesting ratio of the 2022
Share Award Scheme based on comprehensive consideration
of expected retention rate and the possibility of achievement of
relevant performance conditions of each eligible 2022 Grantee
in order to determine the amount of share-based compensation
expenses charged to profit or loss. As at 31 December 2024, the
average expected vesting ratios were assessed to be 46.83%,
56.47% and 66.11% (2023: 61.84%, 64.19% and nil) for the award
shares granted on 24 April 2022, 28 October 2022 and 22 March
2024 under the 2022 Share Award Scheme respectively.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

Share award scheme (Continued)

2022 Share Award Scheme (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recognised total
expenses of RMB7,861,000 (2023: RMB39,068,000) in the profit
or loss in relation to share award granted under the 2022 Share
Awards Scheme.

At the end of each year, the Group revises its estimates of the
number of share awards under the 2022 Share Award Scheme
that are expected to vest ultimately. The impact of the revision
of the estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share-based payment reserve.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of the state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the
PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the
specified contributions.

There is no forfeited contribution that may be used to reduce the
existing level of contributions under the Group's state-managed
retirement benefits schemes.
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35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes interest-bearing amounts due to related parties, net of
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital, retained earnings and
other reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of existing debt.
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36. €@ T A 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
) €T REHA

FHH ST ARRE R

(a) Categories of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

BREIMENT : instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

2024 F 2024

EHEE Financial assets

BES
BARE
FFAHEMEH
R
BEERERE

Financial

BHEEH
BATE
SHAMBIERN
SHAE

B BREY
THEE
assets

Financial assets

at FVTPL designated Financial

Mandatorily

designated
as such
ARETT
RMB'000

at FVTOCI
Equity
investments
ARETT
RMB'000

assets at
amortised
cost
AR®TT
RMB'000

Total
AREETTT
RMB’000

BRAFEFAEMEE  Equity investments
WEs BRI at FVTOCI - 49,409 - 49,409
B NEMBERFIE ©  Trade and other
e MIB A receivables,
deposits and
prepayments - - 1,092,730 1,092,730
JE M BRI ESE 75 R R Amounts due from
related parties - - 493,757 493,757
BN EFTAEZMNE  Financial assets at
MEE FVTPL 5,000 - - 5,000
EHERITER Pledged bank
deposits - - 228,928 228,928
RITEB LIRS Bank balances and
cash - - 1,518,287 1,518,287
et Total 5,000 49,409 3,333,702 3,388,111
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2024 (Continued)

Financial liabilities

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

BATE
AR
SRAMN

Financial
liabilities at
FVTPL
AREBT T
RMB’000

RE SR A
Sl BR Y
TR E
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
ARETT
RMB'000

Total
ARBFTT
RMB’000

B NRHMEMNFIE  Trade and other payables - 1,066,919 1,066,919
JESTEERSE 75 R AR Amounts due to related parties - 420,702 420,702
WATEFABZNE  Financial liabilities at FVTPL

mEE 151,034 - 151,034
4ET Total 151,034 1,487,621 1,638,655
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

2023 F 2023
THEE Financial assets
EER
BEIEER BRAYE
BRAFE SAHMEZE S E
AN KRS BRAFIBR Y
Financial
Financial assets assets
at FVTPL designated Financial
Mandatorily at FVTOCI assets at
designated Equity amortised
as such investments cost Total
ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BAFERFAEM  Equity
2T s B AR A investments at
wE FVTOCI - 56,625 - 56,625
Hh REEUGKIE  Other long-term
receivables - - 129,394 129,394
B REMEWFK  Trade and other
1B e MFER receivables,
IR deposits and
prepayments - - 815,708 815,708
JE Lk R BSE 75 R 3R Amounts due
from related
parties - - 474,422 474,422
HAFEFTAEZE  Financial assets
MWERMEE at FVTPL 41,324 - - 41,324
EHERITER Pledged bank
deposits - - 165,436 165,436
RITHESBR LR Bank balances
and cash - - 2,044,377 2,044,377
45 Total 41,324 56,625 3,629,337 3,727,286
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2023 (Continued)

Financial liabilities

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

BATE
AR
SRAMN

Financial
liabilities at
FVTPL
AREBT T
RMB’000

RE SR A
Sl BR Y
TR E
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
ARETT
RMB'000

Total
ARBFTT
RMB’000

B NRHMEMNFIE  Trade and other payables - 971,284 971,284
JESTEERSE 75 R AR Amounts due to related parties - 395,246 395,246
BN ES AEZNE  Financial liabilities at FVTPL

BAE 122,208 - 122,208
BET Total 122,208 1,366,530 1,488,738
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include equity
instruments at FVTOCI, other long-term receivables, trade and
other receivables, amounts due from related parties, pledged
bank deposits, bank balances and cash, financial assets at
FVTPL, trade and other payables, amounts due to related
parties and financial liabilities at FVTPL. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The management of the Group manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

The Company and two subsidiaries of the Group located in
Hong Kong have foreign currency bank balances which expose
the Group to foreign currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary bank balances at the end of the year
are as follows:

2024 F 2023 F
2024 2023

AR®BTR ARETRT

RMB’000 RMB'000

BT

59,627 39,762
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange
hedging policy. However, the management of the Group
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign exchange exposure should the
need arise.

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5% (2023:
5%) increase and decrease in RMB against HKD, 5% represents
management's assessment of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding HKD denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the year end for a 5% change in foreign
currency rates. A negative number below indicates a decrease
in post-tax profit where RMB strengthens by 5% against the
relevant currency. For a 5% weakening of HKD against the
relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on pre-tax profit and other comprehensive income.

2023 F
2023
AREETIT
RMB'000

2024 %
2024

AR®TR
RMB’000

Profit or loss

(2,981) (1,988)
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate pledged bank deposits, other receivables, other
long-term receivables, amounts due from related parties,
amounts due to related parties and other payables. The Group
is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate pledged bank deposits and bank balances. The
Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy
to mitigate interest rate risk; nevertheless, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate risk should the need arise.

If the interest rate had been 5 basis points (2023: 5 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group's post-tax profit would have increased/decreased
by RMB824,000 (2023: increased/decreased by RMB1,159,000)
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in unlisted equity securities measured at FVTOCI
and FVTPL. The Group monitors the price risk and will consider
hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risk at the reporting date. If the prices
of the equity instruments had been 10% (2023: 10%) higher/
lower, FVTOCI reserve would have increased/decreased by
RMB3,706,000 (2023: increased/decreased by RMB4,247,000)
for the year ended 31 December 2024, profit or loss would
have increased/decreased by RMB375,000 (2023: nil) for the
year ended 31 December 2024.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’'s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group is arose from the carrying amounts of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributed to its trade
receivables, other receivables, amounts due from related
parties, other long-term receivables, pledged bank deposits,
bank balances and contract assets. Except for loans to third
parties recognised as other receivables and other long-term
receivables are secured by collateral as detailed in Note 25
and Note 23 respectively, all other financial assets are without
collateral or credit enhancement.

Trade receivables, contract assets and trade related amounts due

from related parties arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has policies
in place to ensure that sales are made to purchasers with an
appropriate financial strength and appropriate percentage of
down payments. It also has other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model upon application of IFRS 9 on trade balances
individually or based on provision matrix, as appropriate.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Other receivables, non-trade related amounts due from related
parties and other long-term receivables due from related parties

The credit risk of other receivables, non-trade related amounts
due from related parties and other long-term receivables due
from related parties is managed through an internal process.
The Group actively monitors the outstanding amounts owed
by each debtor and uses past due information to assess
whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition.

Secured loans to third parties recognised as other receivables and
other long-term receivables

The management estimates the estimated loss rates of
secured loans to third parties based on credit quality of the
debtors as well as the fair value of the collateral pledged
by the debtors to the loans. Based on assessment by the
management, for the loans that are not past due, the loss
given default is low in view of the estimated realised amount
of ultimate disposal of the collateral and the management
considers the ECL for loans to third parties is insignificant and
therefore no loss allowance has been recognised. For loans
that are overdue, the management individually assesses the
credit risk for these loans. Details of secured loans to third
parties recognised as other receivables and other long-term
receivables are set out in Note 25 and Note 23 respectively.

Bank balances and cash and pledged bank deposits

Cash deposits are mainly placed with state-owned financial
institutions and reputable banks which are all high-credit
quality financial institutions, therefore the Group's credit risk
on liquid funds is limited.
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36. £R T A (%) 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
b) eREAREEEEREE (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(#8) (Continued)
1= E R 2R EFF G (1) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
REBEHEWHIE - 548 The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment for trade
ERR SEENEKERE R receivables, contract assets and trade related amounts due
RS EEERRSERTHBE from related parties comprises the following categories:
AR

AEREE R Al RUFEBRBANEIER

Internal credit Basis for recognition of

rating Description expected credit loss provision

VERNE RHKEDRRELR ST BEERNA 2HRHEEER - BEEH
BiEE - (il

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default or counterparty Lifetime ECL - not credit-
frequently repays after due dates. impaired

2= BBAERSINEER - EERRED SHEHMEEEE - BEEHR
IRTER % B RIRIE N (El

Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since initial ~ Lifetime ECL - not credit-
recognition through information developed internally or impaired

external resources.

1R ARBERNZEELRIEERIE - THEPEEEE — FERE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired. Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired

7 RRBERNEBALHRRENRNEER ABRIREZIH
AEEERKEFIENATIRT

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe Amount is written off

financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery.
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36. £R T A (%) 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
b) eREAREEEEREE (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(#8) (Continued)
1= E R 2R EFF G (1) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
REBHEMBYTIE - Efh &K The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment for other
HAEW I R IER S EMEM E receivables, other long-term receivables and non-trade related
W F R RN EER KRS amounts due from related parties comprises the following
BEHEBFELA TR categories:

AEREE R Al RUFEBRBANEIER

Internal credit Basis for recognition of

rating Description expected credit loss provision

B4 R 57 ENERIE LI BB EFIE - NEAEREEER
Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have ~ 12-month ECL

any past-due amounts.

{EE 2 RHpHTRIBERIDAFRITANRSR R2EREREERE
EEEMELS - BARERRR ST EEK
AIEBAELT -

Low risk The counterparty still has a strong capacity to meet 12-month ECL

contractual cash flows after due date and the Group
considers that the counterparty can settle in full afterwards.

BEaE BEeal  BAKERRBEIGTHEREL SHEMEEEE - BEER
M= R 2 R IEIE N - (El
Watch list Repayments are overdue and the Group considers that there  Lifetime ECL - not credit-
is significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. impaired
ez BECal  BAKERRENTEE - FHRHEERE - GERE
Doubtful Repayments are overdue and the Group considers that default Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired

has occurred.

B8 ARBEBTZEETIHIRE - FHEMEERE - EERE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is fully impaired. Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired

%3 ARBBERNEBALHRRENRNEER ARAFOREZIE
AEBEERREFIENI YT

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe Amount is written off

financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery.
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36. £R T A (%) 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
b) eREAREEEEREE (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(#8) (Continued)
1= E R 2R EFF G (1) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
TRFAFMBETEREESE The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the
FENAEECREERED Group's financial assets and contract assets which are subject
BEFEERR - to ECL assessment:

1288528 2024 20235
MBEETR  ABEETR AHEERE REAE FEAE
External Internal 12-month or 2024 Gross 2023 Gross

credit rating credit rating lifetime ECL carrying amount  carrying amount
(i ARBTR ARETR
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000

RBERATIRNERER
Financial assets at
amortised cost

BHRYGE 5 TER HHE() THRHEERR 467,313 214,512
Trade receivables N/A Note (i) (BEEEHE)
Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired)
3 SHRHEEER - 100
Doubtful (BEEHE)
Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired)
B rHRHEERR 20,920 7,011
Loss (EERE)
Lifetime ECL

(credit-impaired)

488,233 221,623
RS EBHERER S R 38(i) @A MEE() SHRHMEERE 491 173
Trade related amounts due N/A Note (i) (BEERE)
from related parties Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired)
B8 THRHEEER 700 700
Loss (EERE)
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
1,191 873
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36. €@ T A (&) 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
b) cEBEEAEREE (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(48) (Continued)
1= E R 2R EFF G (1) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
TREFMAEETEREEEE The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the
FENAEECREERED Group's financial assets and contract assets which are subject
BEFERR : (&) to ECL assessment: (Continued)
128521 2024 20235
NBEETR  ABEEIR AHEERR RHAE EmaE
External Internal 12-month or 2024 Gross 2023 Gross
credit rating credit rating lifetime ECL carrying amount  carrying amount
BizE ARETT ARETT
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
BN 5 @A B4 (B3 i) NEABHEEEE - 205,700
Other receivables N/A Performing (Note (iii)) ~ 12-month ECL
BORERR NEARHEEEE 433,320 234,844
Performing and 12-month ECL
Low risk
BRLE rHRHEERE 258,060 200,285
Watch list (BEEERE)
Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired)
FREER SHEHEEER 1,785 1,760
Doubtful and Loss (FERE)
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
693,165 642,589
HXFEENEL 38(i) TER B REREHREEER 495,927 476,545
B R N/A Performing 12-month ECL
Non-trade related amounts due
from related parties
At REENE 23 @A B NEABHEEEE - 130,000
Other long-term receivables N/A Performing 12-month ECL
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36. €@ T A (&) 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS(CONTINUED)
b) eREAREEEEREE (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(48) (Continued)
1= E R 2R EFF G (1) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
TRFAFMBETEREESE The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the
FENAEECREERED Group's financial assets and contract assets which are subject
BEFERR : (&) to ECL assessment: (Continued)
12{8 A2 2024 20235
MBEETRE  ABEETR EHEERR REAE EmaE
External Internal 12-month or 2024 Gross 2023 Gross
credit rating credit rating lifetime ECL carrying amount  carrying amount
fizE ARBTR ARBTT
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
BHEBETER 28 AMAZEA(FEE (i) ~Em REABRHEESE 228,928 165,436
Pledged bank deposits AAA - A (Note (i) N/A 12-month ECL
RITEBRRRS 28 AMAFA(MEG) MER REARSEERE 1,518,287 2,044,377
Bank balances and cash AAA - A (Note (i) N/A 12-month ECL
AlEE 2% TER () rHRHEERR 1,459,323 951,534
Contract assets N/A Note () (BEERE)
Lifetime ECL (not credit-
impaired)
B PHESEERR 2,494 3215
Loss (fFEHE)
Lifetime ECL (credit-
impaired)
1,461,817 954,749
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS(CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes:

i)

(iii)

For trade receivables, trade related amounts due from related
parties and contract assets, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. Except for debtors with significant outstanding balances
or credit-impaired, the Group determines the expected credit
losses on these items by using a provision matrix based on
ageing of debtors.

External credit rating disclosed by the counterparty financial
institutions and banks, majority of which are located in the PRC.

The ECL is on these assets is assessed individually for debtors
with credit risk characteristics that are significantly different
from other counterparties. For the years ended 31 December
2023, the Group has not recognised the loss allowance for
certain other receivables since the value of collateral pledged
for these other receivables was much higher than their carrying
amount and there was no significant change in the quality of the
collateral as at 31 December 2023.
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WHIE - EREERR SIEH
HEKBERNEREED R A
A R #20,920,0007T « A R #&
2,494,0007T & A R #700,000
TL(2023 4 : EHEWGFIE - &
[E & B I X 5 A8 B8 1Y JE Uk A B
A RFH R BARK 7,111,000
gL+ AR#3,215000t R AR
#700,0007T) - BT -

Annual Report 2024

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Provision matrix — debtors’ ageing

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group uses
debtors’ ageing to assess the impairment for its customers
including those who are the related parties of the Group in
relation to its project management service and construction
design service because these operating segments have a large
number of small customers with common risk characteristics
that are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all
the amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms.
The Group assessed the impairment for its customers from
these operating segments separately, and the information
about the exposure to credit risk for these trade receivables,
contract assets and trade related amounts due from related
parties based on provision matrix as at 31 December 2024
and 2023 within lifetime ECL (not credit impaired) is presented
below. Debtors with significant outstanding balances of or
credit-impaired trade receivables, contract assets and trade
related amounts due from related parties with gross carrying
amounts of RMB20,920,000, RMB2,494,000 and RMB700,000
respectively as at 31 December 2024 (2023: trade receivables,
contract assets and trade related amounts due from related
parties of RMB7,111,000, RMB3,215,000 and RMB700,000
respectively) were assessed individually.
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36. R T H () 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
b) cEBEEAEREE (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(&) (Continued)
1= E R 2R EFF G (1) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
FEEIEE — [EUBR SR () Provision matrix — debtors’ ageing (Continued)
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
FHERE EZEWRE FHEER ZHEIEIE
Average loss Trade  Average loss Trade
rate receivables rate receivables
AR¥ET T ARET T AREFT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
RE#AE Gross carrying amount
180 K Within 180 days 5.89% 356,637 5.70% 173,843
180 £ 365K 180 to 365 days 6.36% 33,189 6.40% 14,663
365 KA E Over 365 days 8.72% 77,487 22.82% 26,006

467,313 214,512

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
FiEER BHEE T EE=R BHEE

Average loss Contract  Average loss Contract

rate assets rate assets
AR¥ET T AR¥T ARETIT ARETIT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

FmaE Gross carrying amount 7.86% 1,459,323 6.40% 951,534
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36. @ T A (&) 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b) EREMEZEBRERBE (b)
(%)

=B R B EE ()

FEBIERE — EWAR IR (&)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Provision matrix — debtors’ ageing (Continued)

MBI FEW FERERFE I

FHEEE  BEAXAR THEBRX  BEMAKK
Trade related Trade related

amounts due amounts due

Average loss from related  Average loss  from related

rate parties rate parties
AR¥TR AR®TR ARETT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

REAE Gross carrying amount
180K Within 180 days

4.70% 491 3.12% 173

AT E IR R T ER B W BRRIE
HEANBEBREMGENX
NBAMNEBERARE ) H
FIERM AT S ERMEESH -

TREJNE HEWKIE - &

KB E M 5 1R HY e UL B
T RFBBEE T ERRBOE
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The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

The following table shows the movements in lifetime ECL that
has been recognised for trade receivables, contract assets
and trade related amounts due from related parties under the
simplified approach.
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36. ¢RI HE (&)

b) eREAREEEEREE (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(48) (Continued)

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

=B R B EE ()

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

FEBIERE — EWAR IR (&)

Provision matrix — debtors’ ageing (Continued)

2 HAFR

FEEE 2HATEH

(BEE FEEE

wE) (EERE)

Lifetime ECL Lifetime

(not credit- ECL (credit-

impaired) impaired)

AR¥TT AR¥T

RMB’000 RMB’000
7"2023F12A31H At 1 January 2023 55,886 13,813 69,699
- EREEERE — Transfer to credit-impaired (111) 111 -
- EERREEE — Impairment losses recognised 47,693 3,041 50,734
- BB BRI EEE — Impairment losses reversed (25,701) (4,091) (29,792)
— W EH — Write-offs - (1,948) (1,948)
M"2023F12A31H At 31 December 2023 77,767 10,926 88,693
- BB EERE — Transfer to credit-impaired (984) 984 -
- BHERBEEE — Impairment losses recognised 82,971 21,461 104,432
- B LORERE — Impairment losses reversed (15,200) (3,896) (19,096)
— hsH — Write-offs - (5,361) (5,361)
7 2024%12H31H At 31 December 2024 144,554 24,114 168,668
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36. €M T A (&) 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
b) eREAREEEEREE (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(48) (Continued)
1= E R 2R EFF G (1) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
B EAEIE — EMAR AR () Provision matrix — debtors’ ageing (Continued)
ZoRBFIE - EHEERR Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables, contract
2 1R 8 FE W BE Bt 77 R K B assets and trade related amounts due from related parties are
FTEAR mainly due to:

2024 £ 2023 4F
2024 2023
2HEHER SHBHEE
EEEm (i) EiaEm Cid)
Increase/(decrease) Increase/(decrease)
in lifetime ECL in lifetime ECL
BEERE FERE EEERE FERE
Not credit- Credit- Not credit- Credit-

impaired impaired impaired impaired
ARBTRT ARBTR AR%TT ARET:E
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ATEMBEAAR  Several new trade debtors

# 397,770,000 7T with a gross carrying of

(20235 : ARM RMB397,770,000 (2023:

335,914,00070) K% RMB335,914,000)

S EUER 23,405 - 19,149 -
LERYEBIREE Several settlement in full

AARE 26,912,000  of trade debtors with a

TC(2023% : AR®  gross carrying amount

42,057,00070) WE S of RMB26,912,000 (2023:

FEUERFX RMB42,057,000) (1,534) - (2,469) -

290 Annual Report 2024



36. ¢RI HE (&)
b) eREAREEEEREE

(#&)

=B R B EE ()
RBIERE — NP EBATAR

TRIBH A B E MR GRIE -
FEZX 5 HE B8 MY JE U B B 5 R K
MEMRBAERKRBNEER
S MNTEREEBENER - %
EREELLRFTE o Br it
NE BRI - AEEE—
HRTEE A EGRIA - FEX 5
TR A IR B B 5 R S R HoAh
REERWFBRRE - 11218
RAEBEEERERZHEE
BEERB(EEZERE) RER
2024 % 2023412 A31 8
T8 1 B P BT Ay A L i P W R IE
KM EWKEE A RN EERR
BER DRI TR o K& E &
EEMRTEMES AR 2024 F
12ANHBEAEAARK
417,636,000 7T (20234 : A R
# 407,460,000 7T ) 812 ERE
H b YR B A {E B RRAS o

MERERERAT
RE MR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20245128318
31 December 2024

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Provision matrix — internal credit rating

The following table provides information about the exposure
to credit risk and ECL for other receivables, non-trade related
amounts due from related parties and other long-term
receivables which are assessed collectively. In addition to
the internal credit ratings as stated above, the Group further
assessed the impairment for other receivables, non-trade
related amounts due from related parties and other long-
term receivables, and the information about the exposure to
credit risk for these other receivables and amounts due from
related parties based on provision matrix as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 within 12-month ECL and lifetime ECL (not
credit impaired) is a presented below respectively. Debtors
with significant outstanding balances of or credit-impaired
with gross carrying amount of RMB417,636,000 for other
receivables as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB407,460,000)
were assessed individually.

2024 2023 F
2024 2023
FHEEE HtREWRE - THEERXR  HtEREoE
Average Other Average Other
loss rate receivables loss rate receivables
ARMT T ARETT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
REAE Gross carrying amount
B4 Performing 0.21% 252,731 0.31% 234,684
Ve Low risk 17.47% 10,264 16.20% 160
BxyE Watch list 21.61% 12,535 21.05% 285
275,530 235,129
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36. ¢RI HE (&)

b) EREMREEBEERBRE
(%)

=B R B EE ()

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

B — AR E R (B)

Provision matrix — internal credit rating (Continued)

2024 F

2024
FR71EE
o P W B 75
FHIEEE R

Non-trade

related

amounts due

Average from related
loss rate parties
ARMT T

RMB'000

2023 F
2023

R HIEH
Golidideclpa
FHEER R
Non-trade
related
amounts due
Average  from related

loss rate parties

ARETT
RMB'000

fREAE
B4

Gross carrying amount

Performing 0.48% 495,927

0.48% 476,545

2024 %
2024
e s — & BR
R EMRE
e e
Other
long-term

FHERE

receivables
Average due from a

loss rate

related party

AR®T R
RMB’'000

20235
2023
JEU— 5 A
TR R
FEWRIR
Other
long-term

FHRIRE

receivables

Average due from a
loss rate  related party
ARBTT
RMB'000

SREAE
R

Gross carrying amount
Performing = -

0.47% 130,000
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Provision matrix — internal credit rating (Continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information about specific
debtors is updated.

The following table shows the movements in lifetime ECL
and 12-month ECL that have been recognised for other
receivables, non-trade related amounts due from related
parties and other long-term receivables.

2HEME 2HREHE

128 # EEE EBE
HEEEE (BEEERE) (EERE)
Lifetime ECL Lifetime

(not credit- ECL (credit-

12-month ECL impaired) impaired) Total

ARBTR AR®TR ARETR AR%ET=R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

R2023F1H1H At1 January 2023 4,590 60 1,760 6,410
-BHERREEE - Impairment losses

recognised 1,345 22,101 - 23,446
- BRERESE — Impairment losses reversed (2,296) - - (2,296)
7202312 A31H At 31 December 2023 3,639 22,161 1,760 27,560
-BHERARBEEE - Impairment losses

recognised 6,304 7,035 25 13,364
-DREEREEE - Impairment losses reversed (152) - - (152)
A 2024%12 A 318 At 31 December 2024 9,791 29,196 1,785 40,772
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Provision matrix — internal credit rating (Continued)
Changes in the loss allowance for other receivables, non-trade

related amounts due from related parties and other long-term
receivables are mainly due to:

2023 F
2023
ZHATEER{E
EEEEm
Increase in
lifetime ECL
ARBFT
N/ [=H0[00]

2024 F
2024
EHEBIE
BEERIEM

Increase in
lifetime ECL
ARETT
RMB’000

HIHRREEAARE
245,525,000 TR IR 5
FEURBRFR (2023 4F « ARHE
237,942,000 7T)

Several new

non-trade debtors

with a gross carrying amount of
RMB245,525,000 (2023: RMB237,942,000)

29,196 22,101

RERRBECRRE K&
BEEMBEEBRSREN
MREMREEEBYKFLR
SENZEREES  WER
BERRENBNTE

TRFMRIE 15 & KK
AREEREITESBBENS
TEHWER - ZRIIREBEARSE
BREERABAERINDN
TREBERTARSREMER
EoZREENELETERS
mE e
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Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the
agreed repayment terms. The table has been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity and interest risk tables

As at 31 December 2024

ik 82 BRER BT
E/BRE —FHUT RERE REE
Weighted
average  On demand Total
interest rate/ or less than 1 undiscounted Carrying

discount rate year 1to5years  cash flows amount

ARETRE  ARBTR AR®TRT ARETR AR®TR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000

TS REE Non-derivative financial
liabilities

B REMERTE Trade and other payables

- B —fixed rate 12.00% 21,133 - 21,133 20,467

-RE - interest-free - 1,046,452 - 1,046,452 1,046,452
FERTBRRE 5 R% Amounts due to related parties

- EEHE —fixed rate 15.00% 14,946 - 14,946 14,946

) —interest-free - 405,756 - 405,756 405,756
HEaRE Lease liabilities 5.40% 5,997 4,738 10,735 10,445
BRTE AR Financial liabilities at FVTPL

TRAE 3.60% 151,488 - 151,488 151,034
202412 A318 As at 31 December 2024 1,645,772 4,738 1,650,510 1,649,100
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(48) (Continued)
REELEE (&) Liquidity risk (Continued)
TBES RFERGE (&) Liquidity and interest risk tables (Continued)

2023512431 H

As at 31 December 2023

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

¥ BRER BIERT

iz BRE —FHUT RERE
Weighted

average  On demand Total

interest rate/ or less than 1 undiscounted
discount rate year 1to5years  cash flows
ARETR ARBTR AR®TR AR%®TR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

REE

Carrying
amount
ARBTR
RMB'000

ETEsRmaE Non-derivative financial
liabilities

B AR ERTE Trade and other payables

- EEME ~ fixed rate 13.13% 28,313 - 28,313 25,653

-&8 —interest-free - 945,631 - 945,631 945,631
ERER A R Amounts due to related parties

- EENE - fixed rate 15.00% 15,001 - 15,001 14,555

88 —interest-free - 380,691 - 380,691 380,691
HEaRE Lease liabilities 5.40% 4,541 3,520 8,061 1,577
RATEABESN  Financial liabilities at FVTPL

SREE 3.50% - 126,803 126,803 122,208
R0BE12A3NA  Asat 31 December 2023 AT 130323 1504500 1496315
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36. €T A (&) 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c) EMIEMAFEFE (c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments
RBLREMEER N FETEL Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities that are
FrEFHEERBELFE measured at fair value on a recurring basis
REFBRDPEHEENSHE Some of the Group's financial assets are measured at fair value
HREATEFE - TREMH at the end of each reporting period. The following table gives
HEemEEATFEETE A information about how the fair values of these financial assets
(%R =T R E BT R 8 A BL are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and
B)HER - inputs used).

$RIA LYE LYESR  GERWRERBANE EXTTBERALE

Financial Fairvalue  Valuation techniques

instruments Fair value hierarchy ~ and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs

BREERRE RAVEARBEE 238 WNE - e - BRASREARINGTER  BREA00% (20235 - 5.4%) (R ()
Unquoted equity investments PARATA : Level 3 HRAMARRELERERENRE - Discount rate of 5.0% (2023: 5.4%) (Note (i)

AR 11,954,000 7T Income approach - in this approach, the

(053 discounted cash flow method was used to

ARE11,1270007T) capture the present value of the expected

Equity instrument at dividend income and ultimate disposal

RTOC! proceeds.

RMB11,954,000

(2023: RMB11,127,000)
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(c) EMIEMNDFEE
(&)
REREMERE N FENEN
FEHEHBEERESEAFHE
(4)

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c)
(Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities that are

measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

$RIE
Financial
instruments

178

Fair value

AY¥ESR
Fair value
hierarchy

[EERIRBREALS

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

EXFTRRAALE

Significant unobservable inputs

BOTEARNZE
WASRATA -
AR 14946 00070
(20035
AE%227480007T)

Equity instrument at
ATOC
RMBI4,946,000
(2023 RMB22,748,000)

BRATEHALRZE
BASRATA -
AEE210190007
(2003
AR 27500007)

Equity instruments at
ATOCI
RMB21,019,000
(2023: RMB22,750,000)
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234
Level3

W5 - Nihs  ~BARIESNEENE
KB EAR (75 L REE RN AR
LB ER -

Market approach - in this approach, the value of
an asset or security s based upon development
of ratios of merket prices which investors are
paying for similar assets or securities in the
market place.

234
Level3

BEFRERENENRETIRNE
SUEREEMAL AERRAR
BE AREEEENERAN
WAREMHE R FEL 2K
MEEREEENE LT ANEER
AEZARREMTE

The value of underlying net assets is based on
the expected net realisable value of properties
under development calculated by the
discounted future income generated from the
sales of such properties under development
in the future less costs to be incurred toreach
the sales condition, plus edjusted value of
other identifigble assets and liabilities of the
underlying net assets.

W5 - NiER  —BARIEANEED
ERTELESR (5 LoREEREN
LS UPA L)

Market approach - in this approach, the
velue of an asset o security is based upon
development of ratios of market prices
which investors are paying for similer assets
or securities in the market place.

B ARBERR 29952035 : 05%)
BBLINGE LR R ERER
(B i)

Discount for lack of marketability, determined
by reference to the share price of listed
entities in similar industries, of 29.9% (2023:
30.5%) (Note (i)

BRETRENEEENEREAT (0D
£:91%) FARRETAEREEE
EMIETSERRA (k)

Discount rate, used to determine the value of
properties under development, teking into
account weighted average cost of capital
(WACC) determined by using a Capital
Asset Pricing Model, of il (2023: 9.1%)
(Note (i)

PREREENZBENS T ARAERS
ERARET0TEARE N0
(0035 : ARB8S0TZARER07T)
(i ()

Expected price per square metre, used to
determine the value of properties under
development, ranging from RMB7,900 to
RMB32,800 (2023: RMBB, 500 to RMB32,800)
(Note (iv))
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities that are

measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

$RIE
Financial
instruments

1FE

Fair value

AHEER
Fair value
hierarchy

[EERIRBREALS

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

EXFTRRAALE

Significant unobservable inputs

ERIER AT E N ERH

Structured investment
(2023% -
ARE 41, 3240007T)

234
Level3

Financial asset at FVTPL: nil
(2023: RMB41,324,000)

RATETERE TRE
Unlisted investments, at fair value ARH5,000,000 7T

(3% %)

ROFEARENERER

224
Level 2

Financial asset at FVTPL:

RMBS,000,000 (2023:

S B RAE
Contingent consideration in &
business combination

ROVETAB&H
2RAE:

(0035 :

nil

234
Level3

AR 1510340007

NEE122,2080007)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL:
RMB151,034,000 (2023:

RMB122,208,000)

WAL Rt BRRSREERNHER
BHERARSELERETENGE -

Income approach - in this approach, the
discounted cash flow method was used to
capture the present value of the expected
interest income and ultimate disposal
proceeds.

REWAHE

Investment cost method

AR AR AR AN R AR
ARERLASENERRREENRRE -

Discounted cash flow method was used to
capture the present value of the expected
future economic benefits that will flow out
of the Group arising from the contingent
consideration, based on an appropriate
discount rate.

HREATER
(2023% : 1.8%) (&£ ()
Discount rate of N/A (2023: 1.8%) (Note ()
BEBAETER
(20035 - MR 43.0%) (H3E )
Expected loss rate of N/A (2023: retum rate
of 43.0%) (Note (v))

¥k
N/A

B R B 36% (20234 : 35%) (3£ ()
Discount rate of 3.6% (2023: 3.5%) (Note (i)
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group's financial assets and liabilities that are

measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

An increase in the discount rate used in isolation would result in
a decrease in the fair value measurement of the unquoted equity
investments, structured deposits, and contingent consideration
in a business combination, and vice versa.

An increase in the adjusted P/E ratio used in isolation would
result in an increase in the fair value measurement of the
unquoted equity investments, and vice versa.

An increase in the discount for lack of marketability used in
isolation would result in a decrease in the fair value measurement
of the unquoted equity investments, and vice versa.

An increase in the expected price per square metre used
in isolation would result in an increase in the fair value
measurement of the unquoted equity investments, and vice
versa.

An increase in the expected loss/return rate would result in a
decrease/increase in the fair value measurement of structured
deposits, and vice versa.
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36. €@ T A (&) 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(c) EMIEMNDFEE (c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(48) (Continued)
FIRNFHEAENEEKR Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

AT
AR BATE  BRATE
Eb  HARM  HAMN

NEMAE NLMAE NLMAMN

Financial Financial Financial
assets at assets at liabilities at
FVTOCI FVTPL FVTPL
ARETT ARt ARE¥Tx
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

R2023F1A1H At 1 January 2023 67,430 75,430 (88,867)
NEEE Fair value loss:
- —in profit or loss - (27,620) (33,341)
- REMmEERE — in other comprehensive (10,805) - -
income

BE Purchased - 320,000 -

HE Disposals - (326,486) -

R2024F12 A31H At 31 December 2024 56,625 41,324 (122,208)

NEEE Fair value loss:

-REm —in profit or loss - 519 (28,826)

- REMEERE — in other comprehensive (8,706) - -

income

BE Purchased 1,490 5,000 -

HE Disposals - (41,843) -

R2024F 12 A31H At 31 December 2024 49,409 5,000 (151,034)
I HRIFAEE B EZ N FEG Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are
ENTHBEERSHEBHAF not measured at fair value on a recurring basis (but fair value
1B (1B A% E N -FE) disclosures are required)
BEE2RA BEMBERRTBIL The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
BN ATENSHREEN® assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in
BEENERREERENRT the consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair
BiEAE - values.
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37. MEEHEL ZAEYHR 37. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

TRAMAEBEREBREETSD 28 The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising
BEES RIERERIFERSEDH- from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
HEEHELZABRAEERER changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
ARBEETEBAAEBLGERS which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
MEXRPOERMETHELEZH Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from
EME ° financing activities.

Hity P

AR HESE BNAKRE  BEAIXRE

Amounts

due to

Other Lease Dividend related

payables liabilities payable parties

ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

20231 A1 8 At 1 January 2023 26,017 17,008 618 13,050

MERERE Financing cash flows (3,514) (10,793) (748,761) -

FHE New leases - 5,099 - -

MEFEX Interest expenses 3,150 754 - 1,505

RAKRIETEE Early termination of lease - (4,491) - -
IR ERIRR RS Dividends to non-controlling

interests - - 116 -

EEIRKE Dividends declared - - 748,027 -

202312 A31 B At 31 December 2023 and

20241 418 1 January 2024 25,653 7,577 - 14,555
BMERERE Financing cash flows (7,608) (8,283) (988,626) -
FHE New leases - 11,432 - -
MERX Interest expenses 2,422 573 - 391
AR IERE Early termination of lease - (901) - -
PEE 3% 78 % Exchange realignment - 47 - -
RFEERR RIS  Dividends to non-controlling

interests - - 583 -
EEIRRE Dividends declared - - 988,043 -
F2024F 12 4318 At 31 December 2024 20,467 10,445 - 14,946
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

() During the year, in addition to those disclosed in
other notes to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group entered into the following transactions
with related parties:

(a) Provided project management services to related parties

2024 5 2023
2024 2023

izt ARWTRT ARETE
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

TR EREEAR
AR (TANTRR D)

MRANAPEEXARAR
(=zpavav=y)

TR EREREEAR AR
Zhejiang Greentown Shidai
Construction Management
Co., Ltd. ("Zhejiang Shidai”) (3) 181,374 107,069
MRANRREEXRARAT
Nanjing Liuhe Zhongtang Zhiye
Co., Ltd. (“"Nanjing Liuhe") (1) 21,890 8,427

MMBE TR ELREREEAR MMBTRELEEZREEAR

NG

BB REFEHEERERAR
~A]([HHEE))

MINARBLTi2TA R B AR
AR ([N R TR2IER
B ])

WREHFEEFEEEER
nAl([#E4 1)

NS
Hangzhou Qianjiang Lvxing Leju

Construction Management

Co., Ltd. (1M 18,992 71,009
BB S EFEHERZREEARA

Gl
Greentown Jingfeng Real Estate

Construction Management

Co., Ltd. ("Greentown

Jingfeng”) (3) 8,053 1,701
MM TIZTER B AR AR
Hangzhou Lvxing Project

Management Co., Ltd.

("Hangzhou Lvxing Project

Management”) (1) 7.741 21,009
WRGHEBEEEEEEAR AR
Shandong Lvxin Wanhe

Construction Management

Co., Ltd. (“Lvxin Wanhe") (3) 7,475 15,500
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

() During the year, in addition to those disclosed in
other notes to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group entered into the following transactions
with related parties: (Continued)

(a) Provided project management services to related parties
(Continued)

2024 £ 2023 F
2024 2023

iz ARWTRT ARETE
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

NG SRR EEREBR
NE) ([ER &)

HTAERE RN BR AT

B EREEREERR
N ([BRARELRE )

AR
BRSSP REIRER
A (8w ))

AL TR EE AR AR
(M&r3dE77 1)

EHFEREER AR

MMRKELZREEBR
A ([N ARIR D)

Annual Report 2024

MINAR R R ETRBR AR
Hangzhou Greentown Dingli

Construction Management

Co., Ltd. (“Greentown Dingli”) (3) 7.414 32,281
AT RIERHS IR BIRAF
Zhejiang Tuofeng Technology

Co., Ltd. (1 4,104 4,953
B EREEREEARAT
Lishui Lvxing Leju Construction

Management Co., Ltd.

(“Lishui Lvxing Leju”) (1 2,433 25,153
Greentown Lvming (3) 2,075 1,218
BEABARRARRERERAR
Hainan Lvcheng Lvming

Construction Management

Co., Ltd. ("Hainan Lvming”) (3) 1,513 572
WAL T ERERAR LA
Greentown Northern

Construction Management

Co., Ltd. ("Greentown

Northern”) (3) 1,229 3,479
BGGEHMERR AR
Wuxi Lvju Urban Construction

Co., Ltd. 3) 1,068 311

MINARKELEEZRERER DA
Hangzhou Future Construction
Management Co., Ltd.
("Hangzhou Future") (3) 623 189
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38. BBt A X3 (M) 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

() FA BRAGEHBEHRE (i) During the year, in addition to those disclosed in
HMMZEmEEEND K other notes to the consolidated financial statements,
SEEBB LT IUTR the Group entered into the following transactions
2 (18) with related parties: (Continued)

(a) [MEIEEBFIEHACER () (a) Provided project management services to related parties
(Continued)

2024 £ 2023 F
2024 2023

iz ARWTRT ARETE
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

B EESEBEERAR B EESEERRAT
(T EHthESR]) Greentown Real Estate Group
Co., Ltd. ("Greentown Real

Estate Group”) (M 485 6,708
ZEMR (L) Green Forest (Zhoushan) (3) 341 120
ALIE{E Zhejiang Jiangxin ©) 228 663
T ES Shanghai Fugin ©) 113 1,248
EEn=lkn Greentown Innovation ) 12 232
MM REEEBR AR MMAEBRE B EBRAR]
Zhejiang Greentown East Zhiye
Co., Ltd. (1 - 3,940
ERIINERRERERERE ZRNMNERRERERERER
BRAE (THMNE]) PRAR]
Ningbo Hangzhou Bay New
District Lvkai Construction
Management Co., Ltd.
("Hangzhou Bay") (3) - 2,658
BEIBREX (B ARAR BEBFKEX(EWL)ARLAA
(I&iR D Capital Youth Travel Real Estate
(Kunshan) Co., Ltd. ("Youth
Travel”) 2 - 2,321
N AR B Taizhou Lvlian (3) = 3,642
FHBES Greentown Wanhe (3) = 220
e/ PARBEE 3 Zhejiang Shenye ©) — 77
Hith Others 60 141
et Total 267,223 314,841
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(i)

During the year, in addition to those disclosed in
other notes to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group entered into the following transactions
with related parties: (Continued)

(b) Provided construction design and education consulting
service to related parties

2024 & 2023
2024 2023

iz ARWTRT ARETE
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

TR E R R AR
RA (DA TARE A 1)

HTARPER & 12 5845 81 3RA
BRAR (T4 ENE 1)

WL 4%
NG

WA ERERT AR

Zhejiang Greentown Lipu

Arch

itectural Design

Co., Ltd. ("Zhejiang

Greentown Lipu”) 3) 838 870
A B R R BIRE

BRAT]

Zhejiang Greentown

Metr

opolis Architecture

Planning and Design

Co., Ltd. ("Zhejiang

Greentown Duhui”) (3) - 242
ALBEREENEEXEAR ALBEREENEEXEAR

NS NC]
Xi'an International Land

Port Wenguang Real

Estate Co., Ltd. 1) - 127
Hith Others = 26
et Total 838 1,274
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

() During the year, in addition to those disclosed in
other notes to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group entered into the following transactions
with related parties: (Continued)

(c) Interest income arising from loans to related parties

2024 £ 2023 F
2024 2023

M  AR®TRT ARETT
Notes ~ RMB’000  RMB'000

TUMNERLT AR B T 12
BRAR (R

WA R R E R
BRAR (THTEA])

AR E
ARPIESA (bR AR E IR
BRAR]([ERMIESL L)

MM AR B EE IR

BRAT]

Hangzhou Xiaoshan

Zhejiang Enterprise

Greentown Asset

Management Co., Ltd.

("Xiaoshan Zheqi”) () 37,405 37,396
ANTARBRSKERERAR

NC]

Zhejiang Greentown

Shidai Construction

Management Co., Ltd.

("Zhejiang Shidai”) 4,494 -
Greentown Tianyuan (3) 732 795
MIESA (LR BRREER

{F /N

Greentown Zhenghong

&

(Beijing) Construction

Management Co.,

Ltd. ("Greentown

Zhenghong") () - 1,337
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

During the year, in addition to those disclosed in
other notes to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group entered into the following transactions
with related parties: (Continued)

(c) Interest income arising from loans to related parties
(Continued)

2024 & 2023
2024 2023

izt ARWTRT ARETE

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

=g Greentown Jingfeng 3) 1,100 440

MM E TR ERA EHAT INAR

BRI FL

BRAR(THEFHIR]) PrAR AR

Hangzhou Lvguan Xinyuan

Architectural Design
Office Co., Ltd. ("Lvguan
Xinyuan") (3) 295 268
FURBIFTREREBARAR FURBIFTREREBARAR
(T&r BT ]) Greentown Innovation

Construction

Management Co.,
Ltd. (“Greentown

Innovation”) (3) - 228
Hih Others = 273
P Total 44,026 40,737

Annual Report 2024
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3. ARG (&) 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

() Fr BRESHBERSR (i)
HMMWERBREESN &
SEEBEBATIUATR

During the year, in addition to those disclosed in
other notes to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group entered into the following transactions

2 (18) with related parties: (Continued)
(d) E R WERZFHRE /R (d) Received consulting and other services from related
& parties

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARBTT
RMB’000

feE AR®TR
RMB’000

Notes

5L
AL
FRIRLES

Hainan Lvming
Greentown Northern
Zhejiang Shenye

ATAREERERERERAR IR EEREEAR

(CIWIERED

R REERRAT]
([#rmAREA )

peiipARiTav
B EHEERTIEEE
BRAR ([ L E8EE])

N 2R N REERER
BERAF]

NG

Zhejiang Greentown
Jiangxin Construction
Management Co., Ltd.
("Zhejiang Jiangxin”)

AR EE AR AT

Greentown Lvming
Construction
Management Co., Ltd.
("Greentown Lvming”)

Zhejiang Shidai

LiEmRER TIREE
BRAT]

Shanghai Greentown Fugin
Construction Project
Management Co., Ltd.
("Shanghai Fugin”)

MMNEF B R N RE IR A
BRAR]

Hangzhou Green star Force
enterprise management
consulting Co., LTD

T ®
L e w

ERCS

73,985
57,182
56,759

44,023

42,199
35,632

33,427

30,755

82,165
90,107
51,050

44,587

27,205
79,366

34,045

982

20244F FE IR 309



Greentown Management Holdings Company Limited

FEMERRMET
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20245128318
31 December 2024

38. AL R Z (&)

310

(i)

£ RREAHBEE
RAMERREEN A
S5 1 SR B Bt 5 3T LB TR
5 ()

(d) EEHLWERZARE MR
()

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

() During the year, in addition to those disclosed in
other notes to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group entered into the following transactions
with related parties: (Continued)

(d) Received consulting and other services from related
parties (Continued)

2024 % 2023
2024 2023

M AR®TRT ARETT

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

HBEAFHEZREEAR
nEl([HES ]

AR EIFT
MR RMERERARAT
([ermi = )

T4 BB AR R IR
BRAT]

ARUR B T R E R AR
RAE (A EE D

Annual Report 2024

FHESRMERREES
{E/NE]

Greentown Wanhe Real
Estate Construction
Management Co., Ltd.
("Greentown Wanhe")

Greentown Innovation

B RWEREERBR AT

Greentown Changyu

&

25,956 19,365
24,283 24,543

&

Construction

Management Co., Ltd.

("Greentown Changyu”) ©) 24,191 14,495
AL mBEERRE

EARAR]
Zhejiang Greentown Pinzhi

real estate construction

management Co., LTD (3) 22,328 -
O BER T ERERAR

NC]
Greentown Tianyuan

City Construction

Development Co., Ltd.

(“Greentown Tianyuan”) (3) 19,654 22,157
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38. BEE L X5 (&) 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

() FA BRAGEHBEHRE (i) During the year, in addition to those disclosed in
HMMZEmEEEND K other notes to the consolidated financial statements,
SEEBBATLUATR the Group entered into the following transactions
2 (18) with related parties: (Continued)

(d) E R WERZFHRE /R (d) Received consulting and other services from related
# (&) parties (Continued)

2024 % 2023
2024 2023

M AR®TRT ARETT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

=g Greentown Jingfeng ) 18,474 5,237
ST AR Zhejiang Greentown Lipu 3) 11,434 21,874
WIEREHRBERER AIEREHRIEEBAR
RE(HDIZ8]) yNC]
Zhejiang Xinglian
Marketing Planning
Management Co. Ltd.
("Zhejiang Xinglian") ) 7,626 7,649
SEAR (AL Green Forest (Zhoushan) (3) 7,487 16,694
AR LE 5L Greentown Zhenghong 3) 7,472 16,014
WA AR Zhejiang Greentown Duhui 3) 6,125 11,382
MMNARRELEEZREEBR MMNARKELEZREEER
REN(TMAR]D) NGl
Hangzhou Future
Construction
Management Co., Ltd.
("Hangzhou Future”) (3) 4,741 2,870
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(i)

During the year, in addition to those disclosed in
other notes to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group entered into the following transactions
with related parties: (Continued)

(d) Received consulting and other services from related
parties (Continued)

2024 % 2023
2024 2023

M AR®TRT ARETT

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

RRIREETE B E TR OIT)
BRAT

ATARBERRERE R
BRAR (DT ARER 1)

FEREREE (L) B

fRA]

Greentown Leju

Tech
(Zhej
T 4%

NG

nology Management
iang) Co., Ltd. 3) 2,108 4,166
WEMZREEAR

Zhejiang Greentown

Chanshang Construction

Management Co., Ltd.

("Zhejiang Greentown

Chanshang”) ©) - 2,031
AR E R EE AR AR R EE AR
NG NG
Zhejiang Greentown
Lexin Construction
Management Co., Ltd 1) - 1,197
Efh Others 16,050 37,463
st Total 571,891 616,644

Annual Report 2024
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Y | Sk AE 8 7 A 1R AR 4k P
EXfHHaEAARE
47,325,0007T (2023412 A
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(i)

During the year, in addition to those disclosed in
other notes to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group entered into the following transactions
with related parties: (Continued)

(e) Licencing fee

(f)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has
accrued a licencing fee of RMB47,325,000 (31 December
2023: RMB51,667,000) to Greentown China, in respect of
certain “&F3 " (“Greentown") or related trademarks. The
fee was presented as “selling and marketing expenses”
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Interest expenses on loans from related parties

2024 &
2024
AR¥T T
RMB’000

20234
2023
ARET T
RMB’000

B aE

Notes

AT AR R R T2 E

BRAR (MARRAER )

AR R R T2 E

BRAA

Zhejiang Greentown

Jiayuan Construction

Engineering

Management Co., Ltd.

("Greentown Jiayuan”) (3) 375 1,505
2024F FEHE 313
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38. BBt A X3 (M) 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(i) RER XEEHEBEBRS (i) As at the end of the year, the Group had balances
Mg (U AEEF)WMT - with related parties, which are all unsecured, as
follows:
2024 & 2023 F
12H31H 12HA31H
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
BRE ARET T AREFT
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000
PEUN BB R 5 R K Amounts due from related
parties
2z B Trade related
AR R BRI Greentown Landscape
Garden (3) 700 700
TN ERERBRAR TIMNOEBERERE
([ZMAREE ) BRAT

Taizhou Lvlian Construction
Management Co., Ltd.

("Taizhou Lvlian"”) (3) 434 _
AT AR A Zhejiang Greentown Lipu (3) 36 173
HAth Others 21 -
et Subtotal 1,191 873
EX FHER Non-trade related
LT Xiaoshan Zhegi ?) 255,431 275,836
O PANEZ Zhejiang Shidai 3) 94,716 20,949
#RIk Greentown Tianyuan (3) 26,348 29,532
IS5 sl Greentown Northern ?3) 24,659 13,618
aEEs Shanghai Fugin (3) 16,256 9,043
B E Greentown Wanhe (3) 16,250 14,320
Lk Bl Greentown Innovation (3) 14,827 10,723
WEREE Shandong Wanhe 3) 9,557 10,996
JBFEARER Hainan Lvming 3) 9,511 9,511
HiEalE Xinjiang Chuangjing 3) 7,572 11,437
S AIIN Greentown Zhenghong (3) 7,292 3,934
HMERERAR LA Greentown Property

Development Co., LTD (3) 5,000 -
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38. Bt AR S (4&) 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(i) RER XEEHEBEBRS (i) As at the end of the year, the Group had balances
Mg (U AEEF)WMT - with related parties, which are all unsecured, as
(#8) follows: (Continued)

2024 % 2023 F
12A31H 12H31H
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
B &E AR¥T R AR¥ETT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
I RERGWE I ERE IR BRI AR B
BRAR] BRAR]

Beijing Yunxi Greentown
Real Estate Development

Co., Ltd. ) 3,642 3,642
TN Hangzhou Bay 3) 2,000 2,000
I ERE Greentown Real Estate

Group ©) 1,069 2,964
AR BRI Greentown Landscape

Garden (3) 365 365
TN AR IR Hangzhou Greentown

Xinyuan (3) 187 3,268
B IGHE B ER R AR B IGHIE S EB R AR

(M35 ER 1) Greentown Yangliujun

Real Estate Co., Ltd.

("Greentown Yangliujun”) M - 10,912
ipARES Zhejiang Shenye 3) - 31,459
4R IA8 4% BH Greentown Lvming () = 1,994
HDLIE(E Zhejiang Jiangxin ©) = 8,168
ety Greentown Jingfeng 3) - 850
AR (FHIL) Green Forest (Zhoushan) M) = 576
LN AR TR Hangzhou Future (3) - 378
Hity Others 1,245 70
NET Subtotal 495,927 476,545
et Total 497,118 477,418
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38. BB AR5 (&)

316

(i) RER NEBEERBES

MG ER O REIEM) 0F -
(%)

B FE XX 5 FE A AN JIE UK B LI
& 2 A K # 240,000,000 7T
2023 : )\E Bia%zéo 000, ooo
15,431,00 ﬁ(zo 3¢ AE%
15,836,0007T )) ~ FE U 4% 3K
M E R R A R 5,466,000
(2023 : A R ¥7,615,000
7T) (BEERFEE LA AR
2,182,000 7T (20234 : A R #&
1,798,0007T))  F&E Ui I 4% B
RHRAREEITL(2023F + A
53,000,000 7T) (£ fE IR 8
AHAEAREZT T(20234F :
ARE268,0007T)) ~ FEUTAEIL
BT R XA R ZIL (2023 4F -
AEH1,000,0007T) (B2 FELS ]
BAHAAREZIT(20234F :
AR#183,0007T)) ~ JFEURARIL
SYRARARBEZIT(2023F ¢
/\Eﬁgsooooo%)(éﬁiruﬁu
AE%%OOOOE)) ;quzjm
SEBEMRKAREZIT (2023
¢ AREEZ ) (HEWFE
AHAEANREZIL(20234F ¢ /\
Eﬁ%aésoooﬂ)u&ﬁ gsiipan
B R A R 71,680,000 7T
(20234 : ARBEZ r) (EEI
FEA KA AREL646,0007T
(20234 : ARBZ D)) AR L
I Rt = O =
EDRIRFERER 5% 2 15% 18
(20234F : 4% Z=15%) - HiEHf
#1218 A U 4h - E A3k
X 5 KB A R UR RE B 5 R ER TS
FTEAEERBEE LS ANE
HRFTBERMBEH A RREE
BEELINNES  BHEE
BFEE SR B IR I EF KL
RARRUE - WARE -

%2024&12)% 318 - ot pE
Ue BEEE 77 R R T AR &= B &t
B Eﬁ B A K #3,361,000 7T
(202312 A31H: A R #
2,996,0007C) BT & EE 27

—~
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(i) As at the end of the year, the Group had balances

with related parties, which are all unsecured, as
follows: (Continued)

Except for the non-trade related amounts due from
Xiaoshan Zheqgi of RMB240,000,000 (2023: RMB240,000,000)
(collectively with interest receivable of RMB15,431,000 (2023:
RMB15,836,000)), Greentown Tianyuan of RMB5,466,000
(2023: RMB7,615,000) (collectively with interest receivable
of RMB2,182,000 (2023: RMB1,798,000)), Hangzhou Lvguan
of RMB nil (2023: RMB3,000,000) (collectively with interest
receivable of RMB nil (2023: RMB268,000)), Greentown
Innovation of RMB nil (2023: RMB1,000,000) (collectively with
interest receivable of RMB nil (2023: RMB183,000)), Greentown
Jingfeng of RMB nil (2023: RMB500,000) (collectively with
interest receivable of RMB nil (2023: RMB350,000)), Greentown
Landscape Garden of RMB nil (2023: RMB nil) (collectively
with interest receivable of RMB nil (2023: RMB365,000)) and
Zhejiang Shidai of RMB71,680,000 (2023: RMB nil) (collectively
with interest receivable of RMB4,646,000 (2023: RMB nil)) that
are unsecured advances to related parties mentioned above,
which carry interest rate from 5% to 15% (2023: 4% to 15%) per
annum respectively and are expected to be recovered within
12 months, the other non-trade related amounts due from
related parties are mainly related to the performance deposits
paid to the related parties and funds paid in advance to the
related parties in connection with the project management
business which are all expected to be received on demand or
within normal operating cycle and are interest free.

The above amounts due from related parties as at 31
December 2024 were presented before accumulative
impairment losses of RMB3,361,000 (31 December 2023:
RMB2,996,000).
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38.BHARS (&) 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
iy REXR AEEHHEHBEHS (i) As at the end of the year, the Group had balances
HEEer (M BEEB)WT - with related parties, which are all unsecured, as
(&) follows: (Continued)
TRAREZAHEINRS The following is an ageing analysis of gross amounts of trade
FE A FE YR T R AR RE R related amounts due from related parties presented based on
BRER DT © the invoice dates.
2024 2023 F
12H31H 12H31H
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
AREET T ARETTT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
180 KA Within 180 days 455 173
365 KA E Over 365 days 736 700
wEt Total 1,191 873
2024 F 2023 4F
12H31H 12H31H
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
BEE AR¥T T ARETTT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
EHEE Contract assets
HTRE Zhejiang Shidai 3) 23,036 72,728
H it R 2 WRKOR Other long-term
receivables
B Xiaoshan Zheqi (3) 255,431 275,836
IR Zhejiang Shidai 3) 76,174 130,000
A REEE IR E K Loans to related parties 331,605 405,836

B TEHR 1248 A AUEL 2 5B Less: Amounts expected to
be recovered within
12 months (331,605) (275,836)

FEE Total = 130,000
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38. AL R Z (&)

318

(i) RER NEBEERBES

MG ER O REIEM) 0F -

(%)

JFE WS O R A Y L th JE U R IR
A AR 71,680,000 7T (2023 4F
124318 + AR 130,000,000
) (BEERFMEEHABARE
4,494,000 7t (2023 % 12 A 31
H: ARBZRT)) AR
FIRENEEREAR - RFEF
E4T75% 5T BN B ERE o R
20244E12 318 » EatE e
WK T AR A R EBEAR
i 374,000 7T (20234 12 A 31
B : AR% 606,0007T) BT H &
BET o

2024912 A31H - &8 WL
TRAIRRZBRELIER
[FEURREE 5 Rk - 25 RR
& E - TEHR12(E A ANkE -

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(i) As at the end of the year, the Group had balances
with related parties, which are all unsecured, as
follows: (Continued)

The other receivables due from Zhejiang Shidai amounted
to RMB71,680,000 (31 December 2023: RMB130,000,000)
(collectively with interest receivable of RMB4,494,000 (31
December 2023: RMB nil)) are unsecured advances to related
parties, which carry interest at 4.75% per annum with a term
of two years. The above other receivables were presented
before accumulative impairment losses of RMB374,000 as at 31
December 2024 (31 December 2023: RMB606,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the advance to Xiaoshan Zheqi and
Zhejiang Shidai were classified as “amounts due from related
parties” presented as current assets which was expected to be
recovered within 12 months.

2024 F 2023 %
12A31H 12H31H
31 December 31 December

2024 2023
FaE AR®TR ARETT

\[e}¢=H] RMB’000 RMB'000

FE 1 B 75 R K

B
s
AT
SR ENE

ey lb
ATIE{E
I IE 5A
BWEs

Annual Report 2024

Amounts due to related

parties
Trade related
Greentown Tianyuan (3) 42,486 35,437
Hainan Lvming (3) 42,142 12,496
Zhejiang Shidai ) 24,527 50,949
Greentown Real Estate

Group (M 21,210 55,242
Greentown Innovation (3) 18,601 12,449
Zhejiang Jiangxin 3) 17,005 4,528
Greentown Zhenghong (3) 16,851 14,198
Greentown Wanhe (3) 14,970 7,966
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38. Bt AR S (4&) 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(i) REXR NEBEERBEL (i) As at the end of the year, the Group had balances
Mg (U AEEF)WMT - with related parties, which are all unsecured, as
(#8) follows: (Continued)

2024 & 2023 F

12H31H 12HA31H

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

B aE ARET T ARET T

Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000

AT MEE T ERRE AT AR MU E R ©) 8,687 -
EBERAT EIBHBMR AR Zhejiang

Greentown Pinzhi real
estate construction
management Co., LTD

eSS Shanghai Fugin (3) 6,768 13,270
LR R Greentown Changyu (3) 6,488 8,437
UM AR Hangzhou Future 3) 5,649 -
3L Greentown Northern (3) 3,073 17,980
R = Greentown Jingfeng ?3) 2,816 4,344
ARAR (L) Green Forest (Zhoushan) 3) 2,485 6,801
KRk £7 AP Greentown Lvming 3) 51 4,225
pAREE 3 Zhejiang Shenye ©) - 40,287
LIERFFEAS Shandong Lvxin Wanhe (3) = 1,996
Hity Others 2,999 2,638
et Subtotal 236,808 293,243
ER AR Non-trade related

LRIRIZ AR Greentown Yangliujun m 91,445 31,344
ipANi=Tae Zhejiang Shidai (3) 24,316 26,558
AT AR A & Zhejiang Greentown Lipu ) 23,306 -
LRI ER Greentown Jiayuan (3) 14,946 14,555
IR B S Shandong Lvxin Wanhe 3) 8,213 6,182
I EHESEE Greentown Real Estate M 5,000 5,000

Group
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38. B ARS (&) 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(i) RER XEEHEBEBRS (i) As at the end of the year, the Group had balances
Mg (U AEEF)WMT - with related parties, which are all unsecured, as
(#8) follows: (Continued)

2024 F 2023 F

12H31H 12HA31H

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

BRE ARET T AREFT

Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR TR IS B AR Greentown Public City 3) 2,970 2,970
Garden

el = Xinjiang Chuangjing ©) 2,452 2,452

KR B AR A R A A Greentown China Holdings @) 2,433 2,427
Limited

FWEBE Greentown Wanhe ) 2,253 -

REEREFBR AR KEEREFBR AT ©) 2,063 2,063

Chengdu Lvsheng Real
Estate Co., Ltd.

IS5 ) Greentown Northern ) 1,447 1,447
I BR AR B AR R T AR LI BR AR B AR SERR R 3) 358 -
NG AR A7) Shandong

Greentown Qinghe
Architectural Design Co., Ltd.

MMER e R ERABR MNAR B & SRR AT &) 320 -
NG| BBRAF] Hangzhou

Greentown Duhui
Architectural Design Co., Ltd.

WL AR E S Zhejiang Greentown (3) = 354
Chanshang

ety Greentown Jingfeng ©) - 4,724

HAh Others 2,372 1,927

NET Subtotal 183,894 102,003

Bt Total 420,702 395,246
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Br JE X 5 4B B8 HY FE T 47 W
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2 F M #E15% (2023F 12 A 31
H:15%)5t8  EthBR AL
8o Bt i ih 3EZ 5 ME A Y g
NI RRABERRRIZE
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(i) As at the end of the year, the Group had balances

with related parties, which are all unsecured, as
follows: (Continued)

Except for the non-trade related amounts due to Greentown
Jiayuan of RMB10,000,000 (31 December 2023: RMB10,000,000)
(collectively with interest payable of RMB4,946,000 (31
December 2023: RMB4,555,000)) that are advances from
related parties, which carry interest at 15% (31 December 2023:
15%) per annum, the other advances are interest free. The
abovementioned non-trade related amounts due to related
parties are unsecured and repayable on demand.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade related amounts
due to related parties presented based on the invoice dates.

2024 2023 F

12A31H 12H31H

31 December 2024 31 December 2023

AR®T T ARETTT

RMB'000 RMB’000

1A Within 1 year 200,839 278,356
15224 1to 2 years 23,927 14,412
2E3F 2 to 3 years 11,567 -
3FMNE More than 3 years 475 475
@5 Total 236,808 293,243
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38. AR5 (&) 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
iy REXR AEEHHEHBEHS (i) As at the end of the year, the Group had balances
Mg (U AEEF)WMT - with related parties, which are all unsecured, as
(#8) follows: (Continued)
2024 & 2023 F
12A31H 12H31H
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
PiEE ARET T ARBTFT
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
EHEE Contract liabilities
Sk Youth Travel (2) 14,215 17,425
HERAE Nanjing Liuhe M 3,012 9,857
HTHL 3R 1& Zhejiang Tuofeng 1 1,887 642
et Total 19,114 27,924
FE - Notes:
() EEERZRMEAQF] (1) Fellow subsidiaries of the Group
2 AEEZERRRAEE AR (2)  Associates or joint ventures of the controlling shareholder of the
RN Group
() AEEBEATHEERA] (3) Associates or joint ventures of the Group
@) Era (4  Parent company
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38. Bt AR S (4&) 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(i) TEEBEASHE (iii) Compensation of key management personnel
FREERAEMFEZEREK The remuneration of directors and other members of key
BEBT management during the year was as follows:

2024 £ 2023 F
2024 2023

ARET T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000

e BEEEESNEMBEF  Salaries, directors’ fees and

other benefits 9,949 14,086
BEuRe Performance-based bonus 7,449 20,718
R AT B Retirement benefit scheme
contributions 876 988
VARR 19 " B R B0 5T 3K Share-based payments 11,816 13,586
@t Total 30,090 49,378
BEERTBEITHRAENMEH The remuneration of directors and key executives is
FTHEZEeRERBAEI KL determined by the remuneration committee having regard to
MGBEIEET - the performance of individuals and market trends.
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39. XA T BT R 39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY
2024 2023 %
2024 2023
AR®T T AREETIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
RBEE Non-current assets
R—ENBRRRIEE Investment in a subsidiary 70,691 76,659
JE I —FEI B B8 A B R KR Amount due from a subsidiary 818,732 1,312,252
889,423 1,388,911
REBEE Current assets
AT EFTABZMESRERE  Financial assets at FVTPL = 41,324
RITHEBR AR Bank balances and cash 57,800 38,120
57,800 79,444
REBAME Current liabilities
B 5 M E M ERRIE Trade and other payables 771 1,045
JEASTR B A BIR K Amounts due to subsidiaries 10,697 10,560
11,468 11,605
REBEEFE Net current assets 46,332 67,839
HEERRBERS Total assets less current
liabilities 935,755 1,456,750
EEZE Net assets 935,755 1,456,750
PR Capital and reserves
N Share capital 16,769 16,769
e (P EE) Reserves (Note) 918,986 1,439,981
R Total equity 935,755 1,456,750
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39. R BB T () 39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
PiisT Note:
RATZ HERRET A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

AR 1D BARRAR %

REEHE ERH
IR AD R 1E RiER FENRG R EE #zE
Shares held for Share-based
Share Accumulated share award payment
premium losses scheme reserve Total
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
M2023F1A1H At 1 January 2023 2,912,556 (851,129) (23,842) 61,578 2,099,163
ERET Profit for the year - 49,777 - - 49,777
HERARIELEE AR Recognition of
RERER equity-settled
share-based
payments - - - 39,068 39,068

WRIERDKMALE  Dividends

recognised as

distribution - (748,027) - - (748,027)
55 B AR 17 22 B Vesting of share

awards 40,368 - 3,636 (44,004) -

H2023F 12 A31H At 31 December

2023 2,952,924 (1,549,379) (20,206) 56,642 1,439,981
FEREN Profit for the year - 459,187 - - 459,187
BIABEEH AR D Recognition of
RERHRR equity-settled
share-based
payments - - - 7,861 7,861

RIERDIKAIRE  Dividends
recognised as
distribution - (988,043) - - (988,043)
55 AR 10 22 B Vesting of share
awards 33,950 - 82 (34,032) -

R2024% 12 A313 At 31 December
2024 2,986,874 (2,078,235) (20,124) 30,471 918,986
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40. A AR EEMB A AFE

TXHIFRARBEEKEEFF

BH T EWMB RS

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY

Details of the principal subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by
the Company at the end of the year are set out below.

WELARER

Name of subsidiary

AAFMBEENAEE
i/ REELA
M12A318

Proportion of ownership

B/
LR
AEfA L B A
Place of operation/ held by the Company

place of incorporation  FER As at 31 December TEXH
and date of Registered 2024 F 2023%  Principal
incorporation capital 2024 2023 activities

interest/voting rights

HERA:

Directly held:

RHEREEERAR
(FREZL (BE)ARAR)

Greentown Management Group Limited

(formerly named Mainwide
(HK) Limited)

%2 (BB)BRAR
Greenrise (H.K.) Limited

RI&HA -
Indirectly held:

326

BHRREREEARAA
Greentown Construction Management
Co., Ltd.

Annual Report 2024

BE/BA 157 100% 100%  REER
2016F4/1H HKD1 Investment
Hong Kong/ holding
Hong Kong,
1 April 2016
BE/BE 1587 100% 100%  REER
202153248 HKD1 Investment
Hong Kong/ holding
Hong Kong,
24 March 2021
e/ A 300,000,007 100% 100% RE
01659H8H RMB300,000,000 Project
PRC/PRC, management
8 September 2016
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40. AP B EEMB AT  40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF

(#8) THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
AR ENAEE
ER/ BREELH
EENY/ M12A318
SRR Proportion of ownership
ARz A interest/voting rights
Place of operation/ held by the Company
place of incorporation ~ FIEAR As at 31 December TEEH
WEARERE and date of Registered 20245 2023%  Principal
Name of subsidiary incorporation capital 2024 2023 activities
BERGETEMIFERRERERAR  FE/PE AR 1,000,007 100% 100% RE
Chun'an Qiandao Lake Greentown Real Estate 201141 A 13H RMB1,000,000 Project
Construction Management Co., Ltd. PRC/PRC, management
13 January 2011
ESHNEERREEERAA e/ - AR 10,000,000 70 100% 100% 184
Yiwu Greentown Real Estate 2012%12 5188 RMB10,000,000 Project
Construction Management Co., Ltd. PRC/PRC, management
18 December 2012
ERRHREERARAR /e - AR 10,000,00070 100% 100% e
Yiwu Greentown Investment 2013F9A11H8 RMB 10,000,000 Project
Development Co., Ltd. PRC/PRC, management
11 September 2013
CERIFERRERBRAR i,/ - AR 1,000,000 7T 100% 100% Rz
Jinhua Greentown Real Estate 2013%11 448 RMB1,000,000 Project
Construction Management Co., Ltd. PRC/PRC, management
4 November 2013
BHAERNEREEARAR /e A% 100,000,007 100% 100% R
Greentown Leju Construction 2011411 4308 RMB100,000,000 Project
Management Group Co., Ltd. PRC/PRC, management
30 November 2011
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40. AP B EEMB AT  40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF

(#&) THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
AR ENAEE
ER/RERLH
EENY/ M12A318
SRR Proportion of ownership
ARz A interest/voting rights
Place of operation/ held by the Company
place of incorporation ~ FIEAR As at 31 December TEEH
WEARERE and date of Registered 2024 2023%  Principal
Name of subsidiary incorporation capital 2024 2023 activities
MR TRENERERBR AT i,/ - AE%10,000,00070 100% 100% R
Hangzhou Dajiangdong Greentown 015F6H 268 RMB10,000,000 Project
Construction Management Co., Ltd. PRC/PRC, management
26 June 2015
SRR ERREREEERAR e/ - AR 200,000,0007C 100% 100% 184
Greentown Real Estate Construction 2012438218 RMB200,000,000 Project
Management Group Co., Ltd. PRC/PRC, management
21 March 2012
MMEHNBREERER AR /e - AR %10,000,0007 100% 100% RAERKES
Hangzhou Greentown Jiulve Investment 2015F9H 218 RMB 10,000,000 Investment
Management Co., Ltd. PRC/PRC, holding and
21 September 2015 consulting
MLGEHENRBRAR /- AR 1,00000070 FEH 100% SREMEH KA
Zhejiang Lvxing Educational Technology 015F9A218 RMB10,000,000 N/A() Investment
Co., Ltd. PRC/PRC, holding and
21 September 2015 consulting
SEMNESEBEXRRRERARLAR DA/ TE AE%1,000,0007C 100% 100% R
Jinhua Greentown Information Economic 2016%11 4108 RMB1,000,000 Project
Industrial Park Construction PRC/PRC, management
Management 10 November 2016
Co., Ltd.
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40. AP B EEMB AT  40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF

(#&) THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
ARRAEENRAEE
ER/RERLH
EENY/ R12A318
SRR Proportion of ownership
ARz A interest/voting rights
Place of operation/ held by the Company
place of incorporation ~ FIEAR As at 31 December TEEH
WRARAR and date of Registered 2024 % 2023%  Principal
Name of subsidiary incorporation capital 2024 2023 activities
MR s — R B R A ABR AR RE/ A ARH2,041,0007C 67.5% 67.5% &R NEA
(T5miss—]) 201458 513H RMB2,041,000 Construction
Hangzhou Greentown Kunyi Garden PRC/PRC, design and
Decoration & Consulting Co., Ltd. 13 August 2014 consulting
("Greentown Kunyi")
AN A RRRERERLA /- AR 1,000,000 100% 100% Rz
Taizhou Greentown Leju Construction 2017%F9/7128 RMB1,000,000 Project
Management Co., Ltd. PRC/PRC, management
12 September 2017
BN RERREEARAT) i,/ - AR#1,000,0007C 100% 100% R
Wenzhou Greentown Leju Construction 20175128138 RMB1,000,000 Project
Management Co., Ltd. PRC/PRC, management
13 December 2017
NI B ERRERER AR B/ HE AR 20,000,0007C 100% 100% R
Hangzhou Jiangnan Greentown Leju 2018%2H9A RMB20,000,000 Project
Construction Management Co., Ltd. PRC/PRC, management
9 February 2018
BNEERREE LR ERARAR E/ e ABH 1,000,000 7T 100% 100% e
Taizhou Huangyan Greentown Leju 201856 A14H RMB1,000,000 Project
Enterprise Management Co., Ltd. PRC/PRC, management
14 June 2018
BB ERRERERAR VR ARH1,000,0007C 100% 100% 3z
Lishui Greentown Leju Construction 2018% 11 A26H RMB1,000,000 Project
Management Co., Ltd. PRC/PRC, management
26 November 2018
2024 EHE 329
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40. AP B EEMB AT  40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF

330
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(#&) THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
AR ENAEE
ER/ BREELH
EENY/ M12A318
SRR Proportion of ownership
ARz A interest/voting rights
Place of operation/ held by the Company
place of incorporation ~ FIEAR As at 31 December TEEH
WEARERE and date of Registered 2024 2023%  Principal
Name of subsidiary incorporation capital 2024 2023 activities
RRGEYRRRERERAT i,/ - ARH1,0000007C 100% 100% R
Jiaxing Lvxing Leju Construction 019%5H6R RMB1,000,000 Project
Management Co., Ltd. PRC/PRC, management
6 May 2019
BMEREXERBRAR e/ - AR 1,0000007C 100% 100% R
Wenzhou Lvxin Enterprise Management 201912 A3H RMB1,000,000 Project
Co., Ltd. PRC/PRC, management
3 December 2019
BMRAETREREEARAA /e - AR 1,000,000 100% 100% R
Wenzhou Lvxing Engineering Project 2019F 12438 RMB1,000,000 Project
Management Co., Ltd. PRC/PRC, management
3 December 2019
RBEH AR RERERAT /e - AR 10,000,00070 100% 100% R
Chengdu Greentown Zhijia Construction 2019512768 RMB10,000,000 Project
Management Co., Ltd. PRC/PRC, management
6 December 2019
MMERET TIRER ERERAR B/ HE AR 1,000,007 100% 100% RE
Hangzhou Lvxin Haihe Engineering Project 20195127128 RMB1,000,000 Project
Management Co., Ltd. PRC/PRC, management
12 December 2019
REZRRARERARAR TE/E ARE1,0000007C 100% 100% R
Suichang Lvxing Project 2020F5A86H RMB1,000,000 Project
Management Co., Ltd. PRC/PRC, management
6 May 2020
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40. A AR EEMBE AT FHE  40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF
(%) THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

g/

bR

ab B 3 A 5

Place of operation/

AMEE
Registered

place of incorporation
and date of

WELEEE

Name of subsidiary

incorporation

capital

MM BERZEEBR AR
Hangzhou Greentown Binfeng
Construction Management Co., Ltd.

TBRERRERBRAA
Shangrao Lvxing Construction
Management Co., Ltd.

IR mERRERAR AR
(B mERRERERAR)
Zhejiang Greentown Shangli Construction
Management Co., Ltd.
(formerly named & EERZERE
BRAT)

MR ERELERER A
Zhejiang Greentown Space Operation
Management Co., Ltd.

MR EREREERAA
Hebei Greentown Construction and
Development Co., Ltd.

E/HE
2016547298
PRC/PRC,
29 April 2016

i /e
2021465108
PRC/PRC,
10 June 2021

e,/ e -
021F12A27 8
PRC/PRC,
27 December 2021

R/ RE
2022518108
PRC/PRC,
10 January 2022

i,/
2022%3A8158
PRC/PRC,
15 March 2022

AR 20,000,000 7T
RMB20,000,000

AR 1,000,000
RMB1,000,000

A 10,000,000 70
RMB10,000,000

B 10,000,000 70
RMB10,000,000

RMB30,000,000

RRAFBENAEE
it/ REELA
R12A31H
Proportion of ownership
interest/voting rights
held by the Company
As at 31 December ITEBEK
2024 % 2023%  Principal
2024 2023 activities
100% 100% RE
Project
management
100% 100% R
Project
management
60% 60% 2
Project
management
100% 100% BERR L
Investment
holding and
consulting
100% 100% )%
Project
management
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40. A AR EEMBE AT FHE  40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF
(%) THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

RAFMBERNAERE
i/ RERLA
R12A31H

Proportion of ownership

BB/
SMAL LR
SRR

Place of operation/

interest/voting rights

held by the Company
As at 31 December

IERE

Principal

AMEE
Registered

place of incorporation

R and date of 2024 0235

332

Name of subsidiary

incorporation

capital

2024

2023

activities

ERGREERRERERAR
Jinan Greentown Real Estate
Construction Management Co., Ltd.

HERRERERERAR
Shanghai Lvxi Construction
Management Co., Ltd.

PR TR ERAR AR
Jiangmen Greentown Binjiang
Construction Management Co., Ltd.

BT RERERERAR
Hainan Greentown Yuchen Construction
Management Co., Ltd.

PR ERERRERARAT
Ningbo Lvwan Real Estate Construction
Management Co., Ltd.

IEEERTRERERAR
Xianju County Lvxing Engineering
Management Co., Ltd.

Annual Report 2024

E/HE
20225684158
PRC/PRC,
15 August 2022

E/E
202F8H30H
PRC/PRC,
30 August 2022

GEVGER
02F8A228
PRC/PRC,
22 August 2022

e/ hE
2022610 A 18H
PRC/PRC,
18 October 2022

RE/ A
2022611438
PRC/PRC,
3 November 2022

e/
0224548288
PRC/PRC,
28 April 2022

AR 5,000,0007
RMB5,000,000

AR 5,000,0007T
RMB5,000,000

AF#10,000,000 70
RMB 10,000,000

AEH#1,000,0007T
RMB1,000,000

B 5,000,0007C
RMB5,000,000

AR#1,000,0007C
RMB1,000,000

100%

100%

80%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

80%

100%

100%

100%

RE
Project
management

RE
Project
management

R
Project
management

18-
Project
management

R
Project
management

R
Project
management



MERERERAT
fRE MWK M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20245128318
31 December 2024

40. A AR EEMBE AT FHE  40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF
(%) THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

g/

bR

A B

Place of operation/

AMEE
Registered 2024 023

place of incorporation
and date of

WELEEE

Name of subsidiary

incorporation

capital

FRSELREERERARD
Qingtian Lvging Leju Construchon
Management Co., Ltd.

WML EEERERARA
Huzhou Green Hong Leju Construction
Management Co., Ltd.

BERREERRERARA
Cixi Green Lan Real Estate
Construction Management Co., Ltd.

B FREMAR ERER AT
Shaoxing Shangyu Lvxin Project
Management Co., Ltd.

B 087 BRERBRA
Greentown (Hainan) Construc‘uon
Management Co., Ltd.

RE/ A
022458108
PRC/PRC,
10 May 2022

E/E
2023F1H9A
PRC/PRC,
9 January 2023

GEVGER
2023%9H1R
PRC/PRC,
1 September 2023

VAR
2023459780
PRC/PRC,
8 September 2023

RE/ A

2023F 11 A17H
PRC/PRC,

17 November 2023

AR H1,000,0007C
RMB1,000,000

AR 1,000,000
RMB1,000,000

AEH#5,000,0007T
RMB5,000,000

AEH1,000,0007T
RMB1,000,000

B 10,000,000 70
RMB10,000,000

RAFMBERNAERE
B/ REELH
R12A31H
Proportion of ownership
interest/voting rights
held by the Company
As at 31 December ITEBEK
Principal
2024 2023 activities
100% 100% RE
Project
management
100% 100% R
Project
management
100% 100% 2
Project
management
100% 100% R
Project
management
80% 80% R
Project
management
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40. AP B EEMB AT  40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF

(48) THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
KARFSENFERE
B/ RERLS
B/ M12A318
SRR Proportion of ownership
ARz A interest/voting rights
Place of operation/ held by the Company
place of incorporation ~ FIEAR As at 31 December TEEH
WRARAR and date of Registered 2024 % 2023%  Principal
Name of subsidiary incorporation capital 2024 2023 activities
EFHERmEEEARAF e,/ e - AR 1,000,0007C 100%(ii) TEm R
Xiamen Greentown Space Brand 2024%F11 748 RMB1,000,000 N/A Project
Management Co., Ltd PRC/PRC, management
4 November 2024
BRGHEERAAREERAR hE /e AR 1,000,007 100%(ii) Naf 8=
Hefei Greentown Enterprise Management 202411 148 RMB1,000,000 N/A Project
Consulting Service Co., Ltd PRC/PRC, management
14 November 2024
BHRRER(IHER) ARAT i /e AR1,0000007C 100%(ii) TR R
(R% IHSREREEERAR) 2024511 A 148 RMB1,000,000 N/A Project
Greentown Construction Management PRC/PRC, management
(Jiangsu Nanjing) Co., Ltd 19 November 2024
(formerly named Jiangsu Greentown
Construction Management Co., Ltd)
A ERE AR e /e AR1,000,0007C 100%(ii) TR Re
Henan Greentown Construction 2024% 11 A28 RMB1,000,000 N/A Project
Management Co., Ltd PRC/PRC, management
22 November 2024
BN R ERRERBRAR HE/ HE AR 1,000,0007 100%(ii) NEA @
Lanzhou Greentown Real Estate Construction 202412 A 17 H RMB1,000,000 N/A Project
Management Co., Ltd PRC/PRC, management
17 December 2024
EREHERERERERLA hE /e AR#1,000,0007C 100%(ii) TER Rg
Jinan Greentown Meijia Construction 2024F 128178 RMB1,000,000 N/A Project
Management Co., Ltd PRC/PRC, management
17 December 2024

SN e A L

English translated names for the PRC subsidiaries are for
identification only.
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF

41.

THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Notes:
(i)  The company was deregistered in 2024.

(i)  These companies were incorporated in 2024.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in
particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end
of the year.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group that has material non-controlling interests:

FERRRAFEH
FEREERRRELH
M12A318 PREFERERR
Proportion of ownership Wi/ (E18) EHE A
interests and voting R12A31H R12A31H
A L it B R rights held by Gain/(loss) allocated to Accumulated
TEEENE non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests
Place of incorporation As at 31 December As at 31 December As at 31 December
(i) PNEEL and principal place 2024 F 202345 2024 F 2023 2024 F 20235
Name of subsidiary  of business 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ARBTRE ARBTT AR%®TRT AR%TR
RMB'000 RMB'000_ RMB'000 RMB'000
BRmE hE
Greentown Shangli ~ PRC 40% 40% (11,285) 6,207 124,172 135,457
ABFERERNER
FEAMB R
Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with non-
controlling interests 7,239 2,402
131,411 137,859
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4. PHEEEE RFEERERE 41. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL
HIF B =] (4]) NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

R E Greentown Shangli

2024 % 2023
2024 2023

ARETT ARETRT
RMB’000 RMB'000

MENEE Current assets 278,012 315,090
FEREEE Non-current assets 271,843 355,014
Vi JN=NE Current liabilities (59,132) (45,915)
JEREAE Non-current liabilities (36,716) (53,121)
gmEFEE Net assets of Greentown Shangli 454,007 571,068
REEHE AEhER Equity attributable to owners of the Group 329,835 435,611

BRI B R IR Non-controlling interests of Greentown Shangli 124,172 135,457
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4. PHEEEE RFEERERE 41. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL
HIF B =] (4]) NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

R E () Greentown Shangli (Continued)

2024 F 2023 F
2024 2023

AREBETIT ARETET
RMB’000 RMB'000

WA Revenue 235,564 182,536
53 Expenses (152,622) (51,278)
FEE Profit for the year 82,942 131,258

NEBHEE ARG RF (H7E) Profit attributable to owners of the Group

(Note) 94,227 125,051

SR B IR IR R SR A Profit attributable to the non-controlling
(FfE) interests of Greentown Shangli (Note) (11,285) 6,207
KETEBAMFIREMAFEE  Net cash inflow from operating activities 29,218 95,160
BEEBATSI SR LFEE  Net cash outflow from financing activities (200,000) -
BERAFRE Net cash inflow (170,782) 95,160
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41.

338

HOEEAREAFERESR
E,JMTE/_\—.I (n\ﬁ)

R ()
GER

RIERSHEHEEZREEELE 78
MrEeERERBESELZL SREE
IR R B A B FTEMER AR L
BOAR I R U S ek - AR BB IR IR AR
s R AR WE ETEOER AL T 7
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41. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

Greentown Shangli (Continued)

Note:

According to the acquisition agreement of Greentown Shangli between
Greentown Construction Management Group, Mr. Xu Xiongxiang and his
spouse Ms. Jiang Yangjun, the non-controlling interests of Greentown
Shangli and the guarantor of this acquisition, there is a profit guarantee
term agreed by the non-controlling interests of Greentown Shangli and
the guarantor of this acquisition. The after-tax profit of Greentown Shangli
before the amortisation of intangible assets and relevant deferred taxation
arising from the acquisition (the “Target Profit”) distributed to Greentown
Construction Management Group in the proportion of its ownership
interests shall be no less than RMB120,000,000, RMB 130,000,000 and
RMB 150,000,000 for the years of 2022, 2023 and 2024 respectively (the
"Guaranteed Profit”). Furthermore, the counterparties to the acquisition
agreement of Greentown Shangli agree that:

(i)  if the Target Profit distributed to Greentown Construction Management
Group in the proportion of its ownership interests for each of the
respective years is no less than the Guaranteed Profit, the Target Profit
shall be distributed among Greentown Construction Management
Group and the non-controlling interests of Greentown Shangli in
proportion to their respective shareholdings in Greentown Shangli;

(i) if the Target Profit distributed to Greentown Construction Management
Group in the proportion of its ownership interests for each of the
respective years is less than the Guaranteed Profit, and the Target Profit
is no less than the Guaranteed Profit, the proportion of the Target Profit
equals to the Guaranteed Profit shall be distributed to Greentown
Construction Management Group first, the remaining profit shall be
distributed to the non-controlling interests of Greentown Shangli;

(i) if Target Profit is less than the Guaranteed Profit, all of the Target Profit
shall be distributed to Greentown Construction Management Group.
The non-controlling interests of Greentown Shangli are not entitled
to profit distribution. Greentown Construction Management Group is
entitled to require the non-controlling interests and the guarantor of
this acquisition to pay for the difference between the Target Profit and
the Guaranteed Profit on an after tax basis; and
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41. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

Greentown Shangli (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

(iv) if the Greentown Shangli makes a loss, Greentown Construction
Management Group is entitled to require the non-controlling interests
and the guarantor of this acquisition to pay for the differences
between the loss and the Guaranteed Profit on an after tax basis.

The Target Profit distributed to Greentown Construction Management
Group in the proportion of its ownership interests was RMB105,539,000
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB83,703,000), which is less
than the Guaranteed Profit, and the Target Profit was RMB175,899,000 (2023:
RMB139,506,000) for the year ended 31 December 2024, which is no less
than the Guaranteed Profit. Therefore, according to item (i) above of the
acquisition agreement, the proportion of the Target Profit equals to the
Guaranteed Profit (RMB150,000,000 for year 2024 (2023: RMB130,000,000))
shall be allocated to Greentown Construction Management Group first, the
remaining profit of RMB25,899,000 (2023: RMB9,506,000) shall be allocated
to the non-controlling interests of Greentown Shangli for the year ended
31 December 2024. The profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Group
and the non-controlling interests of Greentown Shangli for the year ended
31 December 2024 were RMB94,227,000 and RMB(11,285,000) (2023: RMB
RMB125,051,000 and RMB6,207,000) respectively (after proportionally
deducting the amortisation and impairment of intangible assets arising
from the acquisition, net of tax amounting to RMB55,776,000 and
RMB37,184,000 (2023: RMB4,949,000 and RMB3,299,000) respectively).
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42.

43.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group entered into
agreements with certain project owners to settle trade receivables
amounting to RMB54,012,000 in exchange for certain properties
owned by the project owners. Since the transfers of these
properties had not been completed as at the reporting date, the
amounts were classified as “Other non-current assets” and were
presented separately as non-current assets in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 28 March 2025.
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Definitions

MHFEEREATRE

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions have the following meanings:

[2020 4 e {7 2€ Bhat &1 |

“2020 Share Award Scheme”

[2022 4 e {7 2E Rpat &1 |

“2022 Share Award Scheme”

[ERBFRE ]
"AGM"

[ABRY] =k [ E=A240A1 ]

“Articles” or "Articles of
Association”

[EZZEE ]
“Audit Committee”

K2 Gill
“Auditor”

Ex3-0
“"Board”

[EEERSTA

"CG Code”

B

“China” or "PRC”

IRIBA QTN 20204 10 A 28 BFHHAIASE - AAR]RN 20204 10 A 28 B
ME IR 2R ENETE] - PAR S BRSEER B IR LAVELZED

the share award scheme for the award of Shares to eligible participants,
adopted by the Company on 28 October 2020, pursuant to the
announcement made by the Company on 28 October 2020

RIBARRN2022F 4 A 24 BIEERSE - RARN 20225 4 A 24 B
Bt B EhAT &) - PARI S BRR 2 EER ARG LAELRED

the share award scheme for the award of Shares to eligible participants,
adopted by the Company on 24 April 2022, pursuant to the announcement
made by the Company on 24 April 2022

ANRER2025F 6 A 18 ARITHRRBF RS
annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 18 June 2025

ARBM 20234 5 A 25 BERA 2 ZERT MEIIHEMERAR - ETRER]
kAT (IR R &)

the amended and restated Articles of Association of the Company
adopted on 25 May 2023, as amended or supplemented from time to time
(as amended and restated)

ARRIEZEZES

the audit committee of the Company

R BB R B 2ok &St RD B 1P
Ernst & Young, the independent auditor of the Company

ZA/NCTE =8
the board of directors of the Company

RIS C1 PrE 2 (R EERSFRID
the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing
Rules

FEARENE  BERAFERMS @ TRESE  BPISIITHRERE
the People's Republic of China, but for the purposes of this annual report
only, excluding Hong Kong, Macau Special Administrative Region and

Taiwan
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Bx

Definitions

NIRRT AR o A=

“"Company” or “Greentown
Management”

NG

“"Companies Law”

[BEATL]

“connected person(s)”

[RSA R

“controlling shareholder(s)”

[E%]

“Director(s)”

[2EmE ]
"GFA"

[R5 B

“Greentown China”

[Er SR

"Greentown Group”

[REE ]
"Group”

[t

"HK$" or “Hong Kong Dollar”

(&
“Hong Kong”
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M ERERARLAR S —HERSESTMRKINERREREER
Al EARDpBE AT P BT (BRI RER - 09979)

Greentown Management Holdings Company Limited (4% ¥ & 22 F It &
[R A 7)), an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with

limited liability, the shares of which are listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (Stock code: 09979)

FEHEEME 28 RANE(1961 F58 3 AN - K456 RERT) - KT
&3] ~ HFR A A 77 B

the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised), as amended or supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time

HEAEMHARIPTE TR E

has the meaning prescribed to it under the Listing Rules

HAETHRIPTE FHRE

has the meaning prescribed to it under the Listing Rules

KAREE
the director(s) of the Company

EEmE

gross floor area

AP BIIZEIRER AT —ERFSESTMNINERR2ERAR - H
PR B SZ AT E AR B (AR X5 - 03900) - AFAFIEIZEIRAR R
Greentown China Holdings Limited, an exempted company incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability, the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 03900), our
controlling shareholder

i B R B A T

Greentown China and its subsidiaries

RRRREKERA]

the Company and its subsidiaries

BT BEEEEY
Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

REFERRITRER
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC



MR H ¥R 5 22 Al
"IFRS"

[ R EFRA1THH

“Latest Practicable Date”

[ EmEE]
“Listing Date”

[ B A
“Listing Rules”

[1Z22%E=FA
“Model Code”

[fREZREg]

“Nomination Committee”

R ERE

"Prospectus”

(FHEZEg)]

“Remuneration Committee”

[¥REHR] =k [HIA )

"Reporting Period” or “Period”

[ARE]
“RMB”

[ 78 75 S B {545 |
"SFO”"

B ERIRRARAR
BE

Definitions

R % B 75 s = 2R R
International Financial Reporting Standards

20254 A23H - AAFEREMNHFAETETHRASEETEN ZREE
BRA] 17 H H]

23 April 2025, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this
annual report for ascertaining certain information contained herein

202047 A10 B (BItD LIt 2 ks B E 0 B )
10 July 2020, being the date on which the Shares were listed and traded
on the Stock Exchange

BB ZMARRFES EHARR(ETRER)
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (as amended from time to time)

FHRAIME CIFEHAK ETBEITAZERETER R HNIRETAD
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

ARRREERE®

the nomination committee of the Company

RNATIHER 2020 6 A 29 BB ER
the prospectus of the Company dated 29 June 2020

ARBIHMEZES

the remuneration committee of the Company

BHZE2024F12 A31HIEFE
for the year ended 31 December 2024

ARE . pEEESEE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

BBEDIZE 571 EFEH K EIE X0
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong)
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B
Definitions
[ A& ] ¥ AREEETRAFEREEON BILA LA
“Share(s)"” ordinary share(s) of HK$0.01 each in the issued share capital of the
Company
[IER B BROBEA
“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of the Share(s)
[ B 2P 3k [ & 7B EsE A2 AR B BEBERZMERAT
“Stock Exchange” or “Hong The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Kong Stock Exchange”
[ B/~ A ¥ EBEBELWHRAMETHRE
“subsidiary(ies)” has the meaning prescribed to it under the Listing Rules
[EERRER ¥ EBEBELWHRAMETHRE
“substantial shareholder(s)” has the meaning prescribed to it under the Listing Rules

344 Annual Report 2024






	封面
	封面內頁
	目錄
	公司簡介
	公司資料
	5年財務摘要
	董事報告
	管理層討論與分析
	董事及高級管理層履歷
	董事會報告
	企業管治報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益及其他全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	釋義
	封底



